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KB (32M) AR 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

DaChan Food (Asia) Limited (the “Company” or “DaChan”) is a
conglomerate with operations in the People’s Republic of China
("PRC"), Vietnam and Malaysia. The Company's shares have
been listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) since 2007. The Company (together with its
subsidiaries and its jointly-controlled entities the “Group”) is a
leading fully integrated animal protein product provider whose
products range from feeds, poultry and advanced nutritional

formulas for aquatic animals to processed foods.

The Group has more than 30 factories across the PRC, Vietnam
and Malaysia. Its animal feeds are mainly sold under the brands of
“Green Knight” (455 1+), “Dr. Nupak” (#7218+) and “SOS”, and
chicken meat and processed foods are mainly sold under the brand
of “Sisters’ Kitchen” (2B5£ET=).

The Group distributes its products through well known domestic
and international chain stores, wet markets, online stores,
distributors, and supermarkets. Through its established and
comprehensive sales channels, the Group is well positioned for

rapid growth.

The Group attaches the highest importance to the quality of its
food products. The Group’s high standard quality control have
earned numerous industry awards and recognitions. In 2009, the
Group introduced a pioneering product safety traceability system
for its “Sisters’ Kitchen” products, which enables consumers to
trace product information such as the name of the farmers, the
location of the chicken farms, the feeds consumed by the animals

as well as the name of the food-processing factories.
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Corporate Profile

The Group endeavours to develop brand-new highly value-added
products by constantly utilizing the latest food science and
technology. By promptly addressing the ever-changing market
demand, the Group has greatly enhanced the quality of customer

service.

VISION

As a company integrating the entire food production chain, from
agricultural source in the upstream, the food researchers and
manufacturers in the midstream, to the mass consumers in the
downstream, DaChan links every section attentively in order to
enhance the efficiency and the value of the entire food production
chain, as well as providing consumers with safe, nutritious and
healthy products and services. WWe hope each party involved in the
upstream, midstream and downstream of the production chain,
including our staff, shareholders, suppliers, and farmers at the
source of production, will be proud of us. Besides, the Group also
emphasises eco-environmental protection and proactively fulfils
its social responsibilities. Meanwhile, DaChan will be the company
which invests most resources on the innovation and application of
biotechnology and information technology across the industry and
committed to become one of the most respectable companies
and one of the companies that are the most supportive of staff

development in the Greater China Region!
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e T B 3 COMPETITIVE ADVANTAGES

e WMHREEHASmENEE

Market leader with high brand publicity

e XBREES —RKREEFERASXK o Highly vertically integrated business with highly efficient
HEELN mode of operation

e ERSIRERBEEE UEAHRR o Strict and high standard of quality control and traceability
#t system

e HREEKBEBHNEEFERELEH e  Stable and long-standing relationship with nationally and
[EZRES internationally renowned customers

e AEFRBEREMAEZRLEERMY 7 o Extendable and scalable production facilities and technology

BRTE BEESRATHEZR in major strategic locations across the PRC, Vietnam and
2h Malaysia
s HAKLBRUEMMENETIEASR o Experienced and dedicated management team

4 KAES (Z55M) 15 PR 2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited
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Financial Highlights

HZE2019F 128318 ILFE
For the year ended 31 December 2019

ARBFT —E-hEF —E-N\F 2%
RMB'000 2019 2018 Changes
KA Turnover 8,035,206 7,191,911 11.7%
/NSl Profit attributable to owners

Al of the Company 133,683 13,135 917.8%
BEHE Total assets 4,047,937 3,903,038 3.7%
AEFE Net assets 2,012,482 1,827,849 10.1%
BREREF (AR T Basic profit per share (RMB) 0.13 0.01 1,200.0%
A ELRERITR%) Return on total assets (%) 5.09% 1.59% 220.1%
Tz B ¥R(%) Return on equity (%) 10.24% 3.39% 202.1%
*BEEmE *Gearing ratio 43.9% 62.1% -29.3%
BREEFEARET) Net assets per share (RMB) 1.98 1.80 10.0%

* BfE#RILE S EEETHEESE *

Gearing Ratio = Interest bearing debt/Average net assets

-0 N EEV S B BRI S AR R
Turnover and Gross Profit Margin Net Profit and Net Profit Margin
(AREEER) (AREEHER)
(RMB million) (%) (RMB million) (%)
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i 1PN -0 EFE(%) W FEEF 0 iR (%)
\ Turnover Gross Profit Margin (%) / \ Profit for the year Net Profit Margin (%) /
KB W N $RET 53 5B
Turnover by Business Segment
Q 59.1% :‘I
\_ © BS Meat @ 2FEEHE Feeds to External Customers @ HMIBM Processed Foods )
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Chairman’s Statement

F{%% £/ Wei Anning Chairman

o408 v % I PN S e S
| i 5E ~ o & Ak
Balanced and efficient development of the white
feather broilers industry chain

“Strengthening and deepening food product
processing operations”

§) K F &S (Z5M) R 2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited
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Chairman’s Statement

Dear Shareholders,

In the past year, under the leadership of former Chairman of
the Board, Mr. Harn Jia-Chen, both the sales and profit of the
Company have increased. The sales and gross profit margin
of the feeds segment in mainland China reversed the trend of
continuous decline in the past few years while the food segment
maintained a consistent growth and the meat segment made
greater profit which has hardly been seen in recent years.
This was mainly attributable to the time factors contributed
by the favorable market condition of white meat chicken, and
the geographical reason that our main breeding grounds are
in northern China where swine fever broke out earlier and
recovered faster, but more important is the cooperation and
cohesion of DFA colleagues and the parent company team of

DaChan Group.

At the time of writing this statement, the COVID-19 was
rampant. A lot of difficulties have been encountered in mainland
China, whether it was the resumption of work of factory workers
to the timeliness and cost of material transportation or the
operations of our catering and baking customers. Fortunately, the
feeds and meat segments in China belong to Non-staple Food
Project (32& -1 T 22 2) supported by the central government,
and thus we have certain policy advantages to resume work and
production. At the same time, our cash flow is stable and our
management team is united and effective, which we strive to
minimize the harm of the epidemic. When the epidemic is over,
the agricultural and livestock food industry in mainland China will
enter a new round of integration, DFA will seize the opportunity
and make use of the advantages of our one-stop service to
continue to expand its food products so as to serve our farming
and food customers. The major customers of the food segment
in China are baking, group meals and catering enterprises,
which were more affected by the epidemic, and we will use
our existing market leading position to strive to expand market
share after the epidemic. Our feeds segment in Southeast Asia is
undergoing the challenges of African swine fever with our peers.
It was not easy that despite pig feeds sales declined in 2019, the

overall performance maintained its growth.

ZZ— N EF R Annual Report 2019
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KRELB S (Z5M) BPR-A & DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

In 2020, the feeds segment in Southeast Asia will launch a series
of one-stop downstream development cooperation plans while
expanding the categories of feeds livestock horizontally. | would
like to invite our shareholders to witness the transformation of

the feeds segment in Southeast Asia.

According to the resolution of the Board on 6 November 2019,
| assumed the chairmanship of Mr. Harn Jia-Chen on 1 March
2020, while Mr. Sun Teh Hong succeeded Mr. Ou Chang-
Jou as Chief Executive Officer. It is worth mentioning that the
day marked the 40th anniversary of Mr. Ou Chang-Jou joining
DaChan Group. At the beginning of 2019, our Chairman. Mr. Harn
Jia-Chen, shouldered the responsibility and served as Chairman
of the Board at such critical and difficult moment. Together
with our CEO, Mr. Ou Chang-Jou, they led the management
team to work tirelessly and deliver fairly decent results in 2019,
which created a healthier DF platform for me and Teh Hong to
stand on today. For many years, | have been a Board member
of DFA and have a good understanding of the situation of DFA.
| also had certain experience and resources in the Chinese and
international agricultural food industry in the past which will help
me work with Teh Hong and bring DFA to a new stage. | would
like to express my gratitude to the shareholders for their support
to Chairman Harn Jia-Chen in 2019 and | look forward to their

support for me in 2020.

Chairman

Wei Anning

Hong Kong
March 2020
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Management Discussion and Analysis

—E-hE —E-N\F RBE D
2019 2018 % change
A (ANREFID) Turnover (RMB’000) 8,035,206 7,191,911 1.7
EFARETIT) Gross profit (RMB'000) 981,575 760,300 29.1
FHE(%) Gross profit margin (%) 12.2 10.6
AR A IR FE(R i A Profit attributable to
(ARETID) shareholders of the
Company (RMB’000) 133,683 13,135 917.8
8T PR 5% B SR Ty ) ECONOMIC ENVIRONMENT AND STRATEGY

—E-NEF o ENEERILERE - EHEAE
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DIRECTION

In 2019, the spread of African swine fever from north to south
led to a significant decrease in domestic live pigs supply as
well as a significant increase in the demand for chicken meat
as alternatives in the consumer market. At the same time, the
update quantity and stock quantity of domestic grandfather
generation breeder chickens have reached the highest level in
the past three years while the production volume of commercial
chickens has reached the highest level in the past four years, and
domestic chicken meat supply increased by approximately 15%
as compared with 2018. However, the increase in the supply of
chicken meat is still not enough to fill the shortage gap in pork
production. Therefore, the surge in pork prices continued to drive
the prices of day-old chicks, feather chicken and chicken meat to
a new high.

ZZ— N EF R Annual Report 2019
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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KB (32M) AR 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

Limited by the current relatively small-scale breeding chickens
rearing, the meat product segment was unable to obtain more
profit from the thriving market of day-old chicks. However,
the Group seized market opportunities and adopted various
methods to strengthen cooperation with farmers. As for
breeders, we cooperated with farmers and made use of the
egg supply model to share profits and risks, assisted them in
carrying out cage reforms, and expanded the scale of breeding.
The electrical slaughtering volume of feather chicken increased
by approximately 12% as compared with 2018. Meanwhile, to
complement our one-stop industry chain, the Group upgraded
some of its own farms. With the help of external professional
management team of breeder farming, the farming scale of
breeders has been expanded through cooperation, and it is
expected that in 2020, 50% of day-old chicks will be provided by
self-owned farms; not only can this supply model help to reduce
the costs of day-old chicks, but also help to ensure the quality of

day-old chicks and improve the farming efficiency of broilers.

In respect of the domestic feeds segment, faced with the
changes in the feed market structure under African swine fever,
the Group took responsive actions. On the one hand, the focus of
research and development was promptly adjusted, the immune
function of pig feeds was improved, egg-laying performance
of layers was further stabilized, manufacturing costs of broiler
feeds were continuously reduced while the internal production
management and technological process were optimised, and
the product competitiveness was steadily improved on the other
hand. The total sales volume of external feeds and contracted
feeds in 2019 increased by approximately 15% as compared with
2018.

The feed segment in Southeast Asia maintained its outstanding
performance. Although being affected by African swine fever,
sales volume slightly increased as compared with 2018 as we
adjusted the product structure and sales model. With the steady
advancement in planning for the industrial chain of the breeding,
livestock and poultry farming industry in Southeast Asia, the
capacity of the segment to resist market risks will be further
enhanced.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The Group continued to unswervingly promote the food
development strategy. Under the pressure of rising domestic
raw meat cost, the food segment made great efforts in both
domestic sales and exports. The total sales volume increased
by approximately 7% as compared with 2018, and annual sales
exceeded RMB2 billion. Despite the adverse effects of the
factory set up in Thailand by our Japanese customer commencing
production and changes in the domestic consumption patterns
in Japan, we continued to optimize the food products for export
and adjusted the sales structure, maintaining an average monthly
export volume at above 1,000 tons while the domestic food sales

volume also increased by 10%.
The Group adhered to the following operating strategies in 2019:

1. Leveraging on food as its key segment in the continuous
development of the Group, continuing to strengthen
its product and market development efforts in the food
segment, securing its leading position in the professional

baking and catering market.

2. Integrating the one-stop industrial chain of broilers,
maintaining appropriate ratio for self-feeding broilers,
expanding the scales of rearing feather chickens and
electrical slaughtering broilers and automized production,
and strengthening risk management and cost control in all
aspects of the industrial chain as well as providing a safe

traceable raw meat supply for the food segment.

3. Enjoying a stable market share in the feed market in
Southeast Asia, beginning to plan for the rearing of
breeding of pigs and chickens upstream for enhancing
vertical integration of the production chain and strategic

cooperation with customers.

ZZ— N EF R Annual Report 2019
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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KRELB S (Z5M) BPR-A & DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

4.  Focusing on the sales of functional feeds with higher
added value in the pig feed market in the PRC, enhancing
the research and development and marketing of poultry
feed to diversify market risks. At the same time, integrate
production and sales strategies to reduce production costs

and enhance product competitiveness.

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2019, the operating income of the Group was approximately
RMB8,035,206 thousand, representing a year-on-year increase
of approximately 11.7%. The meat segment, domestic feeds
segment, food segment and feed segment in Southeast Asia
accounted for 20.1%, 20%, 25.4% and 34.5% of the Group's
total operating income, respectively. The revenue of the food
segment ranked first among the three domestic segments in the
PRC.

The Group's gross profit amounted to approximately RMB981,575
thousand, representing an increase of approximately 29.1% as
compared with last year. The meat segment, domestic feeds
segment, food segment and feeds segment in Southeast Asia
accounted for 20.3%, 13.8%, 35.1% and 30.8% of the Group's
gross profit, respectively. Driven by the continuous development
of food-based development strategies, the food segment has

become the Group’s most important and stable source of profit.

The gross profit of the Group increased by approximately
RMB221,275 thousand as compared with 2018. On the other

hand, due to the following:

1. the real estate project invested by the Group in Tianjin
generated a profit attributable of approximately RMB17,484
thousand last year, while the profit attributable for this year
is approximately RMB2,858 thousand;
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Management Discussion and Analysis

2. the Group converted part of the investment funds of foreign
holding companies injected into domestic subsidiaries
in previous years into borrowings and repatriated them
in tranches to repay foreign bank loans in US dollars to
reduce exchange rate risk and control interest expenses.
This arrangement resulted in a foreign exchange loss of
approximately RMB19,029 thousand while there was no
such loss in the same period last year;

3.  the interest rates on domestic and overseas borrowings
increased at various degrees as compared with last
year, and the Group’s financial expenses increased by
approximately RMB10,453 thousand year-on-year; and

4. the Group’s net impairment recognised of fixed assets for

the year is approximately RMB7,036 thousand,

profit attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
amounted to RMB133,683 thousand, representing an increase of

RMB120,548 thousand as compared with the same period of last

year.
A i MEAT PRODUCT
—E-hF —ZE-N\F R B D
2019 2018 % change
KB A (ARETFIT) Turnover (RMB'000) 1,614,836 1,134,149 42.4
EMARETT) Gross profit (RMB'000) 199,428 130,056 53.3
FEFE(%) Gross profit margin (%) 12.3 1.5

ZZ— N EF R Annual Report 2019
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Management Discussion and Analysis

AmE X T RIHE EREE] Mgk e
REERA - VI THBMEER - FERE - RSN
BRMIM TN TR RIS HERER - LA
R ARK FPRE SR - WO EER
ZRHE - FERFEERIL - FALNER - 3
EREEREZHE -

S ol R

ZE-NF - XRPEEEISAER ) B
EFNESERE D AR INEBREHE S - ERIER AR
BEMISITIEER - AmEBEEREESERTIE
REMNEENE ERFERBEBILEEP
18 IR BIERMARTS - RIS BRBEFESN
i SRR E R E R EREN A
ERBENEEAL o BF - SERISEHEE
RiEEBEIE - BOATL  BEMIER -
LI T - AmEBEENREFREE NG
ANE#69,372F 7T » p&K53.3% °

KB (32M) AR 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

The meat product segment mainly sells chilled and frozen
chicken meat under the brand of “Sister’s Kitchen” and lightly
processed tender chicken meat, sells chicken meat to fast
food shops, internal and external food processors and food
processing service providers, and supplies feeds and day-old-
chicks to contract farmers and recycles the grown chickens. The
production region of the segment covers Northeast China, North
China and East China while its sales network covers the entire
nation.

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2019, due to the small scale of self-bred chicken farms, most
of the breeder eggs and day-old chicks came from external
breeder farms. As the cost of procurement was on the rise in line
with the market situation, the meat segment failed to obtain high
profit from the day-old chicks market. However, the segment
continued to lower the cost and maximize the profit of breeding
through measures such as optimizing the structure of farmers,
strengthening the technical services of farming, supporting
farmers to change the way of rearing to caging and improving
feed performance. At the same time, the electric slaughterhouse
continued to promote the automation transformation of
equipment, lower labor and processing costs. With all these
measures, the gross profit of meat segment increased by
approximately RMB69,372 thousand as compared with the same

period of last year, representing a growth of 53.3%.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FUTURE STRATEGIES

The operating strategy of “eliminating risk” adhered by the
meat product segment will continue to be implemented in
future, particular measures of which include: (i) achieving the
provision of 50% of the day-old chicks by broiler self-breeding
farms and cooperative farms in 2020, and the signing of strategic
cooperation supply contracts with external broiler farms for
the remaining 50% of the day-old chicks depending on the
market price trend; (ii) to encourage contract farmers to change
the way of rearing from netting to caging, to assist them to
strengthen management, reduce the rearing and breeding fees
and raise the rearing and breeding efficiency; (iii) to continue
promoting automation transformation projects for equipment in
the electrical slaughterhouse; and (iv) to continue increasing the
proportion of converting the Group's chicken meat to prepared
food and deeply processed food products and eliminate market

risk when the meat market is on decline, etc.

BE B GRS ERE ) LIVESTOCK FEEDS (FROM EXTERNAL
CUSTOMERS)
—E-hEF —E-)N\F R A D
2019 2018 % change
g A (AREFT) Turnover (RMB’000)
—HE ~ China 1,606,821 1,604,760 0.1
—itiEg - BRAE - Vietnam and Malaysia 2,772,261 2,644,595 4.8
CEl Total 4,379,082 4,249,355 3.1
EMARETIT) Gross profit (RMB'000)
—HE - China 135,146 82,007 64.8
—HiE - B2RAE - Vietnam and Malaysia 302,165 237,834 27.0
A5t Total 437,311 319,841 36.7
FEFE (%) Gross profit margin (%)
—HE - China 8.4 5.1
—HiE - BRAE - Vietnam and Malaysia 10.9 9.0
&t Total 10.0 7.5
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KB (32M) AR 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

The operating income of the feeds segment was primarily
derived from the sales of pig feeds, broiler and egg chicken
feeds to external customers in China, Vietnam and Malaysia.
Corn and soybean are the primary raw materials of feeds sold
by the Group. The main product brands of this segment are "“Dr.
Nupak” and “SOS". The production and sales region of this
segment covered Vietnam, Malaysia and northeastern, northern,

central and southwestern China.

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2019, under the impact of African swine fever, the domestic
reproductive sow and pig inventories decreased drastically. In
the face of market changes, the Group adjusted the product
structure and marketing strategies in a timely manner. Although
the sales volume of pig feed decreased by 1.7%, the external
sales volume of poultry feed increased by 10.6%, and the
proportion of external sales volume of poultry feed increased to

57.8% from 55.4% in the same period last year.

The feeds segment in Southeast Asia was also affected by
African swine fever, with the sales volume of pig feed decreasing
by 8.5% as compared with 2018. The Group actively adjusted the
sales strategy and with the increasing efforts in the marketing
of poultry feeds, the sales volume of poultry feeds increased by
31.9% year-on-year. The proportion of poultry feeds in total sales
volume also increased from 30.3% in the same period last year
10 37.4%.

Under the unfavorable market environment and fierce
competition, the gross profit of domestic feeds and Southeast
Asia feeds increased by 64.8% and 27.0% respectively,
compared with 2018 as a result of the product structural

adjustment and cost control of the feed segment.
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FUTURE STRATEGIES

(VM AEER The feeds segment will continue to pursue the following

BENPVE BRI - SRR R/FEThEE T ER strategies: (i) to take advantage of the intestinal immunity anti-
B MR  (NINABRERIAENE - T nutrition technology and to focus on marketing activities for

P oy=)

BEAZOHEF ) ¢ (i) Eh R

EEZBERF B sow and piglet feeds products; (ii) to increase the research

HigtER  BRTkRBEZE  RAEERR and development of poultry feeds and build up our core
REBREFRERE A K(iv)sa{b KR ERHR competitiveness in poultry feeds; (iii) to select valued customers
BRHEEE - RN RES - and offer them products, technical and service support so as to

enhance their loyalty and contribution to the Group; and (iv) to
strengthen the management of bulk raw materials procurement

systems to create raw material cost advantages.

1 = T PROCESSED FOOD
—E-NF —E-N\EF WRES
2019 2018 % change
W A (AR TFIT) Turnover (RMB'000)
— R E R — Mainland China 1,549,722 1,278,804 21.2
- — Export 491,566 529,603 7.2
At Total 2,041,288 1,808,407 12.9
FHAREFT) Gross profit (RMB'000)
— BRI — Mainland China 288,198 226,173 27.4
— A — Export 56,638 84,230 -32.8
ol Total 344,836 310,403 11.1
EFE(%) Gross profit margin (%)
—FRE R — Mainland China 18.6 17.7
—A - Export 115 15.9
CEll Total 16.9 17.2
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KB (32M) AR 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

The processed food segment includes the production and sales
of prepared food under the “Sister’'s Kitchen” brand, as well as
centrifuged and marinated, stewed, pre-fried, steamed and grilled
food items. The processed food products of the Group were not
only sold in the PRC market, but were also exported to overseas
markets like Japan. Customer groups include customers at end-
consumer markets and professional markets. The sales channels
of the processed food segment are mainly group catering,
bakery, casual catering, takeaways, international customers, key
customers as well as the retail consumption market. The sales
areas of the processed food segment cover Japan, Singapore,
Hong Kong, northeastern, northern, eastern, southern and central
China and inland regions such as northwestern and southwestern
China.

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2019, due to the adverse impact of the commencement
of operation of the factory set up in Thailand by our Japanese
customer and changes in the domestic consumer patterns in
Japan, the export revenue of processed food segment decreased
by approximately 7.2% as compared with 2018, and the gross
profit decreased by approximately 32.8% due to the increase
in raw material cost. The regional sales and channel structure
of domestic food segment have become increasingly perfect,
and the market size is growing steadily. Under the pressure of
soaring raw meat price, the Group has been actively adjusting
its product structure, optimizing technical process as well as
research and development formulas, which led to an increase
of 21.2% in revenue and a growth of 27.4% in gross profit as

compared with the same period last year.
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BEENWED AT
Management Discussion and Analysis

FUTURE STRATEGIES

The core values of the Group’s branding are assurance and
traceability. Seizing the opportunities arising from concerns over
food safety of the Chinese people, the Group has developed
a unique edge for its brand. The processed food segment
will continue to work out the following strategies: for China
market: (i) to continue to implement the professional menu
integration service strategy; (ii) to accurate R&D and marketing
for the six strategic channels; (iii) to strengthen the operation
of e-commerce brands and deepen the combination of offline
household consumption channels to build online/offline brand
communication then realizes the reciprocal advantage of
promoting C-end to drive B-end. For the export market, the Group
will continue to utilize its advantageous in research of resources
for Japanese style products to further the development of
customer base in regions such as Singapore and Hong Kong in
order to diversify risks in the export market.

The COVID-19 outbreak since early 2020 has brought about
additional uncertainties in the Group’s operating environment and
has impacted the Group's operations and financial position.

The Group has been closely monitoring the impact of the
developments of the incident on the Group’s businesses and has
put in place contingency measures. These contingency measures
include: increasing additional cold storage locations; increasing
our options for logistics movements; assessing the impact on
contract farmers and liaising with high-risk farmers; developing
more sales channels. The Group will keep our contingency

measures under review as the situation evolves.

As far as the Group's businesses are concerned, the outbreak
has caused production delays for certain subsidiaries in February
2020 and a decrease in the sales of chicken meat and processed
food. The Group has initiated the above contingency measures
to respond. Based on the information currently available, the
management estimated that this would not result in additional
impairment losses on the 31 December 2019 balances of
inventories and trade receivables. The actual impacts may differ
from these estimates as situation continues to evolve and further

information may become available.
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3)

KRELB S (Z5M) BPR-A & DaChan Food (Asia) Limited
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FINANCIAL REVIEW:

1)

2)

3)

OTHER OPERATING INCOME AND OPERATING EXPENSES

In 2019, the Group recorded other operating income of
approximately RMB 18,706 thousand (2018: approximately
RMB18,054 thousand) which mainly comprised of interest
income and government subsidies. The increase in other
operating income was mainly due to the increase in interest
income.

In 2019, other net losses of the Group amounted to
approximately RMB31,190 thousand (2018: gains of
approximately RMB19,780 thousand). Other net losses
mainly include net foreign exchange loss and net loss on
the disposal of assets.

Distribution costs accounted for approximately 4.87% of
total turnover (2018: approximately 5.32%).

Administrative expenses accounted for approximately
3.52% of turnover (2018: approximately 4.28%).

Li1QuipITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2019, the Group's cash and bank
deposit balances amounted to approximately RMB370,102
thousand, representing a decrease of approximately
RMB38,619 thousand from 2018. The Group's interest-
bearing borrowings decreased by approximately
RMB252,637 thousand to approximately RMB882,622
thousand (2018: approximately RMB1,135,259 thousand).
As at 31 December 2019, the interest-bearing borrowings to
equity ratio was approximately 43.9% (2018: approximately
62.1%). Current ratio was maintained at a healthy level of
approximately 1.41 times (2018: approximately 1.77 times).

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

In 2019, the Group's capital expenditure on the acquisition
of properties, machinery and equipment amounted to
approximately RMB184,222 thousand which was primarily
paid from internal resources and bank borrowings.
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4)

5)

6)

7)

8)

BEENWED AT
Management Discussion and Analysis

EXCHANGE RATE

The Group's business transactions are mainly denominated
in RMB, USD and VND. During the year under review, VND
against RMB appreciated by approximately 1.47% while
RMB against USD depreciated by approximately 1.65%.

INTEREST

In 2019, the Group's interest expense amounted to
approximately RMB45,860 thousand (2018: approximately
RMB35,407 thousand), representing an increase of
approximately 29.5% from 2018. The increase in interest
expenses was mainly due to the increasing borrowing
rates.

DIVIDENDS

To reserve the resources for the Group's business
development, the Board decides not to distribute any
dividend for the year 2019 (2018: no distribution).

CHARGE ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had no security

against bank facilities.
CAPITAL COMMITMENT

As at 31 December 2019, the capital expenditure of the
Group contracted for but not provided in the financial
statements was approximately RMB85,280 thousand
(2018: approximately RMB89,145 thousand) and the
capital expenditure authorised but not contracted for was
approximately RMB90,901 thousand (2018: approximately
RMB76,992 thousand).
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KB (32M) AR 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

EMPLOYEE COMPENSATION AND
TRAINING

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had a total of 9,900
employees (31 December 2018: 10,619). The Group has paid
remuneration to its staff with reference to industry practice,
the financial performance of the Group and the employee’s
work performance in order to form a team of professional
staff and management to fulfil the development needs of the
Company. The Group places great emphasis on the training and
development of employees and regards excellent employees
as the Group's core competitiveness. With a view to constantly
enhancing their job skills and industry knowledge, the Group has
offered various training programs to its members of management
and other employees. The Group implemented these programs
not only to enhance the quality of its staff, but also to give best
chances for development of their personal career. The Group
regularly reviews compensation and benefit policies according
to industry benchmark, financial results as well as the individual
performance of employees so as to offer fair and competitive
compensation packages to the employees. Other fringe benefits
including insurance, medical benefits and provident fund are also

provided to retain loyal employees.
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DIRECTORS
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wei Anning (Bf% %), aged 57, had been an independent
non-executive director of the Company, the chairman of the
remuneration committee and member of the audit committee
and the nomination committee of the Company since 31 October
2014. Mr. Wei has been re-designated from an independent
non-executive Director to an executive Director, and has been
appointed as the chairman of the board (the “Board”) of directors
("Directors”) of the Company and the chairman of the executive
committee of the Company with effect from 1 March 2020.
Also, Mr. Wei resigned as a member of the audit committee and
the chairman of the remuneration committee of the Company
with effect from 1 March 2020. Mr. Wei Anning resigned as a
member of the remuneration committee and a member of the
nomination committee of the Company with effect from 2 March
2020. Mr. Wei is the executive director and general manager of
Shanghai Gueva Investment Management Limited ( F/&ZRAT %
BEIE AR AT, an independent director of Orient Securitites
Company Limited (RAFEHBRNDBRAF), whose shares are
listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 600958) and
the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (Stock Code: 3958),
Fortune Fund Management Co., Ltd CEEHESEEHRAF]) and
Jiahe Food Industry Corporation Limited ((ERKE F TN AR
‘A a]), and a director of Yantai Changyu Pioneer Wine Company
Limited (EaRWBEEEERMBRAT), whose shares are
listed on Shenzhen Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 000869), and
JiangSu Financial Leasing Corporation Limited (T 4 &t & /% (7
BBR7A 7)), whose shares are listed on Shanghai Stock Exchange
(Stock Code: 600901). He was an agricultural economist of
the Department of Agricultural and Natural Resources of the
World Bank, a manager of food & agribusiness research of
the Rabobank Group (Northeast Division), and the CEO (China
Region) and president (Shanghai Branch) of Fortis Bank S.A./
N.V. He was also the executive vice president of Sichuan New
Hope Group (PUJI1¥T % L4 E), the president of Shandong Liuhe
Group (IUE/SFIEE), the chairman of the board of directors
of Chinwhiz Agribusiness Co., Ltd. (ILFRZAREEEFR A
a]) and an independent director of Ningbo Tech-Bank Co., Ltd.
(BHRKFRD BIRAR]), whose shares are listed on Shenzhen
Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 002124). Mr. Wei has in-depth
understanding and rich experience in the integration of finance
and the agricultural and livestock food industry, the development
of agricultural and livestock food industry, the operation and
management of agricultural and livestock food corporations.

ZZ— N EF R Annual Report 2019

23



24

EEREREEAERE

Directors and Senior Management Profile

FEER NN FRISEARBEERSEL
B R—=N/RFER—NA—FDRIEE
RRB N F R S QB RR LB
WA —NANEFERIGERFMEFRBERM
ARARIR [ R B L BT -

BRELXE 59m A2 —F 1A
Tt HREZERNITESE RARFNT
ZEENEBE - BR_TE—_F=A—H=E
ZE-RFOA-BEEERRAERHIT
B BEENBEEANRMEERD AR
RATAKEREE]) 2EE - ZRFNRE
BRI EROREEZSFRXFHM([2
RRT]) B RARE Z MEERRE o 8
BERNKEMEEZRRBE 2 QK18 I
REZEZENRMEFERDRGEERT - &IT
¥E1EImpreza Investments Limited * Great
Wall Dalian Investment Co., Ltd. » Dongbei
Agri Corporation * Great Wall Kuang-Ming
Investment (BVI) Co., Ltd. ~ Miyasun Great
Wall. (BVI) Co., Ltd. » Great Wall Northeast
Asia Corporation » Great Wall Nutrition
Technologies SDN. BHD ~ Asia Nutrition
Technologies (VN) Investment Co., Ltd. * =
BEAKRMERRAT  AKEMKE)BERA
Al RINERAE AR R IR AR R # B
¥EWEREARATNEE -

BEENEEEFASNBENRS LB
WHRERBARE XSG EMB LR - 72
BRTELE  BERRAERBRELLEND
% BITHEEERRM o

KB (32M) AR 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

Mr. Wei obtained his bachelor’'s degree in Economics in Nankai
University in 1982, his master’s degrees in Economics in Peking
University in 1986 and in Williams College in the United States
in 1991 and his doctorate degree in Agricultural Economics in
University of lllinois at Urbana-Champaign in the United States in
1997.

Mr. Han Chia-Yin (3% %), aged 59, has been appointed as an
executive Director and a member of the executive committee
of the Company since 27 October 2011. He was the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company from 1 March 2012 to 1 April
2016. He also serves as a director of Great Wall Enterprise Co.,
Ltd. ("GWE"), a company incorporated in Taiwan, whose shares
are listed on Taiwan Stock Exchange Corporation (“Taiwan
Exchange”) and is the indirect controlling shareholder of the
Company. He was the general manager of the Great Wall Group
Food Service Division and held a number of positions in several
associations of the food industry in Taiwan. He is also a director
of Impreza Investments Limited, Great Wall Dalian Investment
Co., Ltd., Dongbei Agri Corporation, Great Wall Kuang-Ming
Investment (BVI) Co., Ltd., Miyasun Great Wall. (BVI) Co., Ltd.,
Great Wall Northeast Asia Corporation, Great Wall Nutrition
Technologies SDN. BHD, Asia Nutrition Technologies (VN)
Investment Co., Ltd., Taixu & DaChan Foods Co., Limited (2 &
R &AM AR, Great Wall Food (Dalian) Co., Limited (KRR &
(K@) BBRAT), Green Pac Bio Co., Ltd. (FIIAR{EE R AR
A \]) and Advent Prosperity Real Estate Development Co.,Ltd. (<
REK X EREARAR).

Mr. Han graduated from Feng Chia University in Taiwan with
a bachelor’'s degree in Information Engineering & Computer
Science and obtained a master’s degree in Computer Science
from the University of New Haven in USA. He is a younger
brother of Mr. Han Chia-Yau, Mr. Harn Jia-Chen and Mr. Han Jia-

Hwan and an uncle of Mr. Jonathan Fang-Tsu Han.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chao Tien-Shin (f8X £), aged 73, has been a non-executive
Director and the Chairman and a director of CTS Investment
Corporation since 2007. He is also the Chairman and a director
of Zhi Fu Investment Corporation. Mr. Chao serves as the Vice
President of The Red Cross Society of the Republic of China
(Taiwan) (PERBIA+TEES).

Mr. Chao graduated from Tamkang University (%I A2 with
a bachelor’'s degree in irrigation engineering. He has extensive
business management experience in both the information
technology industry and traditional industries, such as food and

services.

Mr. Han Chia-Yau (83 5), aged 70, has been a non-executive
Director and a member of the remuneration committee of the
Company since 2007. Mr. Han joined GWE in 1991 and he was
the vice chairman of the board of directors of GWE from 1995 to
2001. Since 2001, Mr. Han has been the chairman of GWE. He
is also a director of TTET Union Corporation, whose shares are

listed on the Taiwan Exchange.

Mr. Han obtained a bachelor’s degree from Chung Yuan Christian
University (FF/RIE T &%) and a master's degree in Computer
Science from the University of Connecticut in 1973 and 1978
respectively. He is an older brother of Mr. Han Jia-Hwan, Mr.
Harn Jia-Chen and Mr. Han Chia-Yin and an uncle of Mr. Jonathan
Fang-Tsu Han.

Mr. Harn Jia-Chen (33%), aged 65, had been a non-executive
Director and a member of the nomination committee of the
Company since 2007, and had been re-designated as the
chairman of the Board, an executive Director, the chairman of
the executive committee and a member of the remuneration
committee of the Company with effect from 1 January 2019.
He has resigned as the chairman of the Board and the chairman
of the executive committee of the Company, and has been
re-designated from an executive Director to a non-executive
Director with effect from 1 March 2020. Since 1984, Mr. Harn
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has been the vice chairman of the board of directors of GWE.
Since 1995, he has been the chairman of the board of directors
of Great Wall Food (Tianjin) Co., Ltd. (KEK & & (KE) BRAF)
a subsidiary of GWE engaged in flour production. Since 2001,
he has been the chairman of the board of directors of Great Wall
Yung Huo Food (Beijing) Co., Ltd. Gt ABKMERBRAT).
Since 1999, he has been the chairman of the board of directors
of DaChan Wanda (Tianjin) Co., Ltd. (REK&ZE (K3E) BREAQ
7]). From 1997 to 2006, he was the director of Great Wall Food
(Shekou) Co., Ltd. (KX B & (t2 Q) AFRAR)). Since 2006, he has
been the chairman of the board of directors of Great Wall Food
(Shekou) Co., Ltd. Since 2003, he has been the chairman of the
board of directors of DaChan Showa Food (Tianjin) Co., Ltd. (KAX
RBHE () ARAF). From May 2006 to April 2015, he was
the president of Taiwan Asset Enterprise Association of Tianjin
KEMEZERPBPRELERNS). Since May 2015, he has been
the honorary president of Taiwan Asset Enterprise Association of
Tianjin. From April 2007 to May 2010, he was elected as the vice-
chairman of the Association of Taiwan Investment Enterprises on
the Mainland (2B =& RIRIZE PEEFEE). From May 2010 to
April 2015, he was the standing vice president of the Association
of Taiwan Investment Enterprises on the Mainland. Since May
2015, he has been the consultant of the Association of Taiwan
Investment Enterprises on the Mainland. He has been a director
of Hwabei Agri Corporation (1t &332 7)) since May 1999, a
director of DaChan Wanda (HK) Limited (K& & (FE) BRA
7l) since February 1999, and a director of Union Manufacturing
Limited (Bt& 243E B R 2 7)) since November 2000.

Mr. Harn obtained his master’s degree in business administration
from the University of New Haven in 1986. He is an older brother
of Mr. Han Jia-Hwan, Mr. Han Chia-Yin and a younger brother of
Mr. Han Chia-Yau and an uncle of Mr. Jonathan Fang-Tsu Han.
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Mr. Han Jia-Hwan (883X E), aged 64, has been redesignated
as a non-executive Director and a member of the nomination
committee of the Company with effect from 1 January 2019.
From 2007 to 2018, he had been the chairman of the Board
and an executive Director, a member of the remuneration
committee and nomination committee and the Chairman of
the executive committee of the Company. Mr. Han has over
30 years of experience in feeds and food production business
in the Asia Pacific region. In recognition of his contributions to
the agricultural industry, Mr. Han was elected as one of the Ten
Outstanding Young Persons (A& S ) in Taiwan in 1994,
Mr. Han is the chairman of Taixu & DaChan Foods Co., Limited
(EBEAKEBRERAT), Green Pac Bio Co., Ltd. (RYIARFE 4R
EHE AR A 7F]) and TianJin Hai Rei Food Limited (K#/§H R &
BPFRAF]). He is also a director of Great Wall Agritech (Liaoning)
Company Limited (BVI), Taixu & DaChan Foods Holdings Co.,
Limited (2& AKX R mIZARGR /A F]), Asia Nutrition Technologies
(VN) Investment Co., Ltd., and Food China Inc.

Mr. Han received his bachelor's degree in business
administration from National Cheng-chi University (B2
E) and a master’s degree in business administration from the
University of Chicago in 1977 and 1983 respectively. He is a
younger brother of Mr. Han Chia-Yau, Mr. Harn Jia-Chen and an
older brother of Mr. Han Chia-Yin and the father of Mr. Jonathan
Fang-Tsu Han.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chen Chih (B&J8), aged 66, has been an independent non-
executive Director, the chairman of the nomination committee
and a member of the audit committee and the remuneration
committee of the Company since 2007. Mr. Chen served as the
president of GE Medical Systems China since 1996 and was
promoted to vice president of General Electric Company since
November 2001. He retired from General Electric Company in
2009. Mr. Chen has also been the chairman of SKR Healthcare
Group Limited (tEERFLEE A SR E AR 2 7)) since 2009.
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Mr. Chen received his Ph.D. degree in mechanical engineering
from Lehigh University in 1984.

Mr. Way Yung-Do (BikE), aged 74, joined the Company in
2008, is an independent non-executive Director, the chairman of
the audit committee and a member of the nomination committee
and the remuneration committee of the Company. Mr. Way has
over 35 years of experience in financial advisory, accounting
and auditing and served as managing partner and CEO of an
international accounting firm in Taiwan before retiring in 2007.
Since 2012, Mr. Way served as the chairman of YCSY Co., LTD.
(kBB ERMNBRA

companies whose shares are listed on the Taiwan Exchange:

Al). He is also a director of the following

- Far Eastern Department Stores Co., Ltd.

- Synnex Technology International Corporation

- MITAC Holdings Corporation

- Vanguard International Semiconductor Corporation

- Iron Force Industrial Co., Ltd.

- Cathay Financial Holding Co., Ltd.

- Chilisin Electronics Corporation

Mr. Way graduated from Soochow University (Taiwan) with a
bachelor’'s degree in accounting and obtained a master’'s degree
in business administration from the University of Georgia. Mr.
Way has the public accountant qualifications in Taiwan and

Georgia, U.S.A. He is also a certified internal auditor of the

Institute of Internal Auditors.
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Mr. Ting Yu-Shan (T £ L), aged 69, has been appointed as
an independent non-executive Director, the chairman of the
remuneration committee and a member of the audit committee,
the remuneration committee and the nomination committee of
the Company with effect from 2 March 2020. Mr. Ting serves as
an independent director and the chairman of the audit committee
and the remuneration committee of GWE since 2016. Mr. Ting
qualified as a certified public accountant in Taiwan in 1985. Mr.
Ting has extensive experience in areas such as financial advisory
and accounting. He served as an accountant of Jianye United
Certified Public Accountants (FEEHEA GFHEIS=SAT) in Taiwan
from 1986 to 1998, and an accountant of KPMG Taiwan (Z2/&%
RS SR EE AT from 1999 to 2008.

Mr. Ting holds a bachelor’'s degree in accounting from Soochow
University and a master’s degree in accounting from Soochow
University.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT TEAM

Mr. Ou Chang-Jou (B{&#}), aged 68, joined the Company in
1980 and has been the Chief Executive Officer of the Company
since 1 April 2016. And he had been the head of Feed Operation
Management Group and Food Solutions & Marketing Group of
the Company from 1 September 2017 to 31 December 2018.
He was responsible for the supervision and regulation of the
operating business of feed, meat and food business. Mr. Ou has
resigned as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company with
effect from 1 March 2020. Mr. Ou has accumulated over 35 years
of experience in global large scale commodity procurement,
trading business operation and futures hedging in Taiwan and
Mainland China and was responsible for the processing business
operation of soybeans, wheat, feed and vertically integrated
business of meat product and the operation of agricultural food

e-commerce business for many years.
Mr. Ou obtained a bachelor’'s degree in business management

from the National Cheng-Kung University (B2 IIAZE) in
Taiwan in 1974.
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Mr. Sun Teh Hong (72%2%2), aged 63, had served as the vice
president of the Company since January 2019 and has been the
Chief Executive Officer of the Company with effect from 1 March
2020. Mr. Sun has nearly 40 years of experience in food and feeds
production business in the Asia Pacific region. Mr. Sun engaged
in trading of feedstock raw materials in Rishang Mitsubishi
Corporation (AE =2 E=RHBRAF]) from July 1981 to
November 1994. He served as the general manager of Tongquan
Food Industry Co., Ltd. (fi2RMIERMKHBRAF), a company
that principally engages in one-stop operation of chicken and
duck breeding, processing and sale and export of processed duck
meat, from November 1994 to June 2000, the general manager
of Wenhao Trading Co., Ltd. (R4FZ SERZAF]) from July 2000
to September 2008, and the special assistant to the general
manager's office of GWE from September 2008 to May 2010. He
has been the general manager of DaChan Yongkang Nutrition Co.,
Ltd. (R K EEBRMND AR AT since June 2010 and the general
manager of Almighty Biotechnology (Tianjin) Co., Ltd. (285 ¥E
B (K2 B BRRAF) since June 2011,

Mr. Sun graduated from the Department of International Trading
of National Taiwan University in June1979.

Mr. Chang Chin-Pyng GRS ), aged 62, has been the Chief
Financial Officer with effect from 1 January 2019. He served as
the account manager of the Taiwan branch of Bankers Trust New
York Corporation (£B{EFR1T=/E577) and the fund manager
of China Investment Trust Co. Ltd. (FZ=&EEFERMDERAF])
from 1983 to 1989. From 1989 to 1997, he served as the financial
manager of GWE. Since 2003, he has served as the Chief Financial
Officer of Northeast Asia Corp. Group (A1t as 2 EY), which
was merged with other national (regional) businesses of GWE
in 2007 to establish the Company, which was listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Mr. Chang
was the in-charge person of the listing of the Company and served
as the Chief Financial Officer of the Company upon its listing until
2009. Subsequent to 2009, Mr. Chang continued to work in GWE
until 2011. Mr. Chang served as the chairman of China Securities
Investment Advisory Co. (FEFEFHEHERBREIAF]) from 2011 to
end of 2017. Mr. Chang is a certified finance analyst in Taiwan
and has extensive experience in the fields of finance and investor
relationship.
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Mr. Chang obtained a bachelor’s degree in business from the
National Taiwan University (137 2% KX 2) and a master's degree
in business administration from the University of Chicago in 1979
and 1983 respectively.

Mr. Hsu Pei Ken (#R¥%4R), aged 58, has served as the Chief
Human Resources Officer since January 1, 2019. Mr. Hsu
served as commissioner of Yulon Group TaiYuen Textile (#8[&
SEETT44) general manager office from 1992 to 1995. He
served as the human resources supervisor of Taiwan listed
electronics company Primax Electronics Ltd. (B & %) and
the human resources director of AVerMedia Technology ([Elfl
£HE) from 1996 to 2004.From 2005 to 2008 he served as the
human resources director of GWE. From 2009 to 2012, the
Hant Management consultancy company (E45F & IEE R A 7))
was established and Mr. Hsu served as a consultant for many
companies such as Everspring company (EREF), Bitatek
Technology ($888%H%), Greatknives Industry (E&¥# 7 T2) and
so on. Since 2013, Mr. Hsu has served as the division of human
resources officer of GWE, the special assistant to the general
manager of Great Wall Catering Business Group (AKX E =
% 7%) and the special assistant to the vice President of Great Wall
Group (KK EEE) respectively.

Mr. Hsu obtained a bachelor’'s degree in chemical engineering
from Tunghai University (B8 AX%) in 1985 and a master's
degree in management from Taiwan National Chiao Tung
University (/8338 AE) in 1992.

Mr. Jonathan Fang-Tsu Han (¥751), aged 37, joined the
Company in 2012 and was consecutively responsible for finance,
strategic planning of the Group, operation management of the
feed business and the meet and food business. He has been
promoted to vice president since 1 April 2017. He also served as
the deputy director of Finance Resources Group of the company
in 2018. He has been re-designated as Special Assistant to the
President since 1 January 2019. He is a member of the executive
committee of the Company. Mr. Han has extensive experience in
operation analysis and strategic management.

Mr. Han graduated from Simon Graduate School of Business (&
FIREE2PR) at the University of Rochester of the United States
in 2012 and obtained a bachelor’s degree in Computer Science
from Northwestern University of the United States in 2003. He
is the son of Mr. Han Jia-Hwan and the nephew of Mr. Han Chia-
Yau, Mr. Harn Jia-Chen and Mr. Han Chia-Yin.
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KB (32M) AR 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

INTRODUCTION

The directors of the Company (the "“Directors”) are pleased to
present the corporate governance report for the year ended 31
December 2019 as follows.

The board of Directors of the Company (“Board”) is committed
to enhancing the Group’s corporate governance standards by
improving corporate transparency through effective channels of
information disclosure. The Board believes that good corporate
governance is beneficial for maintaining close and trustful
relations with its employees, business partners, shareholders

and investors.

The Company has adopted a corporate governance code
prepared based on the code provisions (the “Code Provisions”)
of the corporate governance code (the “Code"”) as set out in
Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”)
as the guidelines for corporate governance of the Company, and

has taken steps to comply with the Code wherever appropriate.

Terms used in this report shall have the same meaning as
those defined in the Listing Rules unless the context otherwise

requires.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

Throughout the year ended 31 December 2019, the Company
has complied with the Code Provisions with the following

exceptions:
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UNDER CODE PROVISION F.1.1, THE COMPANY SECRETARY SHOULD
BE AN EMPLOYEE OF THE COMPANY AND HAVE DAY-TO-DAY

KNOWLEDGE OF THE COMPANY’S AFFAIRS.

Ms. Cho Yi Ping (“Ms. Cho"), a partner of the Company’s
Hong Kong legal advisers, has been appointed as the company
secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”) with effect
from 8 August 2016.

The Company has assigned a member of the senior
management, Ms. Feng Yuxia, the head of the legal department
of the Company as the contact person with Ms. Cho. Ms. Cho
is a practicing solicitor of Hong Kong with understanding of the
Listing Rules. Her qualifications meet the requirements of the
Listing Rules in terms of a company secretary of a listed issuer.
Further, whenever necessary, the contact person assigned will
promptly deliver information regarding the performance, financial
positions and other major development and affairs of the Group
to Ms. Cho. Having in place a mechanism that enables Ms.
Cho to get hold of the Group’s development promptly without
material delay and with her expertise and experience, the Board
is confident that having Ms. Cho as the Company Secretary is
beneficial to the Group’'s compliance with the relevant board
procedures, and applicable laws, rules and regulations.
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COMPLIANCE WITH DEED OF NON-
COMPETITION

The Company has received a confirmation (the “Confirmation”)
from Great Wall Enterprise Co., Ltd. (“"GWE") signed by it on
3 February 2020 confirming that for the period from 1 January
2019 to 31 December 2019 and up to the date of signing the
Confirmation by the relevant covenantor, it has fully complied
with the deed of non-competition executed by GWE in favour
of the Company dated 14 September 2007 (the “Deed of Non-
Competition”) (as varied by two deeds of variation executed by
GWE and the Company dated 25 June 2010 and 18 December
2012 respectively).

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
Confirmation and all of them are satisfied that the Deed of Non-
Competition has been complied with during the period under

review.

DIRECTORS

THE BOARD

The Board, led by the chairman, steers the Company's business
direction. It is responsible for formulating the Company's long-
term strategies, setting business development goals, assessing
results of management policies, monitoring the management'’s
performance, and ensuring effective implementation of risk

management measures on a regular basis.

The Directors meet regularly to review the Group's financial and
operational performance and to discuss and formulate future
development plans. Regular Board meetings are attended
by Directors in person or through other electronic means of

communication.
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BoARD COMPOSITION

During the year of 2019, there were 8 Directors, all being industry
veterans, responsible to the shareholders for formulating the
overall business development targets and long-term company
strategies, assessing results of management policies and
monitoring performance of the management. During the year of
2019, the Board comprised the following Directors:

Executive Directors
Mr. Harn Jia-Chen (Chairman)
Mr. Han Chia-Yin

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Han Jia-Hwan

Mr. Han Chia-Yau

Mr. Chao Tien-Shin

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Way Yung-Do

Mr. Chen Chih

Mr. Wei Anning

With effect from 1 March 2020, Mr. Harn Jia-Chen resigned
as the chairman of the Board and was re-designated from an
executive Director to a non-executive Director; Mr. Wei Anning
was appointed as the chairman of the Board and re-designated
from an independent non-executive Director to an executive
Director; and Mr. Ting Yu-Shan was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director with effect from 2 March 2020.
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With effect from 2 March 2020 and up to the date of this report,
the Board comprises the following Directors:

Executive Directors
Mr. Wei Anning (Chairman)
Mr. Han Chia-Yin

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Harn Jia-Chen

Mr. Han Jia-Hwan

Mr. Han Chia-Yau

Mr. Chao Tien-Shin

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Way Yung-Do

Mr. Chen Chih

Mr. Ting Yu-Shan

An updated list of the Directors by category identifying their
role and function is at all times available on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange. The list specifies whether a
Director is an independent non-executive Director and expresses
the respective membership of each Director in each board

committee.

The Company identifies the independent non-executive Directors
in all corporate communications which disclose the names of
Directors.

Details of the biographies of the Directors are given under the
section headed "Director and Senior Management Profile” of

this annual report on pages 23.

Save as disclosed in the section headed "“Directors and
Senior Management profile” of this annual report, there are
no relationships (including financial, business, family or other
material or relevant relationship(s)) among members of the Board
and between the chairman of the Board and the chief executive
of the Company.
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The independent non-executive Directors play an important role
on the Board. Accounting for one-third of the Board members,
they are experienced professionals in their respective fields.
They are responsible for ensuring that the Board maintains high
standards of financial and other mandatory reporting as well as
providing adequate checks and balances for safeguarding the
interest of shareholders of the Company and the Group as a
whole. Throughout the year of 2019, the Board at all times met
the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment
of at least three independent non-executive Directors with
at least one of them possessing appropriate professional
qualifications on accounting or related financial management
expertise. The number of independent non-executive Directors

has represented at least one-third of the Board.
NUMBER OF MEETINGS ATTENDED/ELIGIBLE TO ATTEND IN 2019

During the year of 2019, the Board held 4 regular meetings at
about quarterly intervals and 1 additional meeting to consider

converting the Group's internal loan into short-term loan.

As regards general meetings, the Company held the annual
general meeting on 27 June 2019. A table of summary in regard
to the Directors’ participation at the various board meetings
and board committee meetings and the Company's general

meeting(s) is set out below:
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Board Audit  Remuneration Nomination Executive General
Meetings Committee Committee Committee Committee Meeting(s)
EES- EVZEE FHzEg REZEE YTEEE REAE
HITES Executive Directors
ERREE Mr. Harn Jia-Chen 55 Tam 17 10 1212 10
Not Applicable
BFEAE Mr. Han Chia-Yin 5/5 TER TR TER 1212 i
Not Applicable  Not Applicable ~ Not Applicable
FHITES Non-executive Directors
TER TEm TER
BRREHE Mr. Han Jia-Hwan 366 NotApplicable  Not Applicable 171 Not Applicable 01
TR TER A
BRTEE Mr. Han Chia-Yau 56 Not Applicable 1/1 NotApplicable ~ Not Applicable 01
i TEm TER TEA
BRELE Mr. Chao Tien-Shin 565 Not Applicable ~ Not Applicable  Not Applicable  Not Applicable 0/
BUKHTES  Independent Non-executive Directors
TR
WxERE Mr. Way Yung-Do 505 44 10 11 Not Applicable 11
TEm
Ba s Mr. Chen Chih 5/5 4/4 n 171 Not Applicable 0/
TR
ARERE Mr. Wei Anning 55 444 1 1/1 Not Applicable 01
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Notices of regular Board meetings are served to all Directors
at least 14 days before the meeting, while reasonable notice is

generally given for other board meetings (if any).

Agenda and accompany board papers together with all
appropriate, complete and reliable information are sent to all
Directors in a timely manner, and at least 3 days before the
intended date of each Board or board committee meeting, except
agreed otherwise among the members, to ensure that they
had sufficient time to review the board papers and adequately
prepared for the meeting, keep the Directors apprised of the
latest developments and financial position of the Company and
to enable them to include any matter in the agenda and to make

informed decisions.
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The Board and each Director, upon reasonable request, have
access to independent professional advice to assist them in
performing their duties to the Company, at the Company's
expense. When needed and upon making request to the Board,
Directors may obtain independent professional advice at the

Company'’s expense in carrying out their duties.

Minutes of all the meetings of the Board, the audit committee
of the Company (the “Audit Committee”), the remuneration
committee of the Company (the “Remuneration Committee”)
and the nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination
Committee”, together with the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and other committee(s) of the Board,
the “Board Committees”) of the Company are kept by the
appointed secretary. All of the above minutes record the matters
considered and the discussions and decisions reached by the
relevant members in sufficient detail, including any concern
raised by Directors or dissenting views expressed. Any Director
may inspect the minutes at any reasonable time on reasonable
notice.

Draft minutes are normally circulated to Directors or members of
the relevant committee for comment within a reasonable time
after each meeting and the final version is sent to all Directors or

committee members for their record.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in

respect of legal action against its Directors.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

The Company fully supports the division of responsibility
between the chairman (the “Chairman”) of the Board and the
chief executive officer (the “Chief Executive Officer”) of the
Company to ensure a balance of power and authority, and has
adopted a set of consolidated memorandum of duties setting
out its division of responsibilities between the Chairman and
the Chief Executive Officer on 23 March 2012. In the year 2019,
the position of the Chairman was held by Mr. Harn Jia-Chen
throughout the whole year, while the position of Chief Executive
Officer was held by Mr. Ou Chang-Jou throughout the whole
year. With effect from 1 March 2020 up to the date of this report,
the position of the Chairman is held by Mr. Wei Anning and the
position of Chief Executive Officer is held by Mr. Sun Teh Hong.

This ensures a clear distinction between the Chairman’s duty
to manage the Board and the Chief Executive Officer’'s duty to

oversee the overall internal operation of the Company.

The core duties of the Chairman include (among others):

o overseeing the development of the long-term strategies,
objectives and policies for the Company;

° ensuring, with the assistance of the management, that the
Directors receive adequate, accurate, clear, complete and
reliable information in a timely manner and are appropriate

briefed on issues to be discussed at Board meetings;

o providing leadership for the Board;

o ensuring that the Board works effectively, performs its
responsibilities, and discuss all key and appropriate issues
in a timely manner, with good corporate governance

practices and procedures;

° taking primary responsibility for ensuring that good

corporate practices and procedures are in place;
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ensuring, with (where appropriate) delegation to Company
Secretary or a designated Director, that the agenda for
each Board meeting are drawn up and approving the same,
taking into account matters proposed by other Directors;

encouraging all Directors to fully and actively contribute to
the Board's affairs and taking the lead to ensure that it acts

in the best interests of the Company;

encouraging Directors with different views to voice their
concerns, allow sufficient time for discussion of issues and

ensure that Board decisions fairly reflect Board consensus;

promoting a culture of openness and debate by facilitating
the effective contribution of Directors, in particular, non-
executive Directors, and promoting the constructive
relations between executive and non-executive Directors;

holding meeting(s) at least annually with the independent
non-executive Directors without the presence of other
Directors. The Board regarded such meeting(s) as opinion
exchange gathering whereby a broad range of strategic and
performance matters were openly discussed,;

ensuring appropriate steps are taken to provide effective
communication with shareholders and that views of

shareholders are communicated to the Board as a whole;

attending the annual general meeting of the Company
and arranging for the chairmen of the Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee
(as appropriate) or in the absence of the chairmen of such
committees, another member of same committee or failing
this, his duly appointed delegate, to be available to answer
questions at the annual general meeting of the Company;

and
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° deciding whether a resolution at a general meeting of the
Company relating purely to a procedural or administrative
matter should be excluded from the requirement for voting
by poll.

APPOINTMENTS, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL OF MEMBERS OF THE

BOARD

The Company has entered into service contracts with or issued
letters of appointment to its Directors setting out the key terms

and conditions of their appointments.

Under article 108 of the Company’s Articles of Association, at
each annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the
time being shall retire from office by rotation and every Director,
including those appointed for a specific term, shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every 3 years while those
retiring Directors shall be eligible for re-election. Any Director
who has not been subject to retirement by rotation in the 3 years
preceding the annual general meeting shall retire by rotation at
such annual general meeting. Any further Directors so to retire
shall be those who have been longest in office since their last re-
election or appointment and so that as between persons who
became or were last re-elected Directors on the same day those
to retire shall (unless they otherwise agree among themselves)
be determined by lot.

In accordance with the said provision of the Articles of Association
of the Company and the Code Provision A.4.2, one-third of the
Directors (namely Mr. Way Yung-Do, Mr. Chen Chih and Mr.
Wei Anning) retired from office by rotation and were re-elected
as Directors at the last annual general meeting of the Company
("AGM") held on 27 June 2019.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, the Company has
received a written confirmation from each independent non-
executive Director of his independence to the Company. The
Company has assessed the independence and considers all of
the independent non-executive Directors to be independent
based on the independence criteria in accordance with the
requirements in the Listing Rules, their non-involvement in the
daily operation and management of the Group and the absence
of any relationships which will interfere with the exercise of their

independent judgment.

The Company confirms that as at the date of this annual report,
the years of service of all independent non-executive Directors
are less than 9 except Mr. Way Yung-Do and Mr. Chen Chih.
Should the Board wish to seek for the further appointments of
those independent non-executive Directors serving more than
9 years from the shareholders, separate resolutions will be
proposed to the shareholders and the reasons to justify their
independency despite of the length of their services will be

contained in relevant papers to the shareholders.

Non-executive Directors

Under the Code Provision A.4.1, non-executive directors should
be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election. The

current term of appointment for the non-executive Directors

(including independent non-executive Directors) are as follows:

ZZ— N EF R Annual Report 2019

43



44

TEERRE
Corporate Governance Report

Name of Non-executive Directors/

Independent Non-executive Directors

FHTES BUFPTESHSR

Term of Appointment
1E58

Mr. Harn Jia-Chen
BRRLE

Mr. Han Chia-Yau
BRFEE

Mr. Han Jia-Hwan
BRELE

Mr. Chao Tien-Shin
HRERE

Mr. Way Yung-Do
BUKE A

Mr. Chen Chih
BRoGE&E

Mr. Ting Yu-Shan
TEWkE

HEHEEH

EERCKUIREERS  REEAEREER
ENHEARRERAFERR  RERES
REERYFIZIRE - RAZEREREHE
FREN HEEREEZFEH

BHREZ8EZHBHEN T RREEE S
/J\ED o
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From 23 June 2017 to the conclusion of the AGM of 2020
BE-E—+tF A+ =ZHRBE_Z-_TFRFBFALLER

From 23 June 2017 to the conclusion of the AGM of 2020
B —+tFRNA+T-HRE_ZT_TFRFBFRELER

From 29 June 2018 to the conclusion of the AGM of 2021
B - \FRAZTNHRE-_ZE-_—FRFAFRGELHE

From 29 June 2018 to the conclusion of the AGM of 2021
B \FRAZTNEHBRE_ZT-_—FREBFRLLER

From 27 June 2019 to the conclusion of the AGM of 2022
A NFAAZTtHBREZS__FREBFASLER

From 27 June 2019 to the conclusion of the AGM of 2022
BE-NFARAZt+EtHRE_ZS-_—FRFAFTRELHE

From 2 March 2020 to the conclusion of the AGM of 2020
BE-E-_ZF=-A-_HEBE_ZT_TFREBFALLER

NOMINATION OF DIRECTORS

The Board has established the Nomination Committee to provide
a framework and set the standards for the appointment of high
quality Directors who should have the capacity and ability to lead
the Company towards achieving sustainable development. It
considers matters regarding the nomination and/or appointment

or re-appointment of director(s).

Details of the Nomination Committee are set out in the sub-

section headed “Nomination Committee” below.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS

The management of the Company works closely with the newly
appointed Director(s) (if any) both immediately before and after
his appointment to acquaint the newly appointed Director(s) with
the duties and responsibilities as a Director and the business
operation of the Company.

A package compiled and reviewed by the Company’'s legal
advisors setting out such duties and responsibilities under the
Listing Rules, Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of Laws
of Hong Kong) and other related law and relevant regulatory
requirements of Hong Kong is provided to each newly appointed
Director. The package also includes information relating to the
operations and business of the Group. The Directors are updated
with the latest developments in laws, rules and regulations
relating to the duties and responsibilities of directors from time
to time. Guidelines for directors issued by the Company Registry
of Hong Kong have been forwarded to each Director for his
information and ready reference.

The Board views that the non-executive Directors (including
independent non-executive Directors) are well-aware of their
functions and have been actively performing their functions
including but not limited to exercising their independent
judgment at the Board meetings, taking the lead where
potential conflicts of interest arise, scrutinizing the Company's
performance and providing constructive and informed advice on
the business strategy, policy, performance and management of
the Company. They regularly review the financial information,
monitor the operational performance of the Company and
serve on the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and

Nomination Committee.
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The Directors have disclosed to the Company at the time of their
respective appointments, and in a timely manner for any change,
the number and nature of offices held in public companies or
organisations and other significant commitments. They have
also informed the Company of the identity of any other public
companies or organisations they serve and the time involved in

these public companies or organisations.

All Directors have devoted their time and attention to the
affairs of the Company with their hands-on knowledge and
expertise in the areas and operation in which he is charged
with. The contribution made by the Directors to the affairs of
the Company is measured in terms of time as well as quality
of the attention and the ability of the Directors with reference
to his necessary knowledge and expertise. The attendance
of Board meetings, general meeting(s) and Board Committee
meetings indicates the constant participation of all Directors,
including executive, independent non-executive and other non-
executive Directors and ensures the better understanding of the
views of shareholders by all Directors. The extent of participation
and contribution should be viewed both quantitatively and

qualitatively.

To fulfil their duties properly, where they consider it as necessary
to obtain additional information other than that is provided by
the management, the Directors made inquiries during the Board
meetings and Board Committee meetings. The queries raised by

Directors have received a prompt and full response.
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INDUCTION AND CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

The Directors are continually updated with legal and regulatory
developments, and the business and market changes to facilitate
the discharge of their responsibilities through various Board
meetings, resolutions, memos and Board papers. According to
the records maintained by the Company, the Directors received
the following training with an emphasis on the roles, functions
and duties of a director of a listed company in compliance
with the requirement of the Code on continuous professional
development during the period from 1 January 2019 to 31
December 2019:

= MEME S7TER Directors Read materials E-learning
HITES Executive Directors

BRRILE N y Mr. Harn Jia-Chen v N
BRELE \ v Mr. Han Chia-Yin \ \
FBTEE Non-executive Directors

BRENLE N y Mr. Han Jia-Hwan v N
BRFILE N \ Mr. Han Chia-Yau Y N
MRERE \ v Mr. Chao Tien-Shin \ N
BAFEHITES Independent Non-executive Directors

BOKELE v Y Mr. Way Yung-Do v N
BRIAST A \ v Mr. Chen Chih \ N
FEZELAE \/ N Mr. Wei Anning v N
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SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS GUIDELINES

The Board has adopted a code of conduct regarding directors’
securities transaction on terms no less exacting than the required
standard as set out in the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code") as set out in

Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules.

Specific enquiries have been made with all Directors and they
have confirmed that throughout the year ended 31 December
2019, they complied with the required standard set out in the
Model Code and the Company’s code of conduct regarding

directors’ securities transactions.

The Directors’ interests in shares of the Company as at 31
December 2019 are set out on pages 83 to 85 of this annual

report.

The Board has also established written guidelines on no less
exacting terms than the Model Code for the relevant employee,
including any employee or a director or employee of a subsidiary
or holding company of the Company who, because of his office
or employment, is likely to possess inside information in relation
to the Company or its securities, in respect of their dealings in

the Company’s securities.
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

MANAGEMENT FUNCTIONS

The Board delegates its powers and authorities from time to
time to the Board Committees in order to ensure the operational
efficiency and specific issues are being handled by relevant
expertise. All Board Committees are provided with accurate and
sufficient information in timely manner so as to enable the Board
Committees to make informed decisions for the benefit of the

Company and sufficient resources to discharge their duties.

The functions reserved to the Board and those delegated to the
management have been set out in the Director's Memorandum
In Discharging Director’s Duties (the “Director's Memorandum”)
adopted by the Board on 23 March 2012. The Board has
reviewed the said memorandum on periodically basis to ensure
that it remains appropriate. The policy for segregation of duties
and responsibilities between the Board and the permitted
delegates has been clearly defined and provided in the Director’s

Memorandum as internal guidelines of the Company.

The types of decisions which are to be taken by the Board
include those relating to (among others):

° corporate and capital structure;

o corporate strategy;

° significant policies affecting the Company as a whole;
° material changes to policies adopted by the Board;

° business plan including major production and marketing
plans, budgets and publication of announcements;
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. key financial matters;

o change to the structure, size and composition of the Board;

° appointment, removal or reappointment of Board members,

senior management and auditors;

° remuneration of Directors and senior management; and

° communication with key stakeholders, including

shareholders and regulatory bodies;

Each Director has a copy of the Director's Memorandum and

clearly understood the above delegation policy of the Company.

For aspects of management and administration functions
delegated to the management, the Board has given clear
directions as to the management’s power, particularly as
to where management should report back and obtain prior
Board approval before making decisions or entering into any

commitments on behalf of the Company.

BoARD COMMITTEES

In 2019, the Board had 4 Board Committees including the
Remuneration Committee, the Audit Committee, the Executive
Committee and the Nomination Committee, all with specific
terms of reference, to oversee particular aspects of the Group’s

affairs.
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Executive Directors
Mr. Harn Jia-Chen
Mr. Han Chia-Yin

Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Han Jia-Hwan

Mr. Han Chia-Yau

Mr. Chao Tien-Shin

Independent Non-Executive
Directors

Mr. Way Yung-Do

Mr. Chen Chih

Mr. Wei Anning

Chief Executive Officer
Mr. Ou Chang-Jou

Vice President
Mr. Sun Teh Hong

Chief Financial Officer
Mr. Chang Chin-Pyng

Chief Human Resources Officer
Mr. Hsu Pei Ken

Vice President

Mr. Jonathan Fang-Tsu Han

Attendance of the relevant members of the Board Committee at
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the meetings of the committees in 2019 is as follows:

Executive
Committee
Meeting(s)
HTZEEEE

1212
1212

NEF Not Applicable
“NEFE Not Applicable
N Not Applicable

“NE A Not Applicable
NEA Not Applicable
“NE A Not Applicable

1212

1212

1212

1212

1212

Audit
Committee
Meeting(s)
ENEEEEE

NEF Not Applicable
MEF Not Applicable

NEF Not Applicable
MEF Not Applicable
7NEF Not Applicable

4/4
4/4
4/4

/NEA Not Applicable

“NE A Not Applicable

NEA Not Applicable

“NE A Not Applicable

NEF Not Applicable

Remuneration
Committee
Meeting(s)
FHEEEEE

11
NEF Not Applicable

N Not Applicable
1
NEA Not Applicable

=

NiEFE Not Applicable

N Not Applicable

NiEF Not Applicable

“NE A Not Applicable

/NEA Not Applicable
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Nomination
Committee
Meeting(s)
REZESEE

11
NEF Not Applicable

11
NEF Not Applicable
N Not Applicable

MEF Not Applicable

NEA Not Applicable

NEFE Not Applicable

NEA Not Applicable

“NEF Not Applicable
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established on 14 September
2007. The majority of the members are independent non-
executive Directors. During the year of 2019, this Committee
was chaired by Mr. Chen Chih (an independent non-executive
Director) with Mr. Han Jia-Hwan (a non-executive Director), Mr.
Harn Jia-Chen (a then executive Director), Mr. Way Yung-Do
(an independent non-executive Director) and Mr. Wei Anning
(a then independent non-executive Director) as members. The
Committee held 1 meeting during 2019.

With effect from 2 March 2020 and up to the date of this report,
the Nomination Committee is chaired by Mr. Chen Chih (an
independent non-executive Director) with Mr. Han Jia-Hwan
(a non-executive Director), Mr. Harn Jia-Chen (a non-executive
Director), Mr. Way Yung-Do (an independent non-executive
Director) and Mr. Ting Yu-Shan (an independent non-executive

Director) as members.

The Nomination Committee is governed by its current terms of
reference adopted on 9 August 2013, which are closely aligned
with the relevant Code Provisions requirements and are available
at both the Company’s website www.dfa3999.com and HKEx's

website www.hkex.com.hk.

The main duties of the Nomination Committee include the
following (among others):

o to review the structure, size and diversity of the Board
at least annually and to make recommendation to the
Board regarding any proposed changes to implement the

Company’s corporate strategy;

o to identify individuals suitably qualified to become members
of the Board and to select or to make recommendations
to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for
directorships;
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to assess the independence of the independent non-

executive Directors;

to make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment, re-appointment and succession planning of

Directors; and

to review the Board Diversity Policy (details of the Board
Diversity Policy are set out in the sub-section headed

“Board Diversity Policy” below).

In 2019, 1 Nomination Committee meeting was held on
6 November 2019 during which the following tasks were

performed by the Committee (among others):

reviewed the current Board structure, diversity and
composition (including the skills, knowledge and

experience);

assessed the independence of all independent non-

executive Directors;

reviewed the diversity of the Board taking into account a

number of factors as set out in the Board Diversity Policy;

reviewed the necessary time for the Directors to discharge

their duties and responsibilities; and
considered change of chairman of the Board and related

roles of the Directors and change of the Chief Executive

Officer of the Company.

ZZ— N EF R Annual Report 2019
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Board Diversity Policy

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (“Board
Diversity Policy”) on 9 August 2013 which sets out its approach
to achieve and maintain diversity on the Board in order to
enhance the effectiveness of the Board.

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having
a diverse Board to enhance the quality of its performance. With
a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced development,
the Company sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an
essential element in supporting the attainment of its strategic
objectives and its sustainable development. In designing the
Board’s composition, Board diversity has been considered from
a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service. All Board appointments
will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered
against objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of

diversity on the Board.

The Board Diversity Policy provides measurable objectives
for selection of Board candidates from diversity perspectives
(including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge

and length of service).

The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity
Policy, as appropriate, to ensure the effectiveness of the said
Policy and will discuss any revisions that may be required, and
recommend any such revisions to the Board for consideration

and approval.
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Despite all the Directors being of the same gender, the
Nomination Committee considers that the current composition
of the Board is characterised by diversity after taking into
account the business model of the Group and specific industrial
characteristics, whether considered in terms of educational
and professional background and industry experience. The
Directors have a balanced mix of knowledge and skills, including
knowledge and experience in the areas of feeds production, food
production, food and beverage services, information technology,
aviculture, medicine, financial consultancy, auditing and
accounting. They obtained degrees in various majors including
business administration, engineering, computer science,

accounting and economics.
Nomination Policy

The Company has adopted a nomination policy (“Nomination
Policy”) on 13 December 2018 which sets out the principles
and procedures for selection and nomination of members to the
Board, to ensure the Board has a balance of skills, experience
and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of
the Company's business.

The Nomination Committee shall nominate suitable candidates
to the Board for it to consider and make recommendations to
shareholders for election as directors of the Company at general
meetings or appoint as directors to fill casual vacancies (as the
case maybe).
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The factors listed below would be used as reference by the
Nomination Committee in assessing the suitability of a proposed

candidate:

° Reputation for integrity;

° Accomplishment and experience in the principal business
of the Company;

o Commitment in respect of available time and relevant

interest;

° Diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited to
gender, age (18 years or above), cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,

knowledge and length of service; and

o Independence (in respect of independent non-executive

Directors).

These factors are for reference only, and not meant to be
exhaustive and decisive. The Nomination Committee has the

discretion to nominate any person, as it considers appropriate.

Nomination Committee shall convene a meeting and invite the
candidate(s) to attend the meeting for consideration and enquiry

by members of the Nomination Committee.

The Nomination Committee will continually review the
Nomination Policy and reserves the right to update, amend,

modify and/or cancel the Nomination Policy.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

During the year of 2019, the Remuneration Committee is chaired
by Mr. Wei Anning (a then independent non-executive Director)
with other 4 members, including Mr. Harn Jia-Chen (a then
executive Director), Mr. Han Chia-Yau (a non-executive Director),
Mr. Way Yung-Do and Mr. Chen Chih (each an independent non-
executive Director), the majority of whom are independent non-

executive Directors.

With effect from 2 March 2020 and up to the date of this report,
the Remuneration Committee is chaired by Mr. Ting Yu-Shan
(an independent non-executive Director) with other 4 members,
including Mr. Harn Jia-Chen (a non-executive Director), Mr. Han
Chia-Yau (a non-executive Director), Mr. Way Yung-Do and Mr.
Chen Chih (each an independent non-executive Director), the

majority of whom are independent non-executive Directors.

The Remuneration Committee is governed by its terms of
reference, which are revised by the Board on 23 March 2012.
The terms of reference are made available on the Company’s
website www.dfa3999.com and HKEx's website www.hkex.
com.hk.

The Remuneration Committee was established on 14 September
2007 pursuant to Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules. It meets from
time to time to make recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s policy and structure for all remuneration of Directors
and senior management, and on the establishment of a formal
and transparent procedure for developing policy on such
remuneration. The Remuneration Committee also reviews and
approves the performance-based remuneration by reference
to corporate goals and objectives resolved by the Board from
time to time, and determines, with delegated responsibility, the
remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and
senior management.

ZZ— N EF R Annual Report 2019
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During 2019, 1 Remuneration Committee meeting was held
on 6 November 2019 during which the following tasks were

performed by the Committee (among others):

° reviewed a report prepared by the management regarding
the human resources and remuneration policy and
workforce optimization measures of the Company in 2019;
and

° reviewed remuneration of Director(s).

The management provides administrative support and implements
the approved remuneration packages and other human resources

related decisions approved by the Remuneration Committee.

Emolument Policy and Long-Term Incentive Plan

To attract and retain talent and calibre, the Company provides
a competitive remuneration package to its executive Directors
and senior management. This comprises base monthly salary,
guaranteed cash benefits and allowances, special allowances,
variable pay, long-term incentive plan. The amount of variable
pay is set at a percentage of the fixed pay, and is paid half-yearly
or yearly relative to performance delivered through plans and

objectives which have pre-determined criteria and standards.

The fees and any other reimbursement or emolument payable to
the Directors by band and senior management are set out in note

8 to the financial statements.
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AuDpIT COMMITTEE

During the year of 2019, the Audit Committee comprised 3 then
independent non-executive Directors as members, namely Mr.
Way Yung-Do, Mr. Chen Chih and Mr. Wei Anning.

With effect from 2 March 2020 and up to the date of this report,
the Audit Committee comprises 3 independent non-executive
Directors as members, namely Mr. Way Yung-Do, Mr. Chen Chih
and Mr. Ting Yu-Shan. Mr. Way Yung-Do is the chairman of the
Audit Committee and has accumulated substantial experience in
financial advisory, accounting and auditing. Details of Mr. Way's
biography are set out in the section headed "“Directors and
Senior Management Profile” in this annual report.

The Audit Committee usually meets 4 times a year to review the
Company's quarterly, interim and annual results and the integrity
of the Group's financial statements. The Audit Committee is
accountable to the Board and assists the Board in meeting its
responsibilities in ensuring an effective and adequate system is
in place for internal controls and for meeting its external financial
reporting obligations and compliance with other legal and regulatory
requirements. The Audit Committee also reviews and monitors the
scope and effectiveness of the work of external auditors.

The Audit Committee is governed by its terms of reference. The
terms of reference are made available on the Company’s website
www.dfa3999.com and HKEx's website www.hkex.com.hk.

The Audit Committee meetings are normally attended by the
Company's Chief Financial Officer. When meetings concern
the routine finance control, the head of the internal control
department of the Company also attends the meeting to report
on the problems identified during the internal control audits and
recommendation of methods to alleviate and solve the problems
identified. The external auditor is often present on discussion of
the audit of financial results and audit planning.
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In 2019, the Audit Committee held 4 meetings during which the

following matters (among others) were reviewed and considered

by the Committee:

the auditing work performed by external auditor;

the internal control reports submitted by the internal audit
department of the Company and the effectiveness of the
systems of internal control and risk management of the
Group;

the report on taxation related matters of the Company;

the completeness and accuracy of the 2018 annual and

2019 quarterly and interim financial statements;

the developments in accounting standards (if any) and the
effect on the Company;

review internal control measures and defects (if any);

the audit fees payable to external auditor, the scope and

timetable of the audit for year 2019;

recommendations to the Board, for the approval by
shareholders, for the reappointment of Messrs. KPMG as
the external auditor, which the Board agreed and accepted,;
and

the aggregate value, pricing policy and other terms of
the continuing connected transactions carried out by the
Company.
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The Audit Committee has been advised that it may seek
independent professional advice at the expense of the Company
wherever necessary. The Audit Committee is also supported
by the staff of the internal audit department and the external
auditor.

EXECcUTIVE COMMITTEE
Executive Committee

The Board established the Executive Committee on 14
September 2007 with specific written terms of reference. The
Board has delegated responsibilities to the Executive Committee
for making certain decisions for the management of the
Company.

The Executive Committee is bound by its terms of reference,
which have been revised by the Board on 12 March 2010, 16
December 2016 and 22 March 2019. The English version of the
terms of reference is available on the Company's website at
www.dfa3999.com.
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In accordance with its terms of reference, members of the
Executive Committee shall be appointed by the Board from
amongst the executive Directors and senior management of the
Company only. The Executive Committee shall consist of no more
than 7 members, which include the executive Directors, the chief
operation officer or the chief financial officer of the Company and
other senior management of the Company. During 2019, the
Executive Committee comprised the following members:

Executive Director
Mr. Harn Jia-Chen (Chairman)
Mr. Han Chia-Yin

Chief Executive Officer
Mr. Ou Chang-Jou

Vice President
Mr. Sun Teh Hong

Chief Financial Officer

Mr. Chang Chin-Pyng

Chief Human Resource Officer
Mr. Hsu Pei Ken

Vice President

Mr. Jonathan Fang-Tsu Han
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With effect from 1 March 2020 and up to the date of this report,
the Executive Committee comprises of the following members:

Executive Director
Mr. Wei Anning (Chairman)
Mr. Han Chia-Yin

Chief Executive Officer
Mr. Sun Teh Hong

Chief Financial Officer
Mr. Chang Chin-Pyng

Chief Human Resource Officer
Mr. Hsu Pei Ken

Vice President
Mr. Jonathan Fang-Tsu Han

The work completed by the Executive Committee during 2019

included consideration of the following matters (among others):

o approving any routine matters or matters concerning day-

to-day operation of the Group;

o formulating for the Board's review the Group’s overall

corporate governance policy and investor relation policy;
o implementing the annual business plan, operating and
capital expenditure budgets of the Company as approved

by the Board; and

o implementing the strategic plans and long-term objectives
as approved by the Board.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

As at 31 December 2019, the Company had net assets of
approximately RMB2,012,482,000 and the Company recorded a
profit attributable to equity holders of the parent of approximately
RMB133,683,000 for the year ended 31 December 2019.

FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Board aims to present a balanced, clear and understandable
assessment in annual and interim reports, inside information
announcements and other financial disclosures required under

the Listing Rules and other regulatory requirements.

The Directors have acknowledged their responsibility for the
preparation of the accounts for each financial period which give
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the

results and cash flows for that period.

The statement by the external auditor of the Company regarding
its reporting responsibilities on the financial statements of the
Group is set out in the “Independent Auditor's Report” on page
100.

The Directors, having made appropriate enquiries, consider that
the Group has adequate resources to continue in operational
existence for the foreseeable future and hence decide that it is
appropriate to prepare the financial statements set out on pages
109 to 284 on a going concern basis. The Board is not aware of
any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Company'’s ability to continue as

a going concern.
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The bases on which the Company generates or preserves value
over the longer term and the strategy for delivering its objectives
are explained in the “Management Discussion and Analysis” set

out in pages 9 to 22 in this annual report.

The management provides the Board with sufficient explanation
and information, such as the Group’s major business activities
and key financial information, to enable the Board to make an
informed assessment of the financial information and other

information of the Company put before the Board for approval.

The management also provides all Directors with monthly
updates giving them a balanced and understandable assessment
of the Company’s performance, position and prospects in
sufficient detail to enable the Board as a whole and each Director
to discharge their duties under Rule 3.08 and Chapter 13 of the
Listing Rules.
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RiSK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the Group's risk
management and internal control systems and oversees the said
system and is responsible for reviewing their effectiveness. The
Audit Committee assists the Board in fulfilling its oversight and
corporate governance roles in the Group's financial, operational,
compliance, risk management and internal controls, and the

resourcing of the finance and internal audit functions.

In addition to the Board's oversight responsibilities, the Company
has also developed a risk management process to identify,
evaluate and manage significant risks and to resolve material

internal control defects (if any).

The management establishes a specified management system
for the risks of the Company. Members of the internal audit
department of the Company report to the management on a
regular basis to review and assess risks and discuss solutions to
address material internal control defects (if any), including any
improvement relevant to a given year. Results of such reports
and discussions are organized with ratings of each risk and
written response plans. The risk assessment is reviewed by
the management and presented to the Audit Committee or the

Board for their review.

Appropriate policies and controls have been designed and
established to ensure that assets are safeguarded against
improper use or disposal, relevant rules and regulations are
adhered to and complied with, reliable financial and accounting
records are maintained in accordance with relevant accounting
standards and regulatory reporting requirements, and key risks
that may impact on the Group’s performance are appropriately
identified and managed. The systems and internal controls can
only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss, as they are designed to manage,
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business

objectives.



EEEAREECREREETIERIMAKE
MEARREREEEEETIRY - AEBNEE
LEEN (FRAERBREL) & - 7% - B
BREREZEMNER - URERFAREBER
RERBFIEFRZSEARERE T E - RREE
K& REBPINSEE LB &3 L MR

REMIRETELRRE °

EEgER LNERZE SR ERGERL)
AR EREANEEER B REMNT
AR - BRETRNMEEEERTEAIZE
EERFORRIEARRFHRENSH - &
FetIAEE T -NFFEEAREER
NAEERREZ AR AR EL R RZER
BAEMERA -

AEENHESHENETEREESREN
e i

ERREREHNENEZER  ARFER
Ba KA AEAREFHYAATRAE
BRHMZBOBEYE  DREFRER -
MEFERTANERE DR ANEHES
AR AR R TR
BT -

ARAFERAENGAZEED - EHRE Rt
mE AR EE 2 AEFEIETIE - ZEmE A A2
RENRE IR EREAEA KB RARRAS
NimE BB MHEIT

EERERE

Corporate Governance Report

The management is responsible for supervising enterprise risk
management works and reviewing significant aspects of risk
management of the Group. The operating units of the Group,
as risk bearer, identify, evaluate, mitigate and monitor their own
risks, and report such risk management activities to the risk
management and compliance department on a quarterly basis.
The risk management and compliance department assesses and
presents regular reports to the management at each regularly

scheduled meeting.

The internal audit department of the Group reports to the Audit
Committee or the Board at the annual meeting of the Audit
Committee or the Board, the results of their works during the
preceding period pertaining to the adequacy and effectiveness
of internal controls, including but not limited to, indicating any
failures in implementing any internal control systems or material
weaknesses in those systems. The Board has reviewed the risk
management and internal control systems and the effectiveness
of such systems for the year 2019 and considers such systems

effective and adequate.

For the procedures relating to the handling and publishment
of inside information, the management of the Company is
responsible for assessing the potential impact of any significant
urgent situations on the share price of the Company and its
transaction volume, and reports to the Board so that the Board
determines whether such information is considered as inside
information and is required to disclose as soon as practicable in
accordance with applicable laws and regulations.

The Company has employed its own internal auditors to perform
regular and systematic reviews of the Group’s internal control
system. The reviews provide reasonable assurance that the
internal control system continues to operate satisfactorily and

effectively within the Group and the Company.
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Each year, the Audit Committee reviews the findings made
by the external auditor in respect of issues encountered by
it in preparation of the audit report, which often cover issues
relating to internal control. The Audit Committee also reviews
the risk management and internal control report submitted by
the Company’s internal audit department. The Audit Committee
will then review the actions performed or the plans to be
carried out by the management in addressing the issues.
The issues identified and the corresponding remedial plans
and recommendations are then submitted to the Board for

consideration.

For the year of 2019, no critical internal control issues have been
identified.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Company is committed to ensuring compliance with
regulatory requirements under the Listing Rules, applicable
laws and regulations in handling connected transactions.
Accordingly, the Company implemented various internal control
mechanisms to identify and monitor connected transactions to
ensure that connected transactions are conducted under normal
commercial terms or on terms that are fair and reasonable
and properly disclosed and (if necessary) approved by the
independent shareholders in accordance with the Listing Rules.
The connected persons will be required to abstain from voting in
the general meetings. Details of the connected transactions of
the Company during the year are set out in the section headed
“Report of the Directors” of this annual report.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year under review, the remuneration paid for services

R B & KB T - provided by the Company’s external auditor is roughly as follows:
£58 Amount

(AR®FT) RMB’000

EZRTE 4,990 Audit services 4,990

IEEZARTE Non-audit services

TSRS 80 Tax services 30

ESGFAARTS 130 ESG consultation services 130

VARl COMPANY SECRETARY
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The position of Company Secretary is held by Ms. Cho Yi Ping,
a practising solicitor of Hong Kong who is not an employee of
the Company. The Company Secretary can contact the Company
through the head of the legal department of the Company,
Ms. Feng Yuxia. The Company Secretary is responsible to the
Board and reports to the Board Chairman from time to time. All
Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary to ensure that board procedures, and all applicable

laws, rules and regulations are followed.

Being the Company Secretary, Ms. Cho Yi Ping has to take no
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training during the
year 2019. She has fulfiled the requirement during the year under

review.
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KRELB S (Z5M) BPR-A & DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTORS

The Company endeavours to uphold a high level of corporate
transparency. Keeping shareholders, investors, analysts, bankers
and other stakeholders informed of our corporate strategies and
business operations has been one of the key objectives of our
investor relations team.

The general meetings of the Company provide the best
opportunity for communication between the Board and the
shareholders. The Company complied with the required notice
periods for general meetings under the Code Provisions, the
applicable laws, rules and regulations.

Also, separate resolutions for each substantially separate issue
were proposed at the AGM held on 27 June 2019.

The chairpersons of the Remuneration Committee, Nomination
Committee and the Audit Committee or, in their absence, other
members of the respective committees and, where applicable,
the Independent Board Committee, are available to answer
questions at the general meetings of the Company.

The representatives of the external auditor of the Company,
Messrs. KPMG also attended the AGM held on 27 June 2019 to
answer questions about the conduct of the audit, the preparation
and content of the auditor’s report, the accounting policies and
auditor independence.
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VoTING BY PoLL

The Company expresses in each relevant corporate communication
that the shareholders shall vote by poll so as to allow the
shareholders to have one vote for every share of the Company held.
The chairman of the meeting would explain the voting procedure
and answer any questions from the shareholders regarding voting
by poll in the general meetings. The poll voting results of the general
meetings were published on the websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company respectively on the same day after the general

meetings were held.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS TO CONVENE AN EXTRAORDINARY

GENERAL MEETING

Under Article 64 of the Articles of Association of the Company,
extraordinary general meetings shall be convened on the
requisition of one or more shareholders of the Company holding,
at the date of deposit of the requisition, at least one tenth of
the paid up capital of the Company having the right of voting at
general meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing to
the Board or the Company Secretary for the purpose of requiring
an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for
the transaction of any business specified in such requisition.
The relevant extraordinary general meeting shall be held within
2 months after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days
of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene such
meeting, the requisitionist(s) may do so in the same manner,
and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as
a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the

requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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KRELB S (Z5M) BPR-A & DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND PROCEDURES FOR

PUuTTING FORWARD PROPOSALS AT GENERAL MEETINGS

Based on the requirement of the Code, a Shareholders
Communication Policy was formulated and adopted on 23 March
2012 in order to ensure the shareholders are provided with
ready, equal and timely access to balanced and understandable
information about the Company. The Board has taken appropriate
steps to provide effective communication with shareholders.
The effectiveness of shareholders communication under the
shareholders communication policy had been reviewed by the

Board on a regular basis.

All published information, including all the statutory announcements,
press releases and event calendars, are promptly posted on the
Group's website www.dfa3999.com. Investors can also submit
enquiries to the Board or senior management by sending emails
to investors@dachan.com.cn or directly by raising questions or
proposals at the general meeting of the Company. The Company’s
team dedicated to investor relations takes a proactive approach
to communicate with existing and potential investors in a timely
manner by making regular face-to-face meetings and conference

calls with investors.

DivipEND PoLICY

On 13 December 2018, the Company has adopted its dividend
policy (“Dividend Policy”). The Dividend Policy is as follows:

The general policy for distribution of dividend is that the Company
shall enable the shareholders to enjoy the profits of the Company
whilst ensure adequate reserve for future development of the

Company.



B ETRRBHEFRIREBE R KE B
e

o REANERNEHMIBRR

o  ARARAEEEKERARNEFEN
KRkt

o AKEMNEHMEEAETFR  BARX
FREARKIBRAE

o  AKEMBRREMR ARENAE
R R R E e BB R E R R
A RESIA TS L K b pn e (R (AT PR I

o —REEAMN  AEREEBNEFADR
Ko AT BE R 7R 2 R ZE 75 s U 15 3R e AR
MELFENEMAIRIINBEE - Rk

s  EFeRRAENEMNEMEE-

ARARERRKERBBZARBNAHER
AR MERR AR BRI BEARRIERLR

RNRHEB RIS BOR - WARBRERIAE
DREHIIEREEEHN - B7] - B8R %
BUBBB R - BB BERL MEREEROR
NeEGE - RBRAARR 2 RRABEDIK -
Ko,/ S TME AR )G S BMEAT A Pl sl TN
FIRIE e

TEERME
Corporate Governance Report

The following factors will be taken into account by the Board
when declaring dividend or recommending distribution of
dividend:

the Company's actual and expected financial performance;

o retained earnings and distributable reserves of the

Company and each of the members of the Group;

o the Group's expected working capital requirements, capital
expenditure requirements and future expansion plans;

o the Group’s cashflow situation, the Group's debts to equity
ratio and any restrictions on financial ratios that may be

imposed by the loan agreements with financial institutions;

o general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group's
business and other internal or external factors that may
have an impact on the business or financial performance

and position of the Company; and

o any other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

Declaration and distribution of dividend by the Company will be
subject to Articles of Association of the Company and all laws

and regulations applicable to the Company.

The Company will continually review the Dividend Policy and
reserves the right in its sole and absolute discretion to update,
amend, modify and/or cancel the Dividend Policy, and the
Dividend Policy shall in no way constitute a legally binding
commitment by the Company in respect of its future dividend
and/or in no way obligate the Company to declare a dividend at
any time or from time to time.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year under review, no amendment to the memorandum

and articles of association of the Company has been made.

CONCLUSION

Going forward, the Company will continue to work diligently to

maintain the highest level of corporate transparency possible.
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Report of the Directors

The Board submits the annual report together with the audited

financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019.
PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Company are investment
holding and operation of a highly vertically integrated business
encompassing feeds production, chicken meat processing and

supply of processed foods through its subsidiaries.
BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE

REVIEW OF THE GROUP’S BUSINESS AND PERFORMANCE

Details of the fair review (including an analysis using key financial
performance indicators) and the possible future development
trend of the Group’s business are set out in the sections
headed “Financial Highlights”, “Chairman’s Statement” and

“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.
PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Food safety is the most important risk faced by the Group's
business. In this regard, the Group has always been focusing on
building a traceable platform and adhering to the principle of 100-
1=0 so as to avoid the potential adverse impact of food safety

incidents that may occur in the operation of the Group.

Exchange rate fluctuation is also a market risk which the Group
seeks to actively handle. The Group has adjusted the currency of
borrowings as and when appropriate to minimise unnecessary
loss arising from change of currency.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS
During the year, the Group was not aware of any violation of the

relevant laws and regulations which may have significant impact

on it.
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DETAILS OF SIGNIFICANT EVENTS

Since 31 December 2019, save and except for the impact of
the COVID-19 outbreak as set out in note 33 to the financial
statements, the Board was not aware of any significant event
affecting the Group.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND PERFORMANCE

Promoting the sustainable development is a social responsibility
incumbent upon the Group. The Group has always been
committed to the resources conservation and emission reduction
and has replaced coal-fired boilers with clean energy boilers by
batches since 2015.

RELATIONSHIP WITH KEY STAKEHOLDERS

“Integrity, Modesty and Foresight” are the core values of the
Group. The Group maintains a good cooperation relationship and
establishes a prospective cooperation model with its suppliers
and customers by persistently acting with integrity and with a
humble attitude.

The employees of the Group are principally engaged in feed
and animal nutrition segment, poultry and value meat segment,
global food segment and various supporting segments and
are responsible for relevant duties respectively in sales and
marketing management, product manufacturing, product
planning and marketing, administrative and human resources,
financial and operation analysis, audit and legal risk management
and control, material procurement and logistics management,
information technology technical support, product research and

development, quality and safety management and so on.

The Group has been upholding the following principles when

choosing, training, using and retaining talents:

1. recruiting and selecting individuals who are suitable for
the Company's corporate culture and job position based
on working plans and key performance indicators of the

position;
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Report of the Directors

2. designing specific training courses and launching
corresponding training plans according to different
positions and ranks of employees to continuously enhance
employee’s management and professional skills and to
provide a reservoir of outstanding talents for the Group;

3. designing and implementing different performance
appraisal systems and conducting suitable post adjustment
and job rotation based on different job natures to place
talents in suitable positions and optimise their performance;

4.  determining employees’ remuneration levels based on their
experience and performance as well as the market salaries
and implementing performance bonus incentive programs
for employees in different positions and also selecting
important talents every year for appropriate reward.

There is no significant dispute between the Group and its
employees. The Group commits to build an effective and
efficient team and enable our employees to share the results of
our operation.

SUBSIDIARIES

A list of subsidiaries together with their places of operations
and incorporation and particulars of their issued share capital/
registered capital are set out in note 14 to the financial
statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATION

The profit of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019
and the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at
that date are set out in the financial statements on pages 109 to
284.

Profit attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
RMB133,683 thousand (2018: profit of approximately
RMB13,135 thousand) have been transferred to reserves. Other
movements in reserves of the Group and of the Company are
set out on page 252 of the annual report and note 27(d) to the
financial statements.

To reserve the resources for the Group's business development,
the Board decides not to distribute any final dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2019 (2018: no dividend).

ZZ— N EF R Annual Report 2019

77



/8

EZEHE

Report of the Directors

it fhs

REFARNER 2 FEEBFBEINFE113E
EFNLEZEAREEFEHE -

J A

NAT AT B E)FIFE N B RER M
27(c) °

LFR
AAREMEIRN RS B SR EAHEE
MR BSTRE A D ARIRIS R L BRI B IR
BEHARD «

sk

AEERFARAZSHBEREAARR
110,0007T ©

Dl ¥

BEEENFAZSFITHN T BHREAM T
13-

AT Bk RIE X

AEER—F-NE+-_A=1+—RMNRTE
R IB X FHIEHN AR M 5524 -

RAROR BB LF+ AN BERRZ AT
™

KRELB S (Z5M) BPR-A & DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group during the year are set
out in consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 113
to 114.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in share capital of the Company during the

year are set out in note 27(c) to the financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata

basis to the existing shareholders.

DONATIONS

Donations made by the Group during the year amounted to
RMB110,000.

FIXED ASSETS

Details of movements in fixed assets during the year are set out

in note 13 to the financial statements.

BANK LOANS AND OVERDRAFT

Particulars of bank loans and overdrafts of the Group as at
31 December 2019 are set out in note 24 to the financial

statements.

LISTING OF SHARES

The shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange on 4 October 2007.
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Report of the Directors

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company (the “Directors” and each a
“Director”) during the year and up to 29 February 2020 were:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Harn Jia-Chen (chairman)
(Resigned as Chairman and re-designated as a non-executive
Director with effect from 1 March 2020)
Mr. Han Chia-Yin

NoN-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Chao Tien-Shin

Mr. Han Jia-Hwan

Mr. Han Chia-Yau

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Chen Chih
Mr. Way Yung-Do
Mr. Wei Anning
(Re-designated as an executive Director and appointed
as Chairman with effect from 1 March 2020)

With effect from 2 March 2020 and up to the date of this report,
the Directors are:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Wei Anning (Chairman)
Mr. Han Chia-Yin

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Chao Tien-Shin

Mr. Harn Jia-Chen

Mr. Han Jia-Hwan

Mr. Han Chia-Yau

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Chen Chih

Mr. Way Yung-Do

Mr. Ting Yu-Shan
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
contract with the Company, whereas each of the non-executive
Directors and independent non-executive Directors has entered
into a letter of appointment with the Company.

The term of appointment of each Director is subject to the
Articles of Association (the “Articles”) of the Company and/or
the Listing Rules and/or the laws of the Cayman Islands and may
be terminated by the Company or the Director pursuant to the
service contract or the letter of appointment.

In accordance with Article 108 of the Articles, at each annual
general meeting, not less than one-third of the Directors for
the time being shall retire from office by rotation and, under
code provision A.4.2 of the corporate governance code of the
Company, every Director, including those appointed for a specific
term, shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every 3 years. All retiring Directors shall be eligible for re-election.

Accordingly, Mr. Harn Jia-Chen, Mr. Han Chia-Yau, and Mr. Chao
Tien-Shin shall retire from office by rotation at the conclusion of
the forthcoming AGM.

Further, pursuant to Article 112 of the Articles, any Director
appointed by the Board as an additional Director shall hold office
only until the next following annual general meeting of the
Company and shall then be eligible for re-election at the meeting.

Accordingly, Mr. Ting Yu-Shan, being an additional Director
appointed by the Board on 2 March 2020, will hold office until
the forthcoming AGM of the Company, and will be eligible for re-
election at the AGM.

All of the abovenamed Directors, being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming AGM.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM
has an unexpired service contract which is not determinable by
the Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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Report of the Directors

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has confirmed
his independence to the Company pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules and the Company considers all the independent

non-executive Directors to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management

of the Group are set out in pages 23 to 31 of this annual report.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS, SENIOR
MANAGEMENT AND THE FIVE HIGHEST-
PAID INDIVIDUALS

The emoluments of Directors, senior management and the
five highest-paid individuals are set out in notes 8 and 9 to the

financial statements.
DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Save as those disclosed in “Connected Transaction” of this
section and "Related Party Transactions” in Note 29 to the
Financial Statement, none of the Directors or their connected
entity or their associates had a material interest, either directly
or indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement or contract
of significance to the business of the Group to which the
Company, or any of its subsidiaries, holding companies or fellow

subsidiaries was a party during the year.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE WITH
SUBSIDIARIES AND CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS

Save as those disclosed in “Connected Transaction” of this
section and "Related Party Transactions” in Note 29 to the
Financial Statement, there was not any contract of significance
between the Company, or one of its subsidiary companies, and a

controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries during the year.
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DISCLOSURE UNDER RULE 8.10(2)

As confirmed by each of the Directors, during the year ended
31 December 2019, none of them was engaged in or had any
interest in any business that competed or was likely to compete,
either directly or indirectly, with the Company’s business as

required to be disclosed under Rule 8.10(2) of the Listing Rules.
EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreement was entered into by the Company
during 2019 or subsisted at the end of 2019.

RESTRICTED SHARE AWARD SCHEME

During the year ended 31 December 2019, there was no
effective restricted share award scheme of the Company and
there were no shares granted but remained unvested under any

previous restricted share award scheme of the Company.
SHARE OPTION SCHEME

During the year ended 31 December 2019, there was no
effective share option scheme of the Company and no share
options of the Company were granted, exercised, expired,

lapsed, cancelled or outstanding.
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R RESITBN B RA ~ FHEA DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

JBe 0y B 6 5 RO R i B 8 BT INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

E-Z-NF+-A=+—8 £ARAIEBEEK As at 31 December 2019, the interests and short positions of the

EETBRAEBRARRSERBEEE (&R Directors and chief executive in the shares, underlying shares
BH R EEED ([ 5 REEEG]) BXVED) and debentures of the Company or its associated corporations

Bk D - MR GD REFREE R RA (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
B BARNEIRERES RS GHE352{5E Ordinance (the “SFO")) as recorded in the register required to
Tz ERMATH - SRR _ ETR RIS Fra be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or
LEMEITAEFETEHZZRLESTR (1R as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange

AR BRI AN G R R TR ROR R pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
W Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing

Rules (“Model Code”), were as follows:

(A) RARSEZ R4 — 1P A - (A) INTEREST IN THE COMPANY — LONG POSITIONS:

RIERA EARAT

EPN-33 Htbfgm  fTAETARER BETRA

B2/ BRTHASHE g EREE HERHEE @t ZBRESL

Number of Approximate

Personal Other underlying % of issued

interest interest shares held share capital

Name of Directors/ Number of ordinary under equity of the

Chief Executives shares held derivatives Total Company

HITEE -

Executive Directors:

BRE(M21) 382,000 200,000 - 582,000 0.057%

Han Chia-Yin (Note 1)

HHITEE -

Non-executive Directors:

BRE 344,000 - - 344,000 0.034%
Han Jia-Hwan

BRE Wit2) 3,534,000 300,000 - 3,834,000 0.377%
Chao Tien-Shin (Note 2)

BAa 300,000 - - 300,000 0.030%
Chen Chih

HoxE 355,000 - - 355,000 0.035%
Way Yung-Do

BEITEAL

Chief Executives:

B~ 211,500 - - 211,500 0.021%
Ou Chang-Jou
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Bi3E Notes:
1. BREXAEWERBEEHERBHEEDN 1. Mr. Han Chia-Yin is deemed to be interested in 200,000 shares held
200,000/ B oz © by his spouse.
2. BERELXEWRGAEARBEERER 2. Mr. Chao Tien-Shin is deemed to be interested in 300,000 shares
1B £ [R5 5 #9300,0008% A (D #ES © jointly held by Mr. Chao and his spouse.
(B) A VA B 2 B2 — AP - (B) INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATED CORPORATION OF THE COMPANY

— LONG PoOSITIONS:

EHEERE AR

e ng EER g2ETRA

] £ ERitE RiMER BRBEAL

Approximate % of

Interestsin  the relevant associated

Name of Name of associated Nature ordinary corporation’s issued

Directors corporations of interest shares held share capital

EXT REEREERNBRRR Hi1) EnlEs 62,352 0.008%
Han Chia-Yau Great Wall Enterprise Co. Ltd. (Note 7) Beneficial owner

HRR AEERCERDERRA Eaka 66,973 0.008%
Harn Jia-Chen Great Wall Enterprise Co. Ltd. Beneficial owner

HRE Wi2) RREHEFERIDERAR G NP 3 11,507,024 1.391%
Chao Tien-Shin Great Wall Enterprise Co. Ltd. Interest of controlled
(Note 2) corporation

84 KRELB S (Z5M) BPR-A & DaChan Food (Asia) Limited
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Report of the Directors

Notes:

1. Great Wall Enterprise Co. Ltd. (“Great Wall Enterprise”), a company
incorporated in Taiwan and listed on Taiwan Stock Exchange
Corporation, is the ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company.

2. Mr. Chao Tien-Shin was deemed to be interested in the 11,507,024
shares held by CTS Investment Corporation controlled by Mr. Chao

and his spouse.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2019, none of
the Directors and chief executive and their associates had any
interest or short position in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
that was recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the year ended 31 December 2019 was the
Company or any of its parent companies, subsidiary undertakings
or its parent companies’ subsidiary undertakings a party to any
arrangement whose objects are, or one of whose objects is,
to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the

Company or any other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY

As at 31 December 2019, the interests and short positions held
by the persons, other than a director or chief executive of the
Company, in the shares and underlying shares of the Company
as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company

pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:
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RARRGIFE Long positions in shares of the Company:
% REME RIOEE BRBA
Nature of Number of Approximate
Name interests shares %
Waverley Star Limited g 375,899,946 36.99%
Beneficial interests
TMEERMAR Bakn 152,924,906 15.05%
Asia Nutrition Technologies Beneficial interests
Corporation
RBEIRR (1R) B R A REHIAR 2 528,824,852 52.04%
Great Wall International (Holdings) Ltd. Interests of controlled corporation (a1
(Note 1)
AREBEERDERAR bz NS £ 528,824,852 52.04%
Great Wall Enterprise Co., Ltd. Interests of controlled corporation (Hez1)
(Note 1)
Continental Capital Limited BEns 59,700,029 5.87%
(BT Continental Enterprises Ltd.) (47:£3)
(formerly known as Continental Enterprises Ltd.) Beneficial interests (Hzz2)
(Note 3) (Note 2)
Contigroup Companies Inc. BRI AR s 59,700,029 5.87%
Interests of controlled corporation (Hi#2)
(Note 2)
Fribourg Grandchildren Family L.P. BRI AR s 59,700,029 5.87%
Interests of controlled corporation (Hi#2)
(Note 2)
Fribourg Enterprises, LLC BRI AR s 59,700,029 5.87%
Interests of controlled corporation (Hi#2)
(Note 2)
I\ Robert Fribourg &5 25 A#) SR VNI ol £ 59,700,029 5.87%
“NEtFRA=T—RAEAE (#tz)
Declaration of Trust dated May 31, 1957, Interests of controlled corporation (Note 2)

for the benefit of Robert Fribourg
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£ RRtE RHSE ARSI
Nature of Number of Approximate
Name interests shares %
JAPaul Jules Fribourg 53 & AH) i NI 59,700,029 5.87%
“hWAtERA=+-RAREHE (i)
Declaration of Trust dated May 31, 1957, Interests of controlled corporation (Note 2)
for the benefit of Paul Jules
Fribourg
JXNadine Louise Fribourg 52 Af) e NI 5 59,700,029 5.87%
“hWAtERA=+-RAREHE (i)
Declaration of Trust dated May 31, 1957, Interests of controlled corporation (Note 2)
for the benefit of Nadine Louise
Fribourg
JACharles Arthur Fribourg A5 A A i NI 5 59,700,029 5.87%
“hWAtERA=+-RAREHE (i)
Declaration of Trust dated May 31, 1957, Interests of controlled corporation (Note 2)
for the benefit of Charles Arthur
Fribourg
JACaroline Renee Fribourg A5 25 A#) i NI 5 59,700,029 5.87%
—NRZFNATRBERRE (Hiz2)
Trust Agreement dated September 16, 1963, Interests of controlled corporation (Note 2)
for the benefit of Caroline Renee
Fribourg
Fribourg Charles Arthur ZEA 59,700,029 5.87%
Trustee (H522)
(Note 2)
Sosland Morton Irvin XA 59,700,029 5.87%
Trustee (H522)
(Note 2)
Fribourg Paul Jules XA 59,700,029 5.87%
Trustee (H522)
(Note 2)
BER BatEn 50,978,000 5.02%
Sun Hui Ying Beneficial interests
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FRET

B2

KB (32M) AR 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

B 1% LAWaverley Star Limited & 250 42 & £
NAZEER  Waverley Star Limited 225
EERRMARSERRNKER(ZER) ERAT
MEENBAR - fAKBER (2R ARAR
RABREBEERDERLAANZENRE D
Al o ARIRESH REBE G - KRB (2AR) &
RARRAKRMEERG BRA TR A
R Waverley Star Limited & 2o M & EH M AR
BENMARD 2 R A -

Fribourg Charles Arthur » Sosland Morton
Irvin Xz Fribourg Paul Jules% Bl Contigroup
Companies Inc.#E%13.39% * 3.21% }6.23%
B o ENAZFEA - LR LARobert
Fribourg A% m AM—NALtFRA=+—
H{=5tE ([Robertfs5E &) + LAPaul Jutes
Fribourg B s A — A A+FRA=+—
H{z:t& ([Paulf=5t &) + LANadine Louise
Fribourg 8% s AN — W AtFRA=+—H
£+t & ([Nadinefs5E&]) - LACharles Arthur
Fribourg A% m AM—NALtFRA=+—
H{=zt & ([Charlesfsst &) LA LACaroline
Renee Fribourg B m AR — N A=FNA
+7x Bt ([Carolinethi#)) (71
FEL) iR 2 Ep s o ARIBE S KBS KA -
Fribourg Charles Arthur » Sosland Morton
Irvin & Fribourg Paul Jules##18 AR E7EEH
M2 m R A R

{Z5E#E#IFribourg Enterprises, LLCH)Z &
o RIBEF MGG - EEERERR
Fribourg Enterprises, LLCATIEHI /)& 042
A #E © Fribourg Enterprises, LLCIE]
Contigroup Companies Inc.#92.44% * W%
&2 H|Fribourg Grandchildren Family L.P + i
Fribourg Grandchildren Family L.PE 4|
Contigroup Companies Inc.#949.33% 12 ©
RIZEFH LEAEEA - Fribourg Enterprises,
LLC# 4% A Fribourg Grandchildren Family
LPETEE R 2 8= P HE % - MFribourg
Grandchildren Family L.P#4% & Contigroup
Companies Inc.iF5BM 2 E =R HEEE
Robert{Z5E& - PaulfgstE * Nadinefs7tZ& »
Charles{Z5£2Z M Caroline %% # & Contigroup
Companies Inc.#93.93% * 5.84% * 5.23% *
4.97%R%4.92% 1

Note 1:

Note 2:

The shares were registered in the name of Waverley Star Limited and Asia
Nutrition Technologies Corporation, each of which was a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Great Wall International (Holdings) Ltd., which, in turn, was a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Great Wall Enterprise Co., Ltd. Under the SFO,
both Great Wall International (Holdings) Ltd. and Great Wall Enterprise Co.,
Ltd. were deemed to be interested in all the shares held by Waverley Star
Limited and Asia Nutrition Technologies Corporation.

Fribourg Charles Arthur, Sosland Morton Irvin and Fribourg Paul Jules had
control of 3.39%, 3.21% and 6.23% interests in Contigroup Companies
Inc. respectively. They were also the trustees of and had control of
100% interests in the Declaration of Trust dated 31 May 1957 for the
benefit of Robert Fribourg (the “Robert’s Declaration”), the Declaration
of Trust dated 31 May 1957 for the benefit of Paul Jutes Fribourg (the
“Paul’s Declaration”), the Declaration of Trust dated 31 May 1957 for
the benefit of Nadine Louise Fribourg (the “Nadine’s Declaration”),
Declaration of Trust dated 31 May 1957 for the benefit of Charles Arthur
Fribourg (the “Charles’ Declaration”), and the Trust Agreement dated 16
September 1963 for the benefit of Caroline Renee Fribourg (the “Caroline’s
Agreement”) (hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Trusts”). Under
the SFO, Fribourg Charles Arthur, Sosland Morton Irvin and Fribourg Paul
Jules were deemed to be interested in all the interests held by the Trusts.

The Trusts controlled 100% interests in Fribourg Enterprises, LLC. Under
the SFO, the Trusts were deemed to be interested in all the interests held
by Fribourg Enterprises, LLC. Fribourg Enterprises, LLC controlled 2.44%
of Contigroup Companies Inc and wholly controlled Fribourg Grandchildren
Family L.P, which directly controlled 49.33% interests of Contigroup
Companies Inc. Under the SFO, Fribourg Enterprises, LLC was deemed to
be interested in all the interests held by Fribourg Grandchildren Family L.P,
which was deemed to be interested in all the interests held by Contigroup
Companies Inc. The Robert’'s Declaration, Paul’'s Declaration, Nadine's
Declaration, Charles’ Declaration and Caroline's Agreement owned
3.93%, 5.84%, 5.23%, 4.97%, and 4.92% of the interests in Contigroup

Companies Inc.



Contigroup Companies Inc. & &4l
Continental Enterprises Ltd. * fiContinental
Enterprises Ltd. AZNA F)5.90 % & ) 4 #
B o REBEFEFLEERA - Contigroup
Companies Inc.# % A Continental
Enterprises Ltd 3B M2k () R B = -

ERAEXRRARRFEEE#Z ° Fribourg
Charles Arthur » Sosland Morton Irvin
Fribourg Paul Julesif HRIRAN AR P EEHE

Sl -

M5E3 : A R)EContinental Enterprises Ltd. %
M ER_FT——F+—AZBEXRRA
T8 &l Continental Capital Limited] » BER
TE-CFATEEREFRABALRA
300,000/ it » EFEARABRMDEE B
59,700,029/%45 A1 Z60,000,029% ©

B EXPEBEN  RZE-AF+ZA
=t—B BARAEER&ESTHAE (K
FNRREN EX[EZRERTHRABRR
0 HRERD RESORRAR] )
BMEEMALTAEARAF - BERALQFSD
sk ARRAR (0 B IRIEE 75 S I B 5k (51 55 336

RAB RS SORR °

Note 3:
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Contigroup Companies Inc. wholly controlled Continental Enterprises Ltd.,
which was interested in 5.90% shares of the Company. Under the SFO,
Contigroup Companies Inc. was deemed to be interested in all the shares
held by Continental Enterprises Ltd.

The Trusts jointly held their interests in the Company. Fribourg Charles
Arthur, Sosland Morton Irvin and Fribourg Paul Jules also jointly held their
interests in the Company.

The Company was informed by Continental Enterprises Ltd. that it
changed its name to “Continental Capital Limited” on 2 November 2011,
and that the number of shares in the Company held by it has increased
from 59,700,029 to 60,000,029 since it acquired 300,000 shares in the
Company in 2012 through the exercise of share option(s).

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2019, no person,

other than the Directors and chief executive of the Company

whose interests are set out in the section “Directors’ and chief

executive's interests and short positions in shares, underlying

shares and debentures” above, had notified the Company of an

interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the

Company that was required to be recorded pursuant to Section
336 of the SFO.
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ITNEERNAR B AR EEER
BEF LI E GAIEXVERE2 R 37 &0 T A
BRAIABEZARNES &S :

1. BREEERAREMEEZES

2. BEFEERRKKEWMEERZEZNE
SRS

3. WERRALRAKNEMEEZES:
4. HBREEERAKREBEEZES -
B 22 5

FA - AEBETY_ ETRAAENBEA
TETETHERS  RER:

(1) ARBNREZERBIRAKEREER
HERAEB AN B 2 7 (R R
EEOBEA) ([BRINEE]D)

(2)  Marubeni Corporation ([ 141 * &NA A
FEREMB AR EZRE) KA (F
B)BRAR ([RALFRE]) AR
BAR) RAAFBRZMEAR AN
AREEAN) - &

@)  ALRBHEEEEREEER AR (45K
BED) ARARRREEBRREELE
(ERAIEETH)30% X ERR - #E
M AR A

KRELB S (Z5M) BPR-A & DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

The following Directors are directors/employees of a company
which had an interest or short position in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO:

1. Mr. Han Chia-Yin is a director of Great Wall Enterprise;

2. Mr. Han Chia-Yau is a director and the chairman of the

board of the directors of Great Wall Enterprise;

3. Mr. Harn Jia-Chen is a director of Great Wall Enterprise;

4. Mr. Chao Tien-Shin is a director of Great Wall Enterprise.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group carried out a number of connected
transactions with the following connected persons (as defined in

the Listing Rules), namely:

(1) Great Wall Enterprise (being the ultimate controlling
shareholder of the Company) and its subsidiaries (being
associates of Great Wall Enterprise) excluding the Group
(the "Excluded Group”);

(2)  Marubeni Corporation (“Marubeni”, being a substantial
shareholder of a non wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company) and RAL(FE))ABRA A (“Marubeni PRC") (a
subsidiary of Marubeni) and subsidiaries of Marubeni PRC

(all being associates of Marubeni); and

(3)  Beijing Sisters Kitchen Food and Beverage Management
Co., Ltd. (kR EFERER AR QA (“Sisters
Kitchen"”), an associate of Mr. Han Jia-Hwan, a director
of the Company, by virtue of being his 30%-controlled
company (within the meaning of the Listing Rules).
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Report of the Directors

The Group conducted the following connected transactions and
continuing connected transactions (other than those exempted
from the annual reporting requirements under Chapter 14A of

the Listing Rules) during the year ended 31 December 2019:

(@ On 18 April 2018, the Company (for itself and on
behalf of other members of the Group) and Great Wall
Enterprise (for itself and on behalf of other members of
the Excluded Group) entered into the master purchase
(renewal) agreement (“GWE Master Purchase (Renewal)
Agreement”) for a fixed duration of 3 years starting from
1 January 2019. The GWE Master Purchase (Renewal)
Agreement stipulates, in summary terms, that (among
others) (i) the Group shall purchase and the Excluded Group
shall sell products on a non-exclusive basis in accordance
with written quotations or orders to be agreed between
the relevant member of the Group (as the buyer) and that
of the Excluded Group (as the supplier) from time to time
during the said duration; (ii) such written quotations and
orders shall be governed by the terms and conditions of
the GWE Master Purchase (Renewal) Agreement; (iii)
prices of the products shall be agreed on an arms’ length
basis and on normal commercial terms or better and
within the range of fair price prevailing on the market of
the same or similar products in the PRC; and (iv) prices
for the products shall be settled by the relevant member
of the Group within 60 days after receiving the relevant
invoice(s). Products which may be purchased by the Group
under the GWE Master Purchase (Renewal) Agreement
include flour, coated flour and fermented soybean meal. In
addition to the pricing terms provided in the GWE Master
Purchase (Renewal) Agreement, the Group also adopted a
set of internal policies to determine the prices and terms
of the purchases contemplated thereunder, the details of
which, together with other information regarding the GWE
Master Purchase (Renewal) Agreement, are set out in the
Company’s announcement and circular dated 18 April 2018
and 13 June 2018 respectively.
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During the year under review, the total value of products
purchased by the Group from the Excluded Group under
the GWE Master Purchase (Renewal) Agreement amounts
to approximately RMB19,694 thousand. The Directors
confirm that the Group has followed the said pricing terms
and policies when determining the price and terms of those
purchases.

On 18 April 2018, the Company (for itself and on behalf of
other members of the Group) and Great Wall Enterprise
(for itself and on behalf of other members of the Excluded
Group) entered into the master supply (renewal) agreement
("GWE Master Supply (Renewal) Agreement”) for a fixed
duration of 3 years starting from 1 January 2019. The
GWE Master Supply (Renewal) Agreement stipulates, in
summary terms, that (among others) (i) the Group shall
supply and the Excluded Group shall purchase products on
a non-exclusive basis in accordance with written quotations
or orders to be agreed between the relevant member of
the Group (as the supplier) and that of the Excluded Group
(as the buyer) from time to time during the said duration;
(i) such written quotations and orders shall be governed
by the terms and conditions of the GWE Master Supply
(Renewal) Agreement; (iii) prices of the products shall be
agreed by reference to the cost of production for such
products and using the same price determination basis
adopted by the relevant member of the Group from time
to time for sale of the same or similar products to its other
customers who are independent third parties; and (iv) prices
for the products shall be settled by the relevant member
of the Excluded Group within 60 days after receiving
the relevant invoice(s). Products which may be supplied
by the Group under the GWE Master Supply (Renewal)
Agreement include aquatic animal feed products and fresh
meat products. In addition to the pricing terms provided in
the GWE Master Supply (Renewal) Agreement, the Group
also adopted a set of internal policies to determine the
prices and terms of the sales contemplated thereunder, the
details of which, together with other information regarding
the GWE Master Supply (Renewal) Agreement, are set out
in the Company’s announcement and circular dated 18 April
2018 and 13 June 2018 respectively.
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Report of the Directors

During the year under review, the total value of products
sold by the Group to the Excluded Group under the
GWE Master Supply (Renewal) Agreement amounts to
approximately RMB26,511 thousand. The Directors confirm
that the Group has followed the said pricing terms and
policies when determining the price and terms of those
sales.

On 18 April 2018, the Company (for itself and on behalf of
other members of the Group) and Marubeni PRC (together
with its subsidiaries the “Marubeni PRC Group”) (for itself
and on behalf of its subsidiaries) entered into the master
purchase (renewal 2018) agreement (FEE (ZZT—/\
FER) ) ("Marubeni Master Purchase (Renewal)
Agreement”) for a fixed duration of 3 years starting from 1
January 2019. The Marubeni Master Purchase (Renewal)
Agreement stipulates, in summary terms, that (among
others) (i) the Group agrees to purchase and the Marubeni
PRC Group agrees to sell products (such as soybean
powder, mixed powder, oil, and condiment) on a non-
exclusive basis in accordance with contracts to be made
between the relevant member of the Group (as the buyer)
and that of the Marubeni PRC Group (as the supplier) from
time to time during the said duration under the Marubeni
Master Purchase (Renewal) Agreement; (i) prices of the
products shall be agreed on an arms’ length basis and on
normal commercial terms or better and within the range
of fair price prevailing on the market of the same or similar
products in the PRC; and (iii) prices for the products shall be
paid by the relevant member of the Group after the delivery
of the products by the relevant member of the Marubeni
PRC Group in accordance with the relevant contract
made in respect of such purchases. In addition to the
pricing terms provided in the Marubeni Master Purchase
(Renewal) Agreement, the Group also adopted a set of
internal policies to determine the prices and terms of the
purchases contemplated thereunder, the details of which,
together with other information regarding the Marubeni
Master Purchase (Renewal) Agreement, are set out in the

Company’s announcement dated 18 April 2018.
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During the year under review, the total value of products
purchased by the Group from the Marubeni PRC Group
under the Marubeni Master Purchase (Renewal) Agreement
amounts to approximately RMB2,410 thousand. The
Directors confirm that the Group has followed the said
pricing terms and policies when determining the price and
terms of those purchases.

On 18 April 2018, the Company (for itself and on behalf of
other members of the Group) and Marubeni entered into
the master supply (renewal 2018) agreement (“Marubeni
Master Supply (Renewal) Agreement”) for a fixed duration
of 3 years starting from 1 January 2019. The Marubeni
Master Supply (Renewal) Agreement stipulates, in
summary terms, that (among others) (i) the Group agrees
to supply to Marubeni food related products under written
purchase orders placed pursuant to the Marubeni Master
Supply (Renewal) Agreement by Marubeni from time to
time during the said duration; (ii) prices of the products shall
be agreed by reference to the cost of production for such
products and using the same price determination basis as
that adopted by the relevant member of the Group from
time to time for sale of the same or similar products to its
other customers who are independent third parties; and
(iii) prices of the products shall be paid by Marubeni, upon
acceptance of the products tendered in conformity with the
purchase order placed by Marubeni, within the period and
manner as laid down in the said purchase order. In addition
to the pricing terms provided in the Marubeni Master
Supply (Renewal) Agreement, the Group also adopted a
set of internal policies to determine the prices and terms
of the sales contemplated thereunder, the details of which,
together with other information regarding the Marubeni
Master Supply (Renewal) Agreement, are set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 18 April 2018.

During the year under review, the total value of products
sold by the Group to Marubeni under the Marubeni Master
Supply (Renewal) Agreement amounts to approximately
RMB185,341 thousand. The Directors confirm that the
Group has followed the said pricing terms and policies
when determining the price and terms of those sales.
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Report of the Directors

Before Sisters Kitchen became a connected person of the
Company, it entered into the sale agreement (the “Sale
Agreement”) with DaChan Food (Hebei) Co., Ltd. CKAX &
(adb) AR /A R]) (“DaChan Hebei"), a company established
in the PRC and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company on 11 September 2018 for a term of 2 years
in relation to the supply of products by DaChan Hebei to

Sisters Kitchen.

Under the Sale Agreement, DaChan Hebei supplies
and Sisters Kitchen acquires the relevant products (i.e.
processed chicken meat) required for the production and
operation of Sisters Kitchen as stipulated in the orders
placed by Sisters Kitchen from time to time. The purchase
price for the aforementioned products (“Purchase Price”)
is determined between DaChan Hebei and Sisters
Kitchen in accordance with the costs of the products
plus a processing fee of RMB700 per ton. The Purchase
Price is calculated on a monthly basis and paid by Sisters
Kitchen after receipt of the invoice from DaChan Hebei.
The Sale Agreement and the transactions contemplated
thereunder became a continuing connected transaction
of the Company under the Listing Rules following Sisters
Kitchen becoming an associate of Mr. Han Jia-Hwan and a
connected person of the Company on 26 December 2018.
The Company has established internal control procedures
to ensure that the products supplied to Sisters Kitchen are
in line with the terms of the Sale Agreement and no less
favourable to the Group than those offered by the Group to
independent customers, the details of which, together with
other information regarding the Sale Agreement and the
transactions contemplated thereunder, are set out in the

Company’s announcement dated 16 January 2019.
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During the year under review, the total value of products
sold by the Group to Sisters Kitchen under the Sale
Agreement amounts to approximately RMB4,219 thousand.
The Directors confirm that the Group has followed the said
pricing terms and policies when determining the price and
terms of those sales.

Apart from the Sale Agreement, DaChan Hebei and Sisters
Kitchen also entered into the distribution agreement (the
“Distribution Agreement”) on 11 September 2018 for a
term of 2 years in relation to the provision of distribution
service by DaChan Hebei to Sisters Kitchen. Under the
Distribution Agreement, DaChan Hebei acts as the non-
exclusive distributor of the “better me"” brand products
of Sisters Kitchen (i.e. healthy food products using,
among the others, the chicken meat sold by DaChan
Hebei under the Sale Agreement) in the PRC through all
online and offline distribution channels. The fees for the
aforementioned distribution services (“Service Fees") are
2% of the proceeds received by DaChan Hebei from its
sale of products to third parties after deducting the relevant
tax, discount and any other sale-related costs borne by
Sisters Kitchen. The Service Fees are calculated and paid
on a monthly basis. DaChan Hebei pays the net sum of the
sale proceeds received from third parties to Sisters Kitchen
after deduction of the Service Fees. DaChan Hebei and
Sisters Kitchen entered into the supplemental agreement
(the “Supplemental Agreement”) on 12 December 2018
to amend the Distribution Agreement. The Supplemental
Agreement stipulates, in summary terms, that (among
others) DaChan Hebei and Sisters Kitchen will review
and (if applicable) re-determine the pricing basis of the
Service Fees under the Distribution Agreement before the
expiration of one year after the signing of the Distribution
Agreement. Other terms of the Distribution Agreement
remained unchanged. The Distribution Agreement (as
amended by the Supplemental Agreement) and the
transactions contemplated thereunder became a continuing
connected transaction of the Company under the Listing
Rules following the becoming of Sisters Kitchen as an
associate of Mr. Han Jia-Hwan and a connected person
of the Company on 26 December 2018. The Company
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Report of the Directors

has established internal control procedures to ensure that
the distribution services provided by DaChan Hebei are in
line with the terms of the Distribution Agreement and no
less favourable to the Group than those offered or to be
offered by the Group to independent customers, the details
of which, together with other information regarding the
Distribution Agreement and the transactions contemplated
thereunder, are set out in the Company’s announcement
dated 16 January 2019.

During the year under review, the total value of “better me”
brand products of Sisters Kitchen sold to third parties under the
Distribution Agreement amounts to approximately RMB167
thousand. The Directors confirm that the Group has followed the
said pricing terms and policies when determining the Service
Fees.

Save as disclosed above, there are no other connected
transactions which require disclosure in the annual report in
accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The Directors confirmed that the Company has complied with
the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules during the year.

The independent non-executive Directors of the Company have
confirmed that the above-mentioned continuing connected
transactions were entered into: (i) in the ordinary and usual
course of the Group's business; (ii) either on normal commercial
terms or on terms no less favourable to the Group than
those available to or from independent third parties; and (iii)
in accordance with the terms of the respective agreements
governing such transactions on terms that were fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of the
Company as a whole.

The auditor of the Company has reviewed the above-mentioned
continuing connected transactions pursuant to rule 14A.56 of
the Listing Rules and advised the Board in writing with a copy
provided to the Stock Exchange that nothing has come to its
attention that causes it to believe that such transactions: (i) have
not been approved by the Board; (ii) were not, in all material
respects, in accordance with the pricing polices of the Group
where the transactions involve the provisions of goods or services
by the Group; (iii) were not entered into, in all material respects,
in accordance with the relevant agreements governing such
transactions; and (iv) have exceeded the cap set by the Company.
ZZ— N EF R Annual Report 2019

97



98

EZEHE

Report of the Directors

WRE SN ] bR R

“E-NEFER ARFREMEARRER
B HEHEOMARLQFER EHESR -

ERE P K PRE

BREAEERAREFPHHEEESIE=E—1
ERZFB-N\FHIHEEPN30% - BHEZ
E-NEFERZT-N\FTZA=+—HIEMF
B AEERAHERELRESESHINE
FRIEEHI30% o

BEEE  FEZETHEARETABIRGL
EEMAERARRCDEITIRME %A L) #
BRATP MR 2 (4 -

it I B SR

AEBRFHB R B AN BEREHIRT - FAIAE
RIZEEKH - EREENEEFTEHFEN

ﬁ
£

FERARABRTRABOF S R HHER
FERSAREEN - AEEEDEAEET
BEE  EERBRTHABNRERRED
BAER -

FURE 2 A B B

RIBE A FHTI AN RKERATITHH
EI=Z-TFWA+RE)ARRAIERZ A
FREMBERARREEMA - ARR]—EMR
ETRARE 2 RRFFE

KRELB S (Z5M) BPR-A & DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES

During the year of 2019, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
listed securities.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s five largest
customers in 2019 and 2018 accounted for less than 30% of the
total sales of the Group. The aggregate purchases attributable to
the Group's five largest suppliers accounted for less than 30%
of total purchases for both years ended 31 December 2019 and
2018.

None of the Directors, their close associates or any shareholders
(which to the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of
the Company'’s issued shares) had any interest in the five largest
customers or suppliers.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the Group is set up by its human
resources department and seeks to provide remuneration
packages on the basis of the merit, qualifications and
competence of the employees.

The emoluments of the Directors and senior management of
the Company will be reviewed by the Remuneration Committee,
having regard to factors including the Group’s operating results,
responsibilities required of the Directors and senior management
and comparable market information.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors of the
Company as at the latest practicable date prior to the publication
of this annual report (i.e. 16 April 2020), the Company has
maintained the prescribed public float under the Listing Rules.
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Report of the Directors

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract, other than service contracts with directors or full-
time employees of the Company, by which a person undertakes
the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of any business of the Company was entered

into or in force during 2019.
PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association, every director
of the Company shall be indemnified and secured harmless out
of the assets of the Company from and against all actions, costs,
charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any of
them shall or may incur or sustain by reason of any act done,
concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty or
supposed duty in their respective offices except such (if any) as
they shall incur or sustain through their own fraud or dishonesty.
Such provisions were in force during 2019 and remained in force

as of the date of this report.
FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out in page 288 of the

annual report.
AUDITORS

KPMG as the Company’s auditors, will retire and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming AGM. A
resolution for the re-appointment of KPMG as the auditors of the

Company is to be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

On behalf of the Board
Mr. Wei Anning

Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 March 2020
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Independent auditor’s report
to the shareholders of DaChan Food (Asia) Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
DaChan Food (Asia) Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries
("the Group”) set out on pages 109 to 284, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2019, the consolidated income statement, the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated cash flows statement
for the year then ended and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting

policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2019 and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRSs"”) issued by International Accounting
Standards Board (“IASB") and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong

Companies Ordinance.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"). Qur
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (“the Code"”) together with any ethical
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated
financial statements in the Cayman Islands, and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements and the Code. We believe that the audit evidence
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis

for our opinion.
KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.
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Assessing potential impairment of property, plant and equipment

Refer to Note 13 to the consolidated financial statements and

the accounting policies on page 209.

The Key Audit Matter

As at 31 December 2019,
the Group held property,
plant and equipment
with a carrying value of
RMB1,586,231,000 which
was used in the Group's
chicken meat, processed
food and feed production

operations.

The Group's property, plant
and equipment is allocated
to relevant cash generating
units (“CGUs") for the
purpose of assessing if
there is any impairment at
the end of the reporting

period.

Management considered
that there were indicators
of impairment of property,
plant and equipment
at 31 December 2019
because certain CGUs
have sustained losses and,
therefore, management
assessed the recoverable
amounts of these CGUS
using value in use
calculations based on
discounted cash flow

forecasts.

How the matter was addressed in
our audit

Our audit procedures to assess
impairment of property, plant and
equipment included the following:

e evaluating management’s
processes and procedures for
the identification of indicators
of impairment of property, plant

and equipment;

e evaluating management’s
identification of CGUs and
the allocation of assets to
each CGU and management’s
methodology adopted in the
preparation of the discounted
cash flow forecasts with
reference to the requirements
of the prevailing accounting

standards;

e evaluating the key assumptions
adopted by management in their
preparation of the discounted
cash flow forecasts, including
revenue growth rates and profit
margin ratios, by comparing
with the financial budgets which
were approved by the directors,
our understanding, experience
and knowledge of the Group's
businesses and future business

plans;
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The Key Audit Matter

The preparation of
discounted cash flow
forecasts involves the
exercise of significant
management judgement,
in particular in forecasting
revenue growth rates and
profit margin ratios and in
determining appropriate

discount rates.

We identified assessing
impairment of property,
plant and equipment as a
key audit matter because
of the inherent uncertainty
involved in forecasting
future cash flows, in
particular in respect of
revenue growth rates,
profit margin ratios, and
the discount rates applied,
which could be subject
to potential management

bias.

B ZBENRE

Independent Auditor’s Report

How the matter was addressed in

our audit

comparing revenue, cost of
sales and other operating
expenses included in discounted
cash flow forecasts prepared
in the prior year with the
current year's performance to
assess the accuracy of the prior
year's forecasts and making
enquiries of management as to
the reasons for any significant
variations identified and whether
these had been considered in

current year's forecasts;

engaging our internal valuation
specialists to evaluate the
discount rates applied in the
discounted cash flow forecasts
by comparison with other

companies in the same industry;

performing sensitivity analyses
of the key assumptions adopted
in the discounted cash flow
forecasts, including the revenue
growth rates, profit margin
ratios, and the discount rates
and assessing the impact of
changes in the key assumptions
to the conclusions reached and
whether there are any indicators

of management bias; and
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The Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in

our audit

e considering the disclosures
in the consolidated financial
statements in respect of the
impairment assessment,
including key sensitivities, with
reference to the requirements
of the prevailing accounting
standards.

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND AUDITOR’S REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual
report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of

assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to

be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or

error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease

operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging
their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial

reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is
made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.
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KRB (32M) A FE 2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,

misrepresentations or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's

internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and

related disclosures made by the directors.



s HERRARBLLSTEMNBEY
e fEm o IRIBRFTERME T FIE - 1
ErBFEREREYIELAEBHERT
R - EmAREEsY BESEEME
BB NELEBARE - MEKMRA
GFHEERTHETEME - BB BB EZEED
WERRBEAEIEGEWBRPH
HEARKE - REEHANKREDTE - Bl
HEMOER - ZMIEREENZE
FERE B IEFTERIS MR ET 254K o A -
RIREBIESNIE N O] ge G R S BT B s

o HESAMBmRNEEINHRIRN
BHAR  BREREE  UR&EE ﬁﬂ%fﬁ&
REBTBERRIBAIHNER °

s NERERERBAXRBRDNUBER
EEGt R - EENERE - NEES
EMBHREREL - RMBEEEKE

BRI - EEAMBIT - BT
BRAERREE -

BREMEIRSN - HARBRZESEE TS
MEHEE - BT EXEAERE B
FRERAFIFE T AP Rl H PO AR Il ) (E R KR
f o

BATMABZZBSREREHR  SIARMCDH

SEMELIENERERERENR - WM
BBATRER BN AEFERIFIEL I
FrBEBERMEMETE - AREERNERLT -
TRRARIB #EHE 1 ©

B M A% B R
Independent Auditor’s Report

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause

the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and

events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the Group audit. We

remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in

internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our

independence and, where applicable, related safeguards.
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to

outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this

independent auditor’s report is Yeung Ka Chun.

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

24 March 2020
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Consolidated Income Statement

HE_Z-NGF+-A=1+—"HILEFE
for the year ended 31 December 2019

(BREEEAI  UARETITZ)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

MIsE —E-hF —E—)\FE
Note 2019 2018
FosE
Note
eI ON Turnover 4 8,035,206 7,191,911
HEKA Cost of sales (7,053,631) (6,431,611)
ER Gross profit 981,575 760,300
HAbag A Other operating income 5 18,706 18,054
H % (518) W Other net (loss)/gain 5 (31,190) 19,780
7 SRR Distribution costs (391,045) (382,405)
TBAX Administrative expenses (282,459) (307,712)
LR A Profit from operations 295,587 108,017
FE X Finance costs 6(a) (45,860) (35,407)
JEMhES ARSI AR] Share of (losses)/gains of equity-

(E518) W=k accounted investees (607) 13,933
R A A Profit before taxation 6 249,120 86,543
FrfS i Income tax 7 (43,133) (24,648)
FRREF Profit for the year 205,987 61,895
THALHE : Attributable to:

AR ERRER Equity shareholders of the

Company 133,683 13,135
FEIER A 2 Non-controlling interests 72,304 48,760
F R F Profit for the year 205,987 61,895
SREF Earnings per share
—EAR R — Basic and diluted 11 RMB0.1316 RMBO0.0129

AR#0.13165t ARX¥0.01297C

Mz AEER -ZE-NF— A - ARBEERIEWE
IR FE R BIRR B 75 5 RSB 1657 © RIRFLTT
& WESFILBER - RKTEE2()

F118AEF284 B AR IEIHRE M

HERER D ©

Note: The Group has initially applied IFRS 16 at 1 January 2019 using the modified
retrospective approach. Under this approach, the comparative information is
not restated. See note 2(e).

The notes on pages 118 to 284 form part of these financial

statements.
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BE-T-NF+-A=t+-ALEE
For the year ended 31 December 2019
(FRZEHERIN - UARETFITZ5)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

e —E-haE  ZFNE
Note 2019 2018
LiEs:
Note
F R F Profit for the year 205,987 61,895
FREMEEKES Other comprehensive income
for the year
HiEAsHoEEEn v EE ¢ Item that may be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss:
MEEHZR Exchange differences on translation 10 13,687 (23,733)
FREMEEKE Other comprehensive income
- fortheyear 13,587 (23,733)
FRAZHEKNEEEE Total comprehensive income
for the year 219,574 38,162
THIA LA Attributable to:
ZIN/NG] |4 Equity shareholders of the Company 144,783 (15,068)
IR Non-controlling interests 74,791 53,230
FARHEKRBRE Total comprehensive income
for the year 219,574 38,162
MisE . AREBR-ZT—HE— B —RFERKEBIBIE Note: The Group has initially applied IFRS 16 at 1 January 2019 using the modified
VR EF BB SRS ERFE 1658 c BIEZ retrospective approach. Under this approach, the comparative information is
V5 WESHILLRER o RHiEE2(e) not restated. See note 2(e).

F118BEEF284E MM F AARMIERE M The notes on pages 118 to 284 form part of these financial
HRE S o statements.
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Consolidated statement of financial position

HE_Z-NF+_A=1+—"HBILEFE
At 31 December 2019
(BREEHEAIN  UARBFITL25)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

s —E-NF —E-N\F
Note 2019 2018
s
Note
FRBEE Non-current assets
EE&E Fixed assets 13
— W% BE R — Property, plant and equipment 1,370,273 1,354,682
—BNHEERIA — Lease prepayments 215,958 190,468
RS AR A R s Interests in equity-accounted investees 15 78,019 78,457
HEfemErE Other financial assets 1,948 1,948
FIERIBE E Deferred tax assets 26(c) 26,094 27,872
AT Y [l K ER R TE Long-term tax recoverable 19 97,762 84,924
H3Emen & e Other non-current assets 8,430 15,666
1,798,484 1,754,017
MENERE Current assets
"E Inventories 16 934,682 847,131
EYEE Biological assets 17 169,544 129,115
FEWE 5 8RR Trade receivables 18 295,843 307,205
H fth B R IE SR TR 50E Other receivables and prepayments 19 479,282 456,849
ReERBESEZEM Cash and cash equivalents 20 370,102 408,721
2,249,453 2,149,021
nREEE Current liabilities
I E SRR Trade payables 21 557,080 493,192
Hth e (- 58 Other payables 22 470,094 432,564
aHEE Contract liabilities 10,435 8,052
B Provisions 23 - 1,099
FREE Interest-bearing borrowings 24 531,149 272,216
HEAE Lease Liabilities 25 6,340 -
FERFT1SEL Income tax payable 26(a) 19,417 4,526
FET AR Dividend payables 2,511 =
________________________________________________________________________________________ 1,597,026
RMWRERE WNetcurentassets .. 652427 | 937,372
Mizx : REBR-_ZE—hE— B —AEBKESEEIE Note: The Group has initially applied IFRS 16 at 1 January 2019 using the modified
VIR ER BRI SR EERF 165 c RIEZ T retrospective approach. Under this approach, the comparative information is
& WSS LLEER - RHtE2(e) o not restated. See note 2(e).

F118E R F284H MMz BRI Rz A A The notes on pages 118 to 284 form part of these financial

BXEB D ©

statements.
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Consolidated statement of financial position
HE_ZT-NFH+-A=+—HILFE

At 31 December 2019

(B BAIRIIN - AR T T 251)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

FitaE —E-NF —EN\F
Note 2019 2018
b
Note
EEABRTBEE Total assets less current liabilities 2,450,911 2,691,389
EREBERE Non-current liabilities
ATEEE Interest-bearing borrowings 24 351,473 863,043
HEBE Lease Liabilities 25 86,506 =
BELEHIEAE Deferred tax liabilities 26(c) 450 497
__________________________________________________________________________________________ 438429 | = 863540
EEFE Net assets 2,012,482 1,827,849
B #E Capital and reserves
f&Zs Share capital 27(c) 97,920 97,920
] Reserves 27(d) 920,724 895,654
REE & Retained profit 616,903 496,800
NN RRE(L RS 2 R B Total equity attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company 1,635,547 1,490,374
FEIERR R Non-controlling interests 376,935 337,475
R EE Total equity 2,012,482 1,827,849

KhHEFeN S _EF=A=-_+WTAHH Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on

ER TR o 24 March 2020.
= BXREH
Wei Anning Han Chia-Yin
e HiTEE
Chairman Executive director

Mizx . AXEBR-_ZT—HE— A —RBERKEIENE Note: The Group has initially applied IFRS 16 at 1 January 2019 using the modified

)R FE FA B B B A A 2RI B 1 65% o IRIBRLTT retrospective approach. Under this approach, the comparative information is

% WESHILLRER o RHTEE2(e) not restated. See note 2(e).

F118EEF284E M F AAM T M The notes on pages 118 to 284 form part of these financial
HRER D © statements.
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity
HE-ZT-NF+-_A=+—HIEFE
For the year ended 31 December 2019
(BREEHEAI - UARBFITLE5)
(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)
ROFRRER
Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
Bh RHRE EBEE AHER  GThRE  EXRE  gREA & AERER  EiE

Non-

Share  Share Redemption  Merger  Statutory Translation  Retained controlling Total
capital  premium reseve  resene  reseves  reseve  profits Total interests  equity
Mg M W M W MR

M ue) 260 ) 206 6 )

Note [note  (note2? (note27  (note27 (note2? [note27
e e ) ) ()

RE-NET-A=T-RNGH
(k)

o150 58400 (B36] 396064 92058  (75669) 496800 1490374 337478 1827849

Eghl Profitfor the year - - - - - - 13368 133683 72304 205987
EU Other compefiensiv incoe 10 - - - - - SO | 7 A
Fremasts  Tolomebeseromefrbeer - - - - - 0 IR W M8 219
HEREENROTIRS Equiy-setled shaesased payment
transactons - (46) 836 - - - - 30 - 30
HRERA Captal conrbuton from non<ontroling
Inferests - - - - - - - - (30 (350
FREERMENRE Dividends approved i fespect ofthe prious
year 270l - - - - - - - - (o) (340)
i i Statutoryresenves - - - - 1350 - (1350 - - -
RE-NT2A=T-RMGH Balance at 31 December 2019 97920 583,5% - 396064 105633 (164569 616903 1635547 376935 2012482
Misk : AEER =T —NF—A—BERKETEIE Note: The Group has initially applied IFRS 16 at 1 January 2019 using the modified
FR e PR B R B s 45 HE RSB 1658 © iRIERZ T retrospective approach. Under this approach, the comparative information is
% WERES AR o RHMtEE2(e) not restated. See note 2(e).

F118EEF 284NN T AATEREKH The notes on pages 118 to 284 form part of these financial

ARER S

statements.
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity
HE_Z-NFT-_A=+—HIFE

For the year ended 31 December 2019

(B 2EEBI - LARETFT2S))

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

RARREE
Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
kR
EffR
Br RRRE EERE SNBE iERE ERE 2B EEA o FEREE EeEE
Share-
based Non-
Share  Share Redemption  Merger Statutory Translation payment Retained controlling ~~~ Total

capital  premium reseve  reseve  reseves  resenve reseve  profits  Total inferests  equity
M M B ME M B

HEae) i) ) ) 2 2 i)

Mot~ [note [note27 (noted7 [note27 (note27 (noted7 [note2]
ae Wi W ) ) ()

e 24 Balance 4t 31 December 2017 990 581.4% (@36 306064 908 (147466 2547 19369 1541146 319420 1,860,566
SERERITRSENZENZE mpact onintlapplcaton f IFRS 15 - - - - - - SN 1 I X7 K ]
RB-N\E-A-RiRkes Adjusted balance t 1 January 2018 00 W5 G0 0 (47468 257 43665 1505440 0776 1813188
Proft for the year - - - - - - - BB 131% 48760 618%
(ther compreensive income 10 - - - - - (823 - - BNy A0 (BT
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - - - (B - 131% (5008 53230 3162
Equitysettied share-0ased payment transactions -1 - - - - M - - - -
Captal contribution from non-controling nterests - - - - - - - - = pLl 10
JBEERIENRS Dvidends approved nrespect ofthe previous
year 27l = = = = = = - - - B 3

NE-NEr-A=T-AiEs Balance &t 31 December 2018
() (Note] T 1 T - L6800 149037 34T 1807809

F118EEF284B NN BT EHREKH The notes on pages 118 to 284 form part of these financial

4RSS o statements.
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Consolidated cash flow statement

HE_Z-NF+_A=1+—"HBILEFE
For the year ended 31 December 2019
(BREEHEAI - UARBFITLE5)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

i —B-AE R
Note 2019 2018
B e
Note

HERY
BRELATER]
FLA TR IRHE -
— LS ARZ2R AR
1 VA &)
— M BUA
—HEBEEEBRFE
—EEEERE R (Bm)

Operating activities
Profit before taxation 249,120 86,543
Adjustments for:

— Share of losses/(gains) of equity-

accounted investees 607 (13,933)
— Interest income 5 (11,168) (6,866)
— Net loss on disposal of fixed assets B 8,923 1,693

— Impairment accrued/(reversed) on

fixed assets B 7,036 (2,997)
—HEHBAR — Loss/(Gain) on disposal of subsidiaries
iR, (eas) 5 343 (9,516)
—FERX — Interest expense 6(a) 45,860 35,407
—ITE R E — Depreciation and amortisation 6(c) 165,377 162,149
—FEHR — Write-down of inventories 16(b) 7,159 25,268
— BRI E MR — Reversal of write-down of inventories  16(b) (20,583) (18,483)
— W E ZRR (R RE — (Reversal) of impairment/Impairment
RIEEE loss on trade receivables 30(a) (2,368) 20,221
—[E N = FE — Net foreign exchange difference 9,789 (26,268)
EEETEHILERERE Operating cash flows before changes
in working capital 460,095 253,218
=& Ggm e (Increase)/Decrease in inventories (74,127) 32,615
VB EE N Increase in biological assets (44,131) (13,524)
ERAEEN Increase in contract liabilities 2,383 8,052
JEUE SRR EAb FEUFIEIE AN Increase in trade and other receivables (30,242) (4,001)
FERTE 5 BRI Bt FE TR IE Increase/(Decrease) in trade and other
I N . .. SO 86,021 | (341,634)
sk : AEER =T —NF—A—BERKETEIA Note: The Group has initially applied IFRS 16 at 1 January 2019 using the modified
)R FE A B B B 7 R BRI B 1 657 o IRIRFZTT retrospective approach. Under this approach, the comparative information is

% WSS LEE R - RMiTE2e) © not restated. See note 2(e).

F118HEF 284 E WM T AR Rz HH The notes on pages 118 to 284 form part of these financial

&R

statements.
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HmEBRERER
Consolidated cash flow statement

HE_Z-NFT-_A=+—HIFE
For the year ended 31 December 2019
(R ZEHERIN - UARETFIT25)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

k=g —E-NF —E)\F
Note 2019 2018
Pt s
Note
KESEEETS, (FTA)RE Cash generated from/(used in)
operations 399,999 (65,274)
B FER Income tax paid 26(a) (26,519) (21,945)
KESEBME PR BREF Net cash generated from/(used in)
-..-..-...-..-_______________________"_'??_r?fi_'fg_?f’fi_‘fi_t!‘?§ _____________ 373480 (87,219)
REZH Investing activities
B S Interest received 11,168 6,866
BEETEEEMNK Payment for purchases of fixed assets (119,478) (235,277)
HEBTEEEMSIE Proceeds from disposal of fixed assets 22,266 29,246
HERZABLBRAFFEHIE  Proceeds from disposal of equity-
accounted investees 11,232 2,059
RIER AR A AIRIRE Investment in equity-accounted
investees - (7,798)
?ﬁﬁéiﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁ fﬁ%é%ﬁ _Net cash used in investing activities (74,812) (204,904)
RMEEE Financing activities
ENHE 2 ELRLD Capital element of lease rentals paid (6,044) =
BTS2 B85 Interest element of lease rentals paid (3,964) =
& BB G Bas Proceeds from sale of repurchased
shares 237 —
[EAREIES) Interest paid (41,984) (35,182)
BfRE Dividends paid (32,430) (23,741)
FIGIRITE RIS IR Proceeds from new bank loans 731,541 1,105,376
ISR E SR AT 5RIE Proceeds from new loans from
government 20,165 62,000
MizE : REER-_Z—NF— A —BERAKEERE Note: The Group has initially applied IFRS 16 at 1 January 2019 using the modified
VIREFRRB IR EERFE165 - BIEZF retrospective approach. Under this approach, the comparative information is
5 WESS|LEER - RIE2e) not restated. See note 2(e).

F118HEF 284 HE MM T AR SRz HH The notes on pages 118 to 284 form part of these financial
RIS e statements.
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GERERER

Consolidated cash flow statement
BE_Z-AF+-_A=t—ALEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(BrRERAEN  LARBTFITZ7)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

BT —E-hEF —T—\F
Note 2019 2018
Bzt
Note
BEEE Repayment of borrowings (1,007,552) (940,622)
(XA F),/ 3 B M B A T 3EHE AE#E 25 Capital (payment) to/contributions from
HEHEARTE non-controlling equity owners of
subsidiaries (390) 240
BEER (FTR), 53 4EF%  Net cash (used in)/generated from
- financing activities (340,421) 168,071
RERRESEEWRFEE Net decrease in cash and cash
equivalents (41,753) (124,052)
RENZRERBELSEEY Cash and cash equivalents at the
beginning of the year 408,721 526,568
ERSENTE Effect of foreign exchange rate
changes 3,134 6,205
RERZRERBEEZEEY Cash and cash equivalents at the end
of the year 20 370,102 408,721
sk : AEER =T —NF—A—BERKETEIA Note: The Group has initially applied IFRS 16 at 1 January 2019 using the modified
)R FE A B B B 7 R BRI B 1 657 o IRIRFZTT retrospective approach. Under this approach, the comparative information is
% WSS LEE R - RMiTE2e) © not restated. See note 2(e).

F118HEF 284 E WM T AR Rz HH The notes on pages 118 to 284 form part of these financial
RIS e statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(BmHEEAN  UARBTTZS)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

— &R

KRG (EMBRAB(ARF DR
BRESRE N —FEIREG QA
E@EGERERD FNERN_TTLF
A+ N\BERSEREEMRLAZER
RERRE - ARAREKERE (A
THEEIAEE ] - ERIARBRIAE
EERDIENEZEAN  RBUAR
KEARNMTRABHNEIEREE -

ARABBRNR_ZTLE+AOBRE
BBMERZMARARIRAFMEE -

S A 10 52 ) i e

(a) HEpIEY

AR RRTIREE R G5 R
ZEg((EREtENERES])
B BRI F R R (LA fE
BREEREFTENZESRMN
P 5 118138 PR ) BRI B 75 i o 2
) (BB E 2R ) ~ (&
FRERrEAD (TRIFR &5 2RI ]) A
BE) UREBE (R BRG] HHK
BRERHE - 2V BHERTE
STCBEEBMARZMERRRES
ERAD ([ EFRA) BERE
BRE AEBRAZBEANES

BRI ZEIIAT ©

KRB (32M) A FE 2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

GENERAL INFORMATION

DaChan Food (Asia) Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 18 May 2007 as
an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated
and revised) of the Cayman lIslands. The Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group” and
individually as the “Group entity”) primarily is involved in
the manufacturing and trading of livestock feeds, poultry

and chilled meat and processed food.

The Company publicly offered shares on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on 4 October
2007.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(a) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRSs"”), which collective term includes
all applicable individual International Financial
Reporting Standards, International Accounting
Standards (“IASs”) and Interpretations issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB")
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. These financial statements
also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”). A summary of the significant
accounting policies adopted by the Group is set out

below.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(% 2EEBIN - UARBTTL5])

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

(a)

(b)

Statement of compliance (continued)

The IASB has issued certain new and revised IFRSs
that are first effective or available for early adoption
for the current accounting period of the Group and
the Company. Note 2(e) provides information on any
changes in accounting policies resulting from initial
application of these developments to the extent that
they are relevant to the Group for the current and
prior accounting periods reflected in these financial

statements.

Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2019 comprise the Company
and its subsidiaries and the Group's interest in

associates and joint ventures.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of
the financial statements is the historical cost except
that the following assets and liabilities are stated at
their fair value as explained in the accounting policies
set out below:

- derivative financial instruments are measured at

fair value.

ZZ— NEF R Annual Report 2019
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(% RHEIE - LA RETT25))

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

2 B

(c)

(a@)

KRB (32M) A FE 2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

ek 2518

AEESBERZMBHRERBEN
REERMREZ A REBANERR
BRREZREBEFBNER (TR
D8 - ZEaUBBRERAAR
K(278% )25 - BNEAR
AN B AR - KRR
geEBRET((ET]) - ZRH
FEARLME ([ E]) R
ZEMBARNNERE D RIS
ARERBAE - ARARFH
TEMBARMURTE - HHEE
REBAARKE 2R HBR
REAE  -BEBEAIN - FE
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5 FH A ) B

12 R BB B T R 5 YE R AR B B
BmRATEEBELHE - &5t
FRER UL FHIET - AEFAMERER
Y ESTBRREAMA2HRN
BE B RARXHEHE -
ERERIEB RN FAEE

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

(c)

(d)

Functional and presentation currency

Iltems included in the financial statements of each
entity in the Group are measured using the currency
that best reflects the economic substance of the
underlying events and circumstances relevant to
that entity (“functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in Renminbi
("RMB") (“presentation currency”), which is different
from the functional currency of the Company. The
Company's functional currency is United Stated
dollars (“USD"). The functional currency of those
subsidiaries in People’'s Republic of China (“PRC")
and Vietnam is RMB and Vietnamese Dong
respectively. As its principal subsidiaries are located
in PRC, the directors of the Company consider
that it is appropriate to present the consolidated
financial statements in RMB. All financial information
presented in RMB has been rounded to the nearest

thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with IFRSs requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect
the application of accounting policies and reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.

Actual results may differ from these estimates.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(% 2EEBIN - UARBTTL5])

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

(d)

(e)

Use of estimates and judgements (continued)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period
in which the estimates are revised and in any future
periods affected.

Judgements made by management in the application
of IFRSs that have significant effect on the financial
statements and major sources of estimation

uncertainty are disclosed in note 31.

Changes in accounting policies

The IASB has issued a new IFRS, IFRS 16, Leases,
and a number of amendments to IFRSs that are first
effective for the current accounting period of the
Group.

Except for IFRS 16, Leases, none of the
developments have had a material effect on how the
Group's results and financial position for the current
or prior periods have been prepared or presented.
The Group has not applied any new standard or
interpretation that is not yet effective for the current
accounting period.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(% RHEIE - LA RETT25))

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

2

KRB (32M) A FE 2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

(e)

Changes in accounting policies (continued)

IFRS 16, Leases

IFRS 16 replaces IAS 17, Leases, and the related
interpretations, |IFRIC 4, Determining whether an
arrangement contains a lease, SIC 15, Operating
leases — incentives, and SIC 27, Evaluating the
substance of transactions involving the legal form of
a lease. It introduces a single accounting model for
lessees, which requires a lessee to recognise a right-
of-use asset and a lease liability for all leases, except
for leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less
(“short-term leases”) and leases of low-value assets.
The lessor accounting requirements are brought
forward from IAS 17 substantially unchanged.

IFRS 16 also introduces additional qualitative and
quantitative disclosure requirements which aim to
enable users of the financial statements to assess
the effect that leases have on the financial position,

financial performance and cash flows of an entity.

The Group has initially applied IFRS 16 as from 1
January 2019. The Group has elected to use the
modified retrospective approach and has therefore
recognised the cumulative effect of initial application
as an adjustment to the opening balance of right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities at 1 January 2019.
Comparative information has not been restated and

continues to be reported under IAS 17.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(% 2EEBIN - UARBTTL5])

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

(e)

Changes in accounting policies (continued)

IFRS 16, Leases (continued)

Further details of the nature and effect of the changes

to previous accounting policies and the transition

options applied are set out below:

a.

New definition of a lease

The change in the definition of a lease mainly
IFRS 16

defines a lease on the basis of whether a

relates to the concept of control.

customer controls the use of an identified asset
for a period of time, which may be determined
by a defined amount of use. Control is conveyed
where the customer has both the right to direct
the use of the identified asset and to obtain
substantially all of the economic benefits from
that use.

The Group applies the new definition of a lease
in IFRS 16 only to contracts that were entered
into or changed on or after 1 January 2019.
For contracts entered into before 1 January
2019, the Group has used the transitional
practical expedient to grandfather the previous
assessment of which existing arrangements are
or contain leases. Accordingly, contracts that
were previously assessed as leases under IAS
17 continue to be accounted for as leases under
IFRS 16 and contracts previously assessed as
non-lease service arrangements continue to be

accounted for as executory contracts.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(% RHEIE - LA RETT25))

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)
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KRB (32M) A FE 2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

(e)

Changes in accounting policies (continued)

IFRS 16, Leases (continued)

Lessee accounting and transitional impact

IFRS 16 eliminates the requirement for a
lessee to classify leases as either operating
leases or finance leases, as was previously
required by IAS 17. Instead, the Group is
required to capitalise all leases when it is the
lessee, including leases previously classified
as operating leases under IAS 17, other than
those short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets which are exempt. As far as the Group
is concerned, these newly capitalised leases
are primarily in relation to property, plant and
equipment as disclosed in note 28(b). For an
explanation of how the Group applies lessee

accounting, see note 3(c)(i).

At the date of transition to IFRS 16 (i.e. 1
January 2019), the Group determined the length
of the remaining lease terms and measured
the lease liabilities for the leases previously
classified as operating leases at the present
value of the remaining lease payments,
discounted using the relevant incremental
borrowing rates at 1 January 2019. The
weighted average of the incremental borrowing
rates used for determination of the present
value of the remaining lease payments was
4.90%.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(% 2EEBIN - UARBTTL5])

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

(e) Changes in accounting policies (continued)

IFRS 16, Leases (continued)

b. Lessee accounting and transitional impact

(continued)

To ease the transition to IFRS 16, the Group

applied the following recognition exemption

and practical expedients at the date of initial

application of IFRS 16:

(ii)

the Group elected not to apply the
requirements of IFRS 16 in respect of
the recognition of lease liabilities and
right-of-use assets to leases for which
the remaining lease term ends within 12
months from the date of initial application
of IFRS 16, i.e. where the lease term ends

on or before 31 December 2019;

when measuring the lease liabilities at the
date of initial application of IFRS 16, the
Group applied a single discount rate to a
portfolio of leases with reasonably similar
characteristics (such as leases with a
similar remaining lease term for a similar
class of underlying asset in a similar

economic environment); and
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KRB (32M) A FE 2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

(e)

Changes in accounting policies (continued)

IFRS 16, Leases (continued)

b. Lessee accounting and transitional impact

(continued)

(iii)

when measuring the right-of-use assets
at the date of initial application of IFRS
16, the Group relied on the previous
assessment for onerous contract
provisions as at 31 December 2018 as an
alternative to performing an impairment

review.

The following table reconciles the operating

lease commitments as disclosed in note 28(b)

as at 31 December 2018 to the opening balance

for lease liabilities recognised as at 1 January

2019:
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

2 B (E) 2 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

(e)  EwTBUREE) (4F) (¢) Changes in accounting policies (continued)
[ B A T R A R 5 16 9 [T IFRS 16, Leases (continued)
(%)
b. AR AGFREE DR E b. Lessee accounting and transitional impact
! (%) (continued)
—T—NF
—HA—H
1 January
2019
AREFIT
RMB'000
R-E— ) \F+-_A=+—HHK Operating lease commitments
TR E AR at 31 December 2018 95,104
W BREEREE MR EIE Less: commitments relating to leases
exempt from capitalisation:
—FSBBEPR T —NFE+=-A=1+—H8 -short-term leases and other leases with
sk BfEm 2 RS R AMEE remaining lease term ending on or
before 31 December 2019 2,611
—KEBEEEHE — leases of low-value assets 13
e AEERESERTHGTEEE  Add: lease payments for the additional
RN NG 2 HE R periods where the Group considers it
reasonably certain that it will exercise
the extension options 1,679
94,159
W RRF B R BRE Less: total future interest expenses 43,073
FISHHENRAIRE - FA-ZZ—NF  Present value of remaining lease payments,
— A — BRI S AR RITIE discounted using the incremental
borrowing rate at 1 January 2019 51,086
m:R=E—N\E+=A=+—H Add: finance lease liabilities recognised
BROMERERE as at 31 December 2018 =
R-E— jlﬁ A—BfEREN Total lease liabilities recognised at
HERERSE 1 January 2019 51,086
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KRB (32M) A FE 2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

(e)

Changes in accounting policies (continued)

IFRS 16, Leases (continued)

Lessee accounting and transitional impact

(continued)

The right-of-use assets in relation to leases
previously classified as operating leases have
been recognised at an amount equal to the
amount recognised for the remaining lease
liabilities, adjusted by the amount of any prepaid
or accrued lease payments relating to that lease
recognised in the statement of financial position
at 31 December 2018.

So far as the impact of the adoption of IFRS
16 on leases previously classified as finance
leases is concerned, the Group is not required
to make any adjustments at the date of initial
application of IFRS 16, other than changing the
captions for the balances. Accordingly, instead
of “obligations under finance leases”, these
amounts are included within “lease liabilities”,
and the depreciated carrying amount of the
corresponding leased assets is identified as
right-of-use assets. There is no impact on the

opening balance of equity.
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2 B (E) 2 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

(e)  ErEhBsRAE B (4]) (¢) Changes in accounting policies (continued)
[ B TR A R 16998 R IFRS 16, Leases (continued)
(%)

ARAH G R HR 7 15 BOm

TER B (4)

TR ER AN B R B 75
22 RI| 56 1 655 1 7 5 [ 74
FAMBRRARNTE

b. Lessee accounting and transitional impact

(continued)

The following table summarises the impacts
of the adoption of IFRS 16 on the Group's

consolidated statement of financial position:

RZE-N\EF RZE-NE
+=A=1+-H RENE —A-Bz
R BHEAL REfE
Carrying  Capitalisation Carrying
amount at of operating amount at

31 December lease 1 January
2018 contracts 2019

ARBTR  ARETR  ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ERQERIHREERE16HTE
WaRSHMBRRRER

FRBEERE

E 5 REAMERNR
HEAB(RE)
RERE
REEEFE
BEERRDER
BERRGERD)
FRBRELE
KERE

Line items in the consolidated
statement of financial position
impacted by the adoption of IFRS 16:

Fixed assets 1,545,150 51,086 1,596,236
Total non-current assets 1,754,017 51,086 1,805,103
Trade and other payables 925,756 - 925,756
Lease liabilities (current) - 3,162 3,162
Current liabilities 1,211,649 3,162 1,214,811
Net current assets 937,372 (3,162) 934,210
Total assets less current liabilities 2,691,389 47,924 2,739,313
Lease liabilities (non-current) - 47,924 47,924
Total non-current liabilities 863,540 47,924 911,464
Net assets 1,827,849 - 1,827,849
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KRB (32M) A FE 2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

(e)

Changes in accounting policies (continued)

IFRS 16, Leases (continued)

Impact on the financial result, segment results and

cash flows of the Group

After the initial recognition of right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities as at 1 January
2019, the Group as a lessee is required to
recognise interest expense accrued on the
outstanding balance of the lease liability, and
the depreciation of the right-of-use asset,
instead of the previous policy of recognising
rental expenses incurred under operating leases
on a straight-line basis over the lease term. This
results in a positive impact on the reported profit
from operations in the Group’s consolidated
statement of profit or loss, as compared to the
results if IAS 17 had been applied during the

year.

In the cash flow statement, the Group as a
lessee is required to split rentals paid under
capitalised leases into their capital element
and interest element (see note 20(b)). These
elements are classified as financing cash
outflows, similar to how leases previously
classified as finance leases under IAS 17 were
treated, rather than as operating cash outflows,
as was the case for operating leases under IAS
17. Although total cash flows are unaffected,
the adoption of IFRS 16 therefore results in a
significant change in presentation of cash flows

within the cash flow statement (see note 20(c)).
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2 B (E) 2 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

(e)  EwTBUREE) (4F) (¢) Changes in accounting policies (continued)

1 B B e A R A 1 6 9 [ B
(%)

IFRS 16, Leases (continued)
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Impact on the financial result, segment results and

cash flows of the Group (continued)

The following tables give an indication of the
estimated impact of the adoption of IFRS
16 on the Group's financial result, segment
results and cash flows for the year ended 31
December 2019, by adjusting the amounts
reported under IFRS 16 in these consolidated
financial statements to compute estimates of
the hypothetical amounts that would have been
recognised under IAS 17 if this superseded
standard had continued to apply in 2019
instead of IFRS 16, and by comparing these
hypothetical amounts for 2019 with the actual
2018 corresponding amounts which were
prepared under IAS 17.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

(e) Changes in accounting policies (continued)

IFRS 16, Leases (continued)

@ Impact on the financial result, segment results and

cash flows of the Group (continued)

5 i St
2019 2018
k- BkEEn

BEER R REEMME  StENENE REERE: EREERETE

BEREEE FEEEE  BEOCREN  EUETRELD EITHHE

FI0U2ANEE  MERASAR  fEEEME) —3-nEhReE ARG

(A) (B (c) (D:=ABC)  FEREEMR

Deduct: Estimated

amounts related to Compared

Amounts ~ Add back:IFRS 16 operating leases Hypothetical to amounts

reported  depreciationand  asifunderlAS 17 amountsfor2019  reported for 2018

under IFRS 16 interest expense (note 1) asifunder AS 17 under [AS 17

(A (B (C) (D=A+BC)

ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETTL

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB1000
REMERTRREEAE68  Financialresult for year ended
YENEE TNE 31 December 2019 impacted
TZAZt-BLEEHHEE by theadopton of IFRS 16:

mE%H Profit rom operations 295,587 7489 (10,008) 293,068 108017

AER Finance costs (45,860) 3,964 - (41,896) (3,407)

BATHE Profthefore tavaton 43120 11453 (10,008) 250565 8,543

EEHE Profit for the year 205,987 11453 (10,008) 207432 61,89

KRB (32M) A FE 2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited
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2 B (E) 2 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

(e)  EwTBUREE) (4F) (¢) Changes in accounting policies (continued)
[ B TR A R 16998 R IFRS 16, Leases (continued)
(#8)
c.  HIARGEEMH S - I c.  Impact on the financial result, segment results and
S B 4 R I R () cash flows of the Group (continued)
B0 N5
2019 2018
SREHSREN
REER  freE REORE EREaRe:E

PHREEN  EREHEARVE RaaRe: FTEHL
FIE2RN2E (k2 EEEEELY BT NF

(A B ZE-nFHESE HEREHLR
Estimated
amounts related
to operating Compared
Amounts |eases as Hypothetical toamounts
reported if under [AS 17 amounts for 2019 reported for 2018
under IFRS 16 (notes1&2) asifunderAS 17 under [AS 17
(A ]
NEETL NERTT ARETR NEETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
RGBS Line items in the consolidated
FIREYENEE-E-NE cash flow statement for year ended 31
tZR=t-ALEEY December 2019 impacted by the adoption
BRREERERER of IFRS 16:
HETEHNE/ (FR)RE Cash generated from/lused in] operafions 399,999 10,008) 369,991 (65.274)
HEEBAE/ (AR RE Net cash generated from)lusedin] operating
activities 373480 (10,008) 363472 (87.219)
Bfifie &4gH Captal lement oflease rentals paid (6,044) 6,044 - =
BfifiecHEdn Interest element o lease rentals aid 3964) 3,964 - -
BEED(R)/HEReRE Net cash (used in)generated from financing
activities (340.421) 10,008 (330,413) 168,071
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KRB (32M) A FE 2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

(e)

Changes in accounting policies (continued)

IFRS 16, Leases (continued)

@ Impact on the financial result, segment results and

cash flows of the Group (continued)

Note 1:

Note 2:

The "estimated amounts related to operating
leases” is an estimate of the amounts of the cash
flows in 2019 that relate to leases which would have
been classified as operating leases, if IAS 17 had
still applied in 2019. This estimate assumes that
there were no differences between rentals and cash
flows and that all of the new leases entered into in
2019 would have been classified as operating leases
under IAS 17, if IAS 17 had still applied in 2019. Any
potential net tax effect is ignored.

In this impact table these cash outflows are
reclassified from financing to operating in order
to compute hypothetical amounts of net cash
generated from operating activities and net cash used
in financing activities as if IAS 17 still applied.
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2 B (E) 2 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

(e)  EwTBUREE) (4F) (¢) Changes in accounting policies (continued)

1 B B e A R A 1 6 9 [ B
(%)

IFRS 16, Leases (continued)
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BETBOR B S E AR E
1758 N B | 5T IR R EUE
[ o ARIR BRI A R 22 R
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REEEHER B ARME
AEgEERE - M T 28
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PR B 755 o 5 2E RN SE 1657 ¥
ANE BT BRI HRE
WEEARTE

Lessor accounting

The accounting policies applicable to the Group
as a lessor remain substantially unchanged
from those under IAS 17. Under IFRS 16, when
the Group acts as an intermediate lessor in a
sublease arrangement, the Group is required to
classify the sublease as a finance lease or an
operating lease by reference to the right-of-use
asset arising from the head lease, instead of by
reference to the underlying asset. The adoption
of IFRS 16 does not have a significant impact on

the Group's financial statements in this regard.
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)
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KRB (32M) A FE 2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a)

Basis of consolidation

@

Business combinations

The Group accounts for business combinations
using the acquisition method when control is
transferred to the Group (see note 3(a)(ii)). The
consideration transferred in the acquisition is
generally measured at fair value, as are the
identifiable net assets acquired. Any goodwill
that arises is tested annually for impairment.
Any gain on a bargain purchase is recognised
in income statement immediately. Transaction
costs are expensed as incurred, except if related
to the issue of debt or equity securities.

The consideration transferred does not include
amounts related to the settlement of pre-
existing relationships. Such amounts are

generally recognised in income statement.

Any contingent consideration payable is
measured at fair value at the acquisition date.
If the contingent consideration is classified as
equity, then it is not remeasured and settlement
is accounted for within equity. Otherwise,
subsequent changes in the fair value of the
contingent consideration are recognised in

income statement.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(% 2EEBIN - UARBTTL5])

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(a) Basis of consolidation (continued)

@)

(ii)

Business combinations (continued)

If share-based payment awards (replacement
awards) are required to be exchanged for
awards held by the acquiree’'s employees
(acquiree’s awards), then all or a portion of the
amount of the acquirer’s replacement awards
is included in measuring the consideration
transferred in the business combination. This
determination is based on the market-based
measure of the replacement awards compared
with the market-based measure of the
acquiree’s awards and the extent to which the
replacement awards relate to pre-combination

service.

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the
Group. The Group controls an entity when it is
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity. When assessing whether the
Group has power, only substantive rights (held

by the Group and other parties) are considered.
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3 EEGHEOR () 3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
(a) HRAHEHE () (a) Basis of consolidation (continued)

(i) BB FZ R A ()

(ii)  Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (continued)
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An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated
into the consolidated financial statements from
the date that control commences until the
date that control ceases. Intra-Group balances,
transactions and cash flows and any unrealised
profits arising from intra-Group transactions are
eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated
financial statements. Unrealised losses resulting
from intra-Group transactions are eliminated
in the same way as unrealised gains but only
to the extent that there is no evidence of

impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity
in a subsidiary not attributable directly or
indirectly to the Company, and in respect of
which the Group has not agreed any additional
terms with the holders of those interests which
would result in the Group as a whole having
a contractual obligation in respect of those
interests that meets the definition of a financial
liability. For each business combination, the
Group can elect to measure any non-controlling
interests either at fair value or at the non-
controlling interests’ proportionate share of the

subsidiary’s net identifiable assets.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(% 2EEBIN - UARBTTL5])

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

(ii)  Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (continued)

Non-controlling interests are presented
in the consolidated statement of financial
position within equity, separately from equity
attributable to the equity shareholders of the
Company. Non-controlling interests in the
results of the Group are presented on the face
of the consolidated income statement and
the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income as an allocation of the total profit or
loss and total comprehensive income for the
year between non-controlling interests and the
equity shareholders of the Company. Loans
from holders of non-controlling interests and
other contractual obligations towards these
holders are presented as financial liabilities in
the consolidated statement of financial position
in accordance with notes 3(k) or (I) depending

on the nature of the liability.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary
that do not result in a loss of control are
accounted for as equity transactions, whereby
adjustments are made to the amounts of
controlling and non-controlling interests within
consolidated equity to reflect the change in
relative interests, but no adjustments are made

to goodwill and no gain or loss is recognised.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(a) Basis of consolidation (continued)

(ii)

(iif)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary,
it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire
interest in that subsidiary, with a resulting gain
or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any
interest retained in that former subsidiary at the
date when control is lost is recognised at fair
value and this amount is regarded as the fair
value on initial recognition of a financial asset
(see note 3(a) (iv)) or, when appropriate, the
cost on initial recognition of an investment in an

associate or joint venture (see note 3(a) (iii).

In the Company's statement of financial
position, an investment in a subsidiary is stated
at cost less impairment losses (see note 3(e)
(i), unless the investment is classified as held
for sale (or included in a disposal Group that is

classified as held for sale).

Associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group
or Company has significant influence, but not
control or joint control, over its management,
including participation in the financial and
operating policy decisions.
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3 FEGHEOR () 3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
(a) HRAHEEHE () (a) Basis of consolidation (continued)
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(iii)  Associates and joint ventures (continued)

A joint venture is an arrangement whereby
the Group or Company and other parties
contractually agree to share control of the
arrangement, and have rights to the net assets
of the arrangement.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture
is accounted for in the consolidated financial
statements under the equity method, unless
it is classified as held for sale (or included in
a disposal Group that is classified as held for
sale). Under the equity method, the investment
is initially recorded at cost, adjusted for any
excess of the Group’s share of the acquisition-
date fair values of the investee's identifiable net
assets over the cost of the investment (if any).
Thereafter, the investment is adjusted for the
post acquisition change in the Group's share of
the investee’s net assets and any impairment
loss relating to the investment (see notes 3(e)
(ii)). Any acquisition-date excess over cost, the
Group’s share of the post-acquisition, post-tax
results of the investees and any impairment
losses for the year are recognised in the
consolidated income statement, whereas the
Group’s share of the post-acquisition post-tax
items of the investees’ other comprehensive
income is recognised in the consolidated

statement of comprehensive income.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(a)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

(iii)  Associates and joint ventures (continued)

When the Group's share of losses exceeds its
interest in the associate or the joint venture, the
Group's interest is reduced to nil and recognition
of further losses is discontinued except to
the extent that the Group has incurred legal
or constructive obligations or made payments
on behalf of the investee. For this purpose,
the Group's interest is the carrying amount
of the investment under the equity method
together with the Group’s long-term interests
that in substance form part of the Group's net

investment in the associate or the joint venture.

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from
transactions between the Group and its
associates and joint venture are eliminated
to the extent of the Group's interest in the
investee, except where unrealised losses
provide evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred, in which case they are recognised

immediately in profit or loss.

If an investment in an associate becomes an
investment in a joint venture or vice versa,
retained interest is not remeasured. Instead, the
investment continues to be accounted for under

the equity method.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(% 2EEBIN - UARBTTL5])

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(a) Basis of consolidation (continued)

(iii)  Associates and joint ventures (continued)

i)

In all other cases, when the Group ceases to
have significant influence over an associate or
joint control over a joint venture, it is accounted
for as a disposal of the entire interest in that
investee, with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. Any interest
retained in that former investee at the date
when significant influence or joint control is lost
is recognised at fair value and this amount is
regarded as the fair value on initial recognition

of a financial asset (see note 3(a)(iv)).

In the Company's statement of financial
position, investments in associates and joint
venture are stated at cost less impairment
losses (see note 3(e)(ii)), unless classified as
held for sale (or included in a disposal Group

that is classified as held for sale).

Other investments in equity securities

The Group's and the Company’s policies for

investments in equity securities, other than

investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint

ventures, are as follows:
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3

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(a)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

(iv)  Other investments in equity securities (continued)

Investments in equity securities are recognised
on the date the Group commits to purchase the
investment. The investments are initially stated
at fair value plus directly attributable transaction
costs, except for those investments measured
at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL) for
which transaction costs are recognised directly
in profit or loss. For an explanation of how
the Group determines fair value of financial
instruments, see note 30(g). These investments
are subsequently accounted for as follows,

depending on their classification.
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3 FEGHEOR () 3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
(a) HRAHEEHE () (a) Basis of consolidation (continued)

Gv) RSB FHI RN ()

(iv)  Other investments in equity securities (continued)
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Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as
FVPL unless the equity investment is not held
for trading purposes and on initial recognition of
the investment the Group makes an irrevocable
election to designate the investment at FVOCI
(non-recycling) such that subsequent changes in
fair value are recognised in other comprehensive
income. Such elections are made on an
instrument-by-instrument basis, but may only
be made if the investment meets the definition
of equity from the issuer’'s perspective.
Where such an election is made, the amount
accumulated in other comprehensive income
remains in the fair value reserve (non-recycling)
until the investment is disposed of. At the time
of disposal, the amount accumulated in the
fair value reserve (non-recycling) is transferred
to retained earnings. It is not recycled through
profit or loss. Dividends from an investment
in equity securities, irrespective of whether
classified as at FVPL or FVOCI, are recognised
in profit or loss as other income.
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3 FEFFEUR () 3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
(b) Wk~ B Kk (b) Property, plant and equipment
ME - BE RFEN THIEE & The following items of property, plant and equipment
AR A RET T & R REHE are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
EEEZ5] (RHEE3E)i) ° impairment losses (see note 3(e)(ii)):

- JEMEiEmaEmiEA ARE
BEREEMEMELNER
BEE &

-  BEXKREER - BEHEE -
MRRARRE KR R EE A HI 2
R E (REE3(C) °

right-of-use assets arising from leases over
freehold or leasehold properties where the
Group is not the registered owner of the
property interest; and

items of plant and equipment, including right-
of-use assets arising from leases of underlying
plant and equipment (see note 3(c)).

KABEKREEERGEEEZR Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable
X o BREERABEAUATE to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-
8 : constructed assets includes the following:

—  BRERAREESIRA —  the cost of materials and direct labour;

-  BEEEZEEREERTE -
RZEH A E R

- EXRERREIMBEENL -
B - AEHRERE
TR B A RIRTETR B ATt /R
FEKA + RERMEEEK
A (RLHFE3(u))

146 | xm&® (M) B2 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

any other costs directly attributable to bringing
the assets to a working condition for their
intended use;

when the Group has an obligation to remove
the asset or restore the site, an estimate of the
costs of dismantling and removing the items
and restoring the site on which they are located;

and capitalised borrowing costs (see note 3(u)).
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(% 2EEBIN - UARBTTL5])

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(b)

- ME LA RfEREERRAFE

— Leasehold land is depreciated over the unexpired term of lease.

- BT

— Buildings

- HERT

- Leasehold building
N

- Plant and machinery
Bt~ KB RRE

— Furniture, fittings and equipment

B
= Motor vehicles
— HinFREEE

— Other right of use assets

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property,
plant and equipment (calculated as the difference
between the net proceeds from disposal and the
carrying amount of the item) is recognised in profit

and loss.

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it is
probable that the future economic benefits associated
with the expenditure will flow to the Group.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of
items of property, plant and equipment, less their
estimated residual values, if any, using the straight-
line method over their estimated useful lives as

follows:

2-25%F
2-25 years
1-154F
1-15 years
10-124F
10-12 years
5-64F

5-6 years
4-5%

4-5 years
1-3%F

1-3 years
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(b)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, the cost of the
item is allocated on a reasonable basis between the
parts and each part is depreciated separately. Both
the useful life of an asset and its residual value, if any,

are reviewed annually.

Construction in progress represents office buildings,
various infrastructure projects under construction and
equipment pending installation, and is measured at
cost less impairment losses (see note 3(e)(ii)). Cost
comprises direct costs of construction and the initial
estimate, where relevant, of the costs of dismantling
and removing the item and restoring the site on
which it is located during the periods of construction
and installation. Capitalisation of these costs ceases
and the construction in progress is transferred to
fixed assets when the asset is substantially ready for
its intended use, notwithstanding any delays in the
issue of the relevant commissioning certificates by

the relevant authorities.

No depreciation is provided in respect of construction
in progress until it is completed and ready for its

intended use.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(c)

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses
whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. A
contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration. Control
is conveyed where the customer has both the right
to direct the use of the identified asset and to obtain
substantially all of the economic benefits from that
use.

(i)  Asalessee

(A) Policy applicable from 1 January 2019

Where the contract contains lease
components and non-lease components,
the Group has elected not to separate
non-lease components and accounts for
each lease component and any associated
non-lease components as a single lease
component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the
Group recognises a right-of-use asset
and a lease liability, except for short-
term leases that have a lease term of 12
months or less and leases of low-value
assets which, for the Group are primarily
office furniture. When the Group enters
into a lease in respect of a low-value asset,
the Group decides whether to capitalise
the lease on a lease-by-lease basis. The
lease payments associated with those
leases which are not capitalised are
recognised as an expense on a systematic
basis over the lease term.
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3

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(c)

Leased assets (continued)

)

As a lessee (continued)

(A)

Policy applicable from 1 January 2019

(continued)

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease
liability is initially recognised at the present
value of the lease payments payable over
the lease term, discounted using the
interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that
rate cannot be readily determined, using
a relevant incremental borrowing rate.
After initial recognition, the lease liability is
measured at amortised cost and interest
expense is calculated using the effective
interest method. Variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index or rate are
not included in the measurement of the
lease liability and hence are charged to
profit or loss in the accounting period in

which they are incurred.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(% 2EEBIN - UARBTTL5])

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(c) Leased assets (continued)

(i)  As alessee (continued)

(A)

Policy applicable from 1 January 2019

(continued)

The right-of-use asset recognised when
a lease is capitalised is initially measured
at cost, which comprises the initial
amount of the lease liability plus any
lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, and any initial direct
costs incurred. Where applicable, the cost
of the right-of-use assets also includes an
estimate of costs to dismantle and remove
the underlying asset or to restore the
underlying asset or the site on which it is
located, discounted to their present value,
less any lease incentives received. The
right-of-use asset is subsequently stated
at cost less accumulated depreciation and

impairment losses (see notes 3(b)).
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3

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(c)

Leased assets (continued)

)

As a lessee (continued)

(A)

Policy applicable from 1 January 2019

(continued)

The lease liability is remeasured when
there is a change in future lease payments
arising from a change in an index or
rate, or there is a change in the Group's
estimate of the amount expected to be
payable under a residual value guarantee,
or there is a change arising from the
reassessment of whether the Group
will be reasonably certain to exercise a
purchase, extension or termination option.
When the lease liability is remeasured in
this way, a corresponding adjustment is
made to the carrying amount of the right-
of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or
loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-

use asset has been reduced to zero.

The Group presents right-of-use assets
that do not meet the definition of
investment property in “Fixed assets” and
presents lease liabilities separately in the
statement of financial position.
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(c) Leased assets (continued)

(i)  As alessee (continued)

(B)

Policy applicable prior to 1 January 2019

In the comparative period, as a lessee the
Group classified leases as finance leases
if the leases transferred substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership to
the Group. Leases which did not transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership to the Group were classified as

operating leases.

Where the Group acquired the use of
assets under finance leases, the amounts
representing the fair value of the leased
asset, or, if lower, the present value of
the minimum lease payments, of such
assets were recognised as property, plant
and equipment and the corresponding
liabilities, net of finance charges, were
recorded as obligations under finance
leases. Depreciation was provided at rates
which wrote off the cost or valuation of
the assets over the term of the relevant
lease or, where it was likely the Group

would obtain ownership of the asset,
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3

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(c)

Leased assets (continued)

)

As a lessee (continued)

B)

Policy applicable prior to 1 January 2019

(continued)

the life of the asset, as set out in note
2(b). Impairment losses were accounted
for in accordance with the accounting
policy as set out in note 2(e). Finance
charges implicit in the lease payments
were charged to profit or loss over the
period of the leases so as to produce an
approximately constant periodic rate of
charge on the remaining balance of the
obligations for each accounting period.
Contingent rentals were charged to profit
or loss in the accounting period in which

they were incurred.

Where the Group had the use of assets
held under operating leases, payments
made under the leases were charged to
profit or loss in equal instalments over the
accounting periods covered by the lease
term, except where an alternative basis
was more representative of the pattern
of benefits to be derived from the leased
asset. Lease incentives received were
recognised in profit or loss as an integral
part of the aggregate net lease payments
made. Contingent rentals were charged
to profit or loss in the accounting period in

which they were incurred.



3 EREEHBOR ()

(c) HIEERE @)

(ii)

1E75 AN

HAKREESHEA - AR
HERIFEESHERR
BEREIKLEHE - WiHE
BEHBEEMARENTZ
BB E\ B e [0 3 = A
A RIEESBERREMR
g B HESERKEE
HE -

e e SHERIFHER
% v $%?ﬂﬁf’§$ﬁ%fﬁ
BEERSNRESRES
D o RERERTS %ﬁiﬂﬁ()\
IR EES(r) (V) FERR. ©

HJ

AR AT THEA - 2
HETSETHEELNE
FREEE  HBRMEES
FELEHE - MERETRE
HATA & i AN 5 [ R AR Y A
o)) it Eh e - RIZAREE
DELOTHERKEHE -

BA RS R BT RE

Notes to the Financial Statements
(% 2EEBIN - UARBTTL5])

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(c) Leased assets (continued)

(ii)

As a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines
at lease inception whether each lease is a
finance lease or an operating lease. A lease
is classified as a finance lease if it transfers
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental
to the ownership of an underlying assets to
the lessee. If this is not the case, the lease is

classified as an operating lease.

When a contract contains lease and non-
lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each component
on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.
The rental income from operating leases is

recognised in accordance with note 3(r)(iv).

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, the
sub-leases are classified as a finance lease or as
an operating lease with reference to the right-
of-use asset arising from the head lease. If the
head lease is a short-term lease to which the
Group applies the exemption described in note
3(c)(i), then the Group classifies the sub-lease as

an operating lease.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(d) Lease prepayments

Lease prepayments represent the purchase costs
of land use rights and are amortised on a straight-
line basis over the period of land use rights. Land
use rights are carried at cost less accumulated

amortisation and impairment losses (see note 3(e)(ii).
(e) Credit losses and impairment of assets

(i)  Credit losses from trade and other receivables

The Group recognises a loss allowance for
expected credit losses (ECLs) on trade and
other receivables. Equity securities measured at
FVPL are not subject to the ECL assessment.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of
credit losses. Credit losses are measured as
the present value of all expected cash shortfalls
(i.e. the difference between the cash flows due
to the Group in accordance with the contract
and the cash flows that the Group expects to

receive).
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(e) Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

©)

Credit losses from trade and other receivables

(continued)

Measurement of ECLs (continued)

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted
using the following discount rates where the

effect of discounting is material:

- trade and other receivables and contract
assets: effective interest rate determined
at initial recognition or an approximation

thereof;

- variable-rate financial assets: current

effective interest rate;

- discount rate used in the measurement of

the lease receivable;

The maximum period considered when
estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual
period over which the Group is exposed to
credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into
account reasonable and supportable information
that is available without undue cost or effort.
This includes information about past events,
current conditions and forecasts of future

economic conditions.
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(continued)

(e) Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

@

Credit losses from trade and other receivables

(continued)

Measurement of ECLs (continued)

ECLs are measured on either of the following

bases:

- 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from possible default
events within the 12 months after the

BB A E M B reporting date; and
EiE: &

— EEAGFEHEHSE - lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are
BE18 Bt EH expected to result from all possible default
REBEEEEER events over the expected lives of the
K18 B R EFE S items to which the ECL model applies.
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Loss allowances for trade and other receivables
is always measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs. ECLs on these financial assets
are estimated using a provision matrix based
on the Group's historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors and an assessment of both the current
and forecast general economic conditions at the

reporting date.
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(e) Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

©)

Credit losses from trade and other receivables

(continued)

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a
financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of default occurring on the financial
instrument assessed at the reporting date with
that assessed at the date of initial recognition. In
making this reassessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost

or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit
risk has increased significantly since initial

recognition:

- significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

- it becoming probable that the debtor
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; and

- significant changes in the technological,

market, economic or legal environment

that have an adverse effect on the debtor.

ZZ— NEF R Annual Report 2019

159



160

PRk MY

Notes to the Financial Statements
(% RHEIE - LA RETT25))

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

3 EEEEHBOR () 3

(o)  fr B R B ¥ A VAL ()

(i) A I R
WS IRHI 1 Bl 18 ()

BB S 1 (480

BRESBRTANLE 8
R EEIR N h IR
EELET - @R TARE

HREERREE W8
HRE R EERBRFR) &
8o

BHEEEEESEEEBR
EHETE L‘A&B%Q%MAEE
REMHEITAEERBRK
Moﬁ%ﬁ%@%%%%&
&g EE ¢ﬁm%ﬁ
BN ESEE - AEH
%ﬂlﬂ%ﬂﬁ% %%E
- 2RARERERYE
FREEEETHAERE

KRB (32M) A FE 2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(e) Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

@

Credit losses from trade and other receivables

(continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (continued)

Depending on the nature of the financial
instruments, the assessment of a significant
increase in credit risk is performed on a
collective basis. The financial instruments
are Grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics, such as past due status and
credit risk ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date
to reflect changes in the financial instrument’s
credit risk since initial recognition. Any change
in the ECL amount is recognised as an
impairment gain or loss in profit or loss. The
Group recognises an impairment gain or loss for
all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a

loss allowance account.
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(e) Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

©)

(i)

Credit losses from trade and other receivables

(continued)

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of trade and other
receivables is written off (either partially or
in full) to the extent that there is no realistic
prospect of recovery. This is generally the case
when the Group determines that the debtor
does not have assets or sources of income that
could generate sufficient cash flows to repay
the amounts subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was
previously written off are recognised as a
reversal of impairment in profit or loss in the

period in which the recovery occurs.

Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information
are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period to identify indications that the following
assets may be impaired or an impairment loss
previously recognised no longer exists or may

have decreased:
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(e) Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(ii)  Impairment of other assets (continued)

- property, plant and equipment, including
right-of-use assets (other than property
carried at revalued amounts);

- lease prepayments;
- biological assets;
- investments in subsidiaries; and

- interest in associates and joint ventures.

If any such indication exists, the asset'’s
recoverable amount is estimated.

- Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is
the greater of its fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. Where an asset
does not generate cash inflows largely
independent of those from other assets,
the recoverable amount is determined
for the smallest Group of assets that
generates cash inflows independently (i.e.
a cash-generating unit).
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(ii)  Impairment of other assets (continued)

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in
income statement if the carrying amount
of an asset, or the cash-generating unit to
which it belongs, exceeds its recoverable
amount. Impairment losses recognised
in respect of cash-generating units are
allocated to reduce the carrying amount
of the other assets in the unit (or Group
of units) on a pro rata basis, except that
the carrying value of an asset will not be
reduced below its individual fair value less
costs of disposal (if measurable) or value

in use (if determinable).

Reversals of impairment losses

An impairment loss is reversed if there has
been a favourable change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable

amount.

A reversal of an impairment loss is
limited to the asset’s carrying amount
that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised in prior
years. Reversals of impairment losses
are credited to profit or loss in the year in

which the reversals are recognised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(e)

()

Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(iii)  Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Listing Rules, the Group is required to
prepare an interim financial report in compliance
with |AS 34, Interim financial reporting, in
respect of the first six months of the financial
year. At the end of the interim period, the
Group applies the same impairment testing,
recognition, and reversal criteria as it would at
the end of the financial year (see notes 3(e)(i)
and (ii).

Biological assets

Biological assets include broilers, broiler breeder
eggs, breeder poultry, and are stated at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses and where
appropriate, less any accumulated depreciation,
which the costs are not materially different from the

fair value due to short production cycle.

The cost of biological assets comprises its purchase
price and any costs attributable in raising the

biological assets.
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(®

(g

Biological assets (continued)

For biological assets stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses,
the depreciation is calculated on the straight-line
method to write off the cost of these biological assets
over their estimated productive period of 9 months.
The expected productive period of these biological
assets is reviewed regularly, and adjusted when
appropriate. The carrying values of these biological
assets are reviewed for impairment when events
or changes in the circumstances indicate that the

carrying values may not be fully recoverable.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost
formula and comprises all costs of purchase, costs of
conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the

inventories to their present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business less the estimated
costs of completion and the estimated costs

necessary to make the sale.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(g

(h)

Inventories (continued)

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of
those inventories is recognised as an expense in the
period in which the related revenue is recognised.
The amount of any write-down of inventories to
net realisable value and all losses of inventories are
recognised as an expense in the period the write-
down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal
of any write-down of inventories is recognised as a
reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as

an expense in the period in which the reversal occurs.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset is recognised when the Group
recognises revenue (see note 3(r)) before being
unconditionally entitled to the consideration under
the payment terms set out in the contract. Contract
assets are assessed for expected credit losses (ECL)
in accordance with the policy set out in note 3(e)(i)
and are reclassified to receivables when the right to
the consideration has become unconditional (see note
3(i)).

A contract liability is recognised when the customer
pays non-refundable consideration before the Group
recognises the related revenue (see note 3(r)). A
contract liability would also be recognised if the Group
has an unconditional right to receive non-refundable
consideration before the Group recognises the related
revenue. In such cases, a corresponding receivable

would also be recognised (see note 3(i)).

When the contract includes a significant financing
component, the contract balance includes interest

accrued under the effective interest method.
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(@

@

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right
to receive consideration is unconditional if only the
passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due. If revenue has been recognised
before the Group has an unconditional right to receive
consideration, the amount is presented as a contract

asset (see note 3(h)).

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less allowance for credit

losses (see note 3(e)(i)).

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank
and on hand, demand deposits with banks and
other financial institutions, and short-term, highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, having been
within three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank
overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form
an integral part of the Group’'s cash management
are also included as a component of cash and cash
equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated
cash flow statement. Cash and cash equivalents
are assessed for expected credit losses (ECL) in

accordance with the policy set out in note 3(e)(i).
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(k)

)

(m)

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially
at fair value less attributable transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-bearing
borrowings are stated at amortised cost with any
difference between the amount initially recognised
and redemption value being recognised in income
statement over the period of the borrowings, together
with any interest and fees payable, using the effective

interest method.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair
value and thereafter stated at amortised cost, except
where the payables are interest-free loans from
related parties without any fixed repayment terms
or the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in

which case they are stated at cost.

Financial instruments

(i) Non-derivative financial assets and financial

liabilities-recognition and derecognition

The Group initially recognises loans and
receivables and debt securities issued on the
date when they are originated. All other financial
assets and financial liabilities are initially
recognised on the trade date.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(m) Financial instruments (continued)

©)

Non-derivative financial assets and financial

liabilities-recognition and derecognition (continued)

The Group's financial assets include cash and
cash equivalents, trade and other receivables,
and amounts due from related parties. Financial
assets are derecognised when the rights to
receive cash flows from the assets expire or,
the financial assets are transferred and the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the financial assets.
On derecognition of a financial asset, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received is

recognised in income statement.

Financial liabilities of the Group include interest-
bearing borrowings, trade and other payables,
and amounts due to related parties. Financial
liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged,
cancelled or expired. The difference between
the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid is

recognised in income statement.
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KRB (32M) A FE 2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

3

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(m)

(m)

Financial instruments (continued)

(ii)  Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are recognised
initially at fair value on trade date. At the
end of each reporting period the fair value is
remeasured. The gain or loss on remeasurement
to fair value is recognised immediately in

income statement.

Share capital

Ordinary shares

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of
ordinary shares, net of any tax effects, are recognised

as a deduction from equity.

Redemption and reissue of ordinary shares

When shares recognised as equity are repurchased,
the amount of the consideration paid, which includes
directly attributable costs, net of any tax effects, is
recognised as a deduction from equity. Repurchased
shares are classified as treasury shares and are
presented in the redemption reserve. \WWhen treasury
shares are sold or reissued subsequently, the amount
received is recognised as an increase in equity, and
the resulting surplus or deficit on the transaction is

presented within share premium.
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(o) Employee benefits

©)

(i)

Short term employee benefits and contributions to

defined contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave,
contributions to defined contribution retirement
plans and the cost of non-monetary benefits
are accrued in the year in which the associated
services are rendered by employees. Where
payment or settlement is deferred and the
effect would be material, these amounts are

stated at their present values.

Contributions to appropriate local defined
contribution retirement schemes pursuant to
the relevant labour rules and regulations are

recognised as an expense when they are due.

Share-based payments

The fair value of share options granted to
employees is recognised as an employee
cost with a corresponding increase in share-
based payment reserve within equity. The
fair value is measured at grant date using the
binomial lattice model, taking into account the
terms and conditions upon which the options
were granted. Where the employees have
to meet vesting conditions before becoming
unconditionally entitled to the options, the total
estimated fair value of the options is spread
over the vesting period, taking into account the
probability that the options will vest.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(0)

Employee benefits (continued)

(ii)

(ii1)

Share-based payments (continued)

During the vesting period, the number of share
options that is expected to vest is reviewed.
Any adjustment to the cumulative fair value
recognised in prior years is charged/credited
to the profit or loss for the year of the review,
unless the original employee expenses
qualify for recognition as an asset, with a
corresponding adjustment to the share-based
payment reserve. On vesting date, the amount
recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect
the actual number of options that vest (with a
corresponding adjustment to the share-based
payment reserve) except where forfeiture is
only due to not achieving vesting conditions
that relate to the market price of the Company’s
shares. The equity amount is recognised in the
share-based payment reserve until either the
option is exercised (when it is transferred to the
share premium account) or the option expires

(when it is released directly to retained profits).

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the
earlier of when the Group can no longer
withdraw the offer of those benefits and when
it recognises restructuring costs involving the
payment of termination benefits.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(p)

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in assets and liabilities. Current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities are
recognised in the income statement except to the
extent that they relate to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which
case the relevant amounts of tax are recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity,

respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable
income for the year, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of reporting period,
and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of

previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from
deductible and taxable temporary differences
respectively, being the differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and their tax bases. Deferred tax
assets also arise from unused tax losses and unused

tax credits.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(p)

Income tax (continued)

Apart from certain exceptions, all deferred tax
liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profits will be
available against which the asset can be utilised, are
recognised. Future taxable profits that may support
the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences include those
that will arise from the reversal of existing taxable
temporary differences, provided those differences
relate to the same taxation authority and the same
taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either
in the same period as the expected reversal of the
deductible temporary difference or in periods into
which a tax loss arising from the deferred tax asset
can be carried back or forward. The same criteria are
adopted when determining whether existing taxable
temporary differences support the recognition of
deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses
and credits, that is, those differences are taken into
account if they relate to the same taxation authority
and the same taxable entity, and are expected to
reverse in a period, or periods, in which the tax loss

or credit can be utilised.



3 EREEHBOR ()

(p)

Jii 4B (4

ERELEMEHREERRBEZR
RBIIMER - BT FEREENL
BEMIEE S HERBEF
(ETBEBEHED) 2Bt
ERRRENRBCEREEE
QBRI ZRE - B AEE %
BRI B m ) M EFE B RK
e rSEr RARKED @ M3
AHEER - RIRFEREERE
BEM B R RD -

ERZANECHASERBEE
MEEREENTERERKIFE
AR REESEHRERML
ERCEMAOREGTHE - BEHR
HEEMBEDTMERMR

AEEeESEBEHREER
REHELCHBEENREE °
AR A BEES T SO R
i FIABINAAR BB A a8 - AR
EXEHRBEENEEEESS
K - 2R BRATBEIETS SR B
ARBUEA - AR SRS RS R
m o

BA RS R BT RE
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(p)

Income tax (continued)

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax
assets and liabilities are those temporary differences
arising from the initial recognition of assets or
liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable
profit (provided they are not part of a business
combination), and temporary differences relating
to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that, in
the case of taxable differences, the Group controls
the timing of the reversal and it is probable that the
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future,
or in the case of deductible differences, unless it is

probable that they will reverse in the future.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured
based on the expected manner of realisation or
settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and
liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period. Deferred

tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and is
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that
sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow the
related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such reduction is
reversed to the extent that it becomes probable that

sufficient taxable profits will be available.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(p)

Income tax (continued)

Additional income taxes that arise from the
distribution of dividends are recognised when the

liability to pay the related dividends is recognised.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from
each other and are not offset. Current tax assets are
offset against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax
assets against deferred tax liabilities, if the Company
or the Group has the legally enforceable right to set
off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and
the following additional conditions are met:

- in the case of current tax assets and liabilities,
the Company or the Group intends either to
settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and

settle the liability simultaneously; or

- in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities,
if they relate to income taxes levied by the

same taxation authority on either:

- the same taxable entity; or

- different taxable entities, which, in each
future period in which significant amounts of
deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected
to be settled or recovered, intend to realise
the current tax assets and settle the current
tax liabilities on a net basis or realise and settle

simultaneously.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(% 2EEBIN - UARBTTL5])

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(@)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group or the Company
has a present legal or constructive obligation arising
as a result of a past event, and it is probable that
an outflow of economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be
made. Where the time value of money is material,
provisions are stated at the present value of the

expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

A provision for onerous contracts is measured at
the present value of the lower of the expected cost
terminating the contract and the expected net cost
of continuing with the contract. Before a provision is
established, the Group recognises any impairment
loss on the assets associated with that contract (see
note 3(e)(ii)).

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits
is remote.
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(r)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the

consideration received or receivable. Provided it is

probable that the economic benefits will flow to the

Group and the revenue and costs, if applicable, can

be measured reliably, revenue is recognised in the

income statement as follows:

@

(i)

Sale of goods

Revenue is recognised when control over
a product or service is transferred to the
customer, or the lessee has the right to use the
asset, at the amount of promised consideration
to which the Group is expected to be entitled,
excluding those amounts collected on behalf of
third parties. Revenue excludes value added tax
or other sales taxes and is after deduction of

any trade discounts.

In the comparative periods, revenue is
recognised when goods are delivered at the
customers’ premises which is taken to be the
point in time when the customer has accepted
the goods and the related risks and rewards
of ownership. Revenue excludes value added
tax (“VAT") or other sales taxes and is after

deduction of any trade discounts.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using

the effective interest method.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(% 2EEBIN - UARBTTL5])

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(r) Revenue recognition (continued)

(iii)  Government grants

(iv)

Government grants are recognised in the
statement of financial position initially when
there is reasonable assurance that they will be
received and that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them. Grants that
compensate the Group for expenses incurred
are recognised as income in the income
statement on a systematic basis in the same
periods in which the expenses are incurred.
Grants that compensate the Group for the cost
of an asset are deducted from the carrying
amount of the asset and consequently are
effectively recognised in the income statement
over the useful life of the asset by way of

reduced depreciation expense.

Rental income from operating leases

Rental income receivable under operating leases
is recognised in the income statement in equal
instalments over the periods covered by the
lease term, except where an alternative basis is
more representative of the pattern of benefits
to be derived from the use of the leased asset.
Lease incentives granted are recognised in
income statement as an integral part of the
aggregate net lease payments receivable.
Contingent rentals are recognised as income in

the accounting period in which they are earned.
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

3 EEGHEOR () 3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
r) WARER (4) (r) Revenue recognition (continued)
) ERE (v) Management fees
FIB B AR RS EF E Management fees income is recognised when
R o the related services are rendered.
(s) A (s) Foreign currencies
i RS (i)  Foreign currency transactions
INEZ BIER 5 A B2 [EX Transactions in foreign currencies are translated
BMERAEEEREINGER to the respective functional currencies of Group
o entities at exchange rates at the dates of the

transactions.

RS BEAAINE S EZE Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
MEERABEBEREAEXE in foreign currencies are retranslated to the
FMERNEE - IBAR functional currency at the exchange rate at
BEFENINETERIEE the reporting date. Non-monetary assets and
BEERBERZAREE liabilities that are measured at fair value in a
ErTHNEXRBRERNEE foreign currency are translated to the functional
B o SNEZEFE —MPANEER R currency at the exchange rate when the fair
TR o LASNEE D (B 12 E 52 B value was determined. Foreign currency
RETERIEEHETE B T ERE differences are generally recognised in income
KigH o statement. Non-monetary items that are

measured based on historical cost in a foreign
currency are not translated.
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(s) Foreign currencies (continued)

©)

(ii)

Foreign currency transactions

However, foreign currency differences arising
from the translation of the following items are

recognised in other comprehensive income:

available-for-sale equity investments
(except on impairment, in which case
foreign currency differences that have
been recognised in other comprehensive

income are reclassified to profit or loss);

- a financial liability designated as a
hedge of the net investment in a foreign
operation to the extent that the hedge is

effective; or

- qualifying cash flow hedges to the extent

that the hedges are effective.

Foreign operations

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations,
including goodwill and fair value adjustments
arising on acquisition, are translated into RMB
at exchange rates at the reporting date. The
income and expenses of foreign operations,
excluding foreign operations in hyperinflationary
economies, are translated into RMB at the

exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(s)

Foreign currencies (continued)

(ii)

Foreign operations (continued)

Foreign currency differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income, and accumulated
in the translation reserve, except to the extent
that the translation difference is allocated to

non-controlling interests.

When a foreign operation is disposed of in its
entirety or partially such that control, significant
influence or joint control is lost, the cumulative
amount in the translation reserve related to
that foreign operation is reclassified to profit
or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal.
If the Group disposes of part of its interest
in a subsidiary that retains control, then the
relevant proportion of the cumulative amount is
reattributed to non-controlling interests. When
the Group disposes of only part of an associate
or joint venture while retaining significant
influence or joint control, the relevant proportion
of the cumulative amount is reclassified to profit

or loss.

If the settlement of a monetary item receivable
from a foreign operation is neither planned nor
likely to occur in the foreseeable future, such
receivables is deemed as a net investment
in that foreign operation. Foreign currency
differences arising from such item are
recognised as “translation reserve” in other

comprehensive income.
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(t)

()

Research and development costs

Research and development costs comprise all
costs that are directly attributable to research and
development activities or that can be allocated on a
reasonable basis to such activities. Because of the
nature of the Company’s or the Group's research
and development activities, no development costs
satisfy the criteria for the recognition of such costs
as an asset. Both research and development costs
are therefore recognised as expenses in the period in

which they are incurred.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset
which necessarily takes a substantial period of time to
get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised as
part of the cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs

are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of
the cost of a qualifying asset commences when
expenditure for the asset is being incurred, borrowing
costs are being incurred and activities that are
necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or
sale are in progress. Capitalisation of borrowing costs
is suspended or ceases when substantially all the
activities necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for

its intended use or sale are interrupted or completed.
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(v) Related parties

(i)

A person, or a close member of that person’s

family, is related to the Group if that person:

- has control or joint control over the Group;

- has significant influence over the Group;
or

- is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group’s
parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

- The entity and the Group are members of
the same Group (which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is
related to the others);

- One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a Group of which
the other entity is a member);

- Both entities are joint ventures of the
same third party;
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(v) Related parties (continued)

(ii)

An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies: (continued)

- One entity is a joint venture of a third
entity and the other entity is an associate
of the third entity;

- The entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of
either the Group or an entity related to the
Group;

- The entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (i).

- A person identified in (i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member
of the key management personnel of the

entity (or of a parent of the entity).

- The entity, or any member of a Group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the

Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are
those family members who may be expected
to influence, or be influenced by, that person in
their dealings with the entity.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(w)

()

Earnings per share

The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per
share data for its ordinary shares. Basic earnings
per share is calculated by dividing the profit or loss
attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding during the year, adjusted for own shares
held. Diluted earnings per share is determined by
adjusting the profit or loss attributable to ordinary
shareholders and the weighted average number of
ordinary shares outstanding, adjusted for own shares
held, for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary
shares, which comprise share options granted to

employees.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each
segment item reported in the financial statements,
are identified from the financial information provided
regularly to the CEO of the Company for the purposes
of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group’s various lines of business
and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and
are similar in respect of the nature of products and
services, the nature of production processes, the type
or class of customers, the methods used to distribute
the products or provide the services, and the nature
of the regulatory environment. Operating segments
which are not individually material may be aggregated
if they share a majority of these criteria.
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

TURNOVER

The principal activities of the Group include manufacturing
and trading of livestock feeds, poultry and chilled meats
and processed food. Further details regarding the Group's
principal activities are disclosed in note 12 to these financial

statements.

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers

by major product lines is as follows:

—Z-hF —ZET—N\F

2019 2018

HEBEHR Sales of livestock feeds 4,379,082 4,249,355
HEBH Sales of chicken meats 1,614,836 1,134,149
HEMTR S Sales of processed food 2,041,288 1,808,407
8,035,206 7,191,911

AEENEFPERZIT  APIFEHE
HER ZBAAEBELERA10%HF
F - ARBEFEANFEERRETZ
FHEHNHIEES0@) ©

The Group’s customer base is diversified and includes
no customer with whom transactions have exceeded 10
percent of the Group's turnover. Details of concentrations
of credit risk arising from the Group’s customers are set

out in note 30(a).
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5 Hfib &8 A K H i 3 Ol 5 OTHER OPERATING INCOME AND
18) Wi OTHER NET (LOSS)/GAIN
—E-hF —E—N\F
2019 2018
HAobsg g A Other operating income
FEUA Interest income 11,168 6,866
AT 4 B Government grants 4,054 4,288
M A Rental income 3,484 6,900
18,706 18,054
HMF (E18),a Other net (loss)/gain
HNE (F518) / WRes F(E () Net foreign exchange (loss)/gain (i) (20,846) 1,553
HEBRTEEZEBISFE Net loss on disposal of fixed assets (8,923) (1,693)
BB E LB ER D (f5E23) Reversal for provision of onerous contract
(note 23) 1,099 2,620
REmITES K Z BRI (518) Realised (loss)/gain on commodity derivative
S eas contracts (655) 5,001
B (fER),BEETEEERE Impairment (Recognised)/reversal of fixed
(FFEE13) assets (note13) (7,036) 2,997
HEMHE ARz (E18) (Loss)/Gain on disposal of subsidiaries
/WS (343) 9,516
Hith Others 5,514 (214)
(31,190) 19,780

KRB (32M) A FE 2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

5 OTHER OPERATING INCOME AND
OTHER NET (LOSS)/GAIN (continued)

(i)

The Company lent inter-Group loans to certain of
the Company’s subsidiaries established in the PRC
(the "PRC subsidiaries”) since 2010. The inter-Group
loans were denominated in U.S. dollar (“USD") and
non-interest bearing. The PRC subsidiaries translated
the inter-Group loans to their functional currencies of
RMB at the exchange rate at the reporting date.

On 30 October 2015, the directors of the Company
approved the inter-Group loans form a part of the
Company’s net investment in the PRC subsidiaries,
and the settlement of the inter-Group loans is neither

planned nor likely to occur in the foreseeable future.

The principal amount of the net investment inter-
Group loans was approximately RMB 539,260,000 as
at 31 December 2019. Related exchange difference
of RMB 48,251,000 (2018: RMB54,928,000) was
recorded as “translation reserve” in the Group's
consolidated statement of financial position, in

accordance with the accounting policy in note 3(s).
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Wi 5 i ¥t

BB AT A TR AN S IR ZEL

PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging:

—E—hEF —E—N\&E
2019 2018
(B 3E)
(Note)
(a) BIFEREX (a) Finance costs
ARAFNEHEER Interest on bank borrowings wholly
HERITIEE RIS repayable within five years 41,896 35,407
HEBERBE* Interest on lease liabilities*
(FE13(0)) (note 13(b)) 3,964 =
45,860 35,407
(b) BEIMKAK (b) Staff costs
Fe 1K ® Salaries, wages, bonuses and other
K H AR benefits 686,999 660,217
RIREAFT B3R Contributions to retirement schemes 82,803 79,202
769,802 739,419

"W

AREE EREETE LR E RIS
ERAVEI6H - RIBEDE - FREFILRE
¥ o RHIEC) -

REBPBELEREARIFE ([
BB MBIl RARESTE - &
REBNAGAEENERE B R
FTETRETEAEE - R14%E18%
(ZZ—)\F : 18%=20%) KLl 2 1+
FRERARRMHR o R MMt - A&
B3 B R B R B R R E A AR b B
REE -

KRB (32M) A FE 2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

*Note:

The Group has initially applied IFRS 16 using the modified retrospective
approach. Under this approach, the comparative information is not restated.

See note 2(e).

The Group is required to participate in pension schemes
organised by the respective municipal governments of the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") whereby the Group
is required to pay annual contributions for PRC based
employees at rates ranging from 14 to 18 percent (2018:
18 to 20 percent) of the standard wages determined by the
relevant authorities in the PRC during the year. The Group
has no other material obligation for payment of retirement
benefits to the PRC based employees beyond the annual

contributions described above.
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RIBREEERREEHFSHI13% (=ZF
— )\ 1 13%)5 8 € /55,0005
BEAERS - AIZEEREEH212%
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (continued)

The Group also operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (the “"MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for
employees employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong
Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF Scheme is a
defined contribution retirement scheme administered by
independent trustees. Under the MPF Scheme, the Group
is required to make contributions to the scheme from 5
to 12 percent (2018: 5 to 12 percent) of the employees’
relevant income and its employees are required to make
contributions to the scheme from 5 to 12 percent (2018: 5
to 12 percent) of the employees’ relevant income, subject
to a cap of monthly relevant income of Hong Kong Dollar
("HKD") 30,000 (2018: HKD30,000). Contributions to the

scheme vest immediately.

Contribution made to Malaysia’s Employees Provident Fund
is based on 13 percent (2018: 13 percent) of the eligible
employees’ salaries when the salaries is Malaysia Ringgit
("MYR") 5,000 or below, or based on 12 percent (2018:
12 percent) of the eligible employees’ salaries when the
salaries is above MYR5,000.

The Group also made contribution on the statutory social
security and health insurance in Vietnam from 8.8 to
12.1 percent (2018: 8.8 to 12.1 percent) of the eligible

employees’ salaries.
Save for the above schemes, the Group has no other

material obligation for payment of retirement benefits

beyond the contributions.
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6  BRBinTEA (4) 6 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (continued)
(¢0 HiwmEH Other items
—E-NF —=— )\
2019 2018
%A S Auditors’ remuneration
— % ER — audit services 4,990 4,877
— WIS AR TS — tax services 80 100
5,070 4,977
LATRIEBIBR S5 2ERISE 1757888  Total minimum lease payments for
RESCEHENRERENRETE*  leases previously classified as
operating leases under IAS 17* - 16,242
PrEX H (H13E13) Depreciation charge (note 13)
—BBEYE - BE K& - owned property, plant and
MEERNFKRIA equipment and leased
prepayments 154,186 153,689
—(EREEE" — right-of-use assets* 7,489 =
YR E S (FEE17) Amortisation of biological assets (note
17) 3,702 8,460
B (Bm) HERERE S8R0 (Reversal)/lmpairment loss of trade
BUEEE (F17E30(a) receivables recognised (note 30(a)) (2,368) 20,221
FEMR (BE), R FE Net (reversal of write down)/write
(B¥zE16(b)) down of inventory (note 16(b)) (13,424) 6,785
TSR Research and development costs 1,535 1,012
FERA** (HiFE16(0) Cost of inventories** (note 16(b)) 6,649,367 6,044,740

* REEFERLIETBINETIRE
R BB B 7 ¥ 5 AE B S 165k - I
AER_ZE—NF—-A—HNHH
iR - LR AIREBERE
FEAIEI7TR A B RKETEEN
EHEEZEREEE - R=_F
—NWF— A —BYLSHERERE
BER  AEBELSEEAEAR
REAEEENITE - MIELA
WBR AT & BN R B AR A TR
KEMEEENESHAE - BRI
ZAE  NEEILBER - R
HizE2(e) ©

KRB (32M) A FE 2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

The Group has initially applied IFRS 16 using the modified
retrospective approach and adjusted the opening balances
at 1 January 2019 to recognise right-of-use assets relating to
leases which were previously classified as operating leases
under IAS 17. The depreciated carrying amount of the finance
lease assets which were previously included in property,
plant and equipment is also identified as a right-of-use asset.
After initial recognition of right-of-use assets at 1 January
2019, the Group as a lessee is required to recognise the
depreciation of right-of-use assets, instead of the previous
policy of recognising rental expenses incurred under operating
leases on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Under this
approach, the comparative information is not restated. See
note 2(e).
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

6 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (continued)

(c) Other items (continued)

*x Cost of inventories includes RMB 570,262,000 (2018:
RMB546,445,000) relating to staff costs, depreciation and

amortisation expenses, which amount is also included in the

respective total amounts disclosed separately above or in

note 6(b) for each of these types of expenses.

7 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
INCOME STATEMENT

(a) Taxation in the consolidated income statement

represents:

—Z-hF —E—N\F
2019 2018
EHBiE Current tax
FNEE Provision for the year 45,545 22,053
BEESFRECESZ) /TR (Over-provision)/under-provision in
respect of prior years (4,143) 2,172
41,402 24,225
IRFERI I8 Deferred tax
TR M EENES RED Origination and reversal of temporary
WiEE2e) ... differences(note26) ... 781 423
43,133 24,648

() RIBEFSRENRAERELE
& ([RBEXES]) HRA
KRB - REEBARFHES
HENEBRELESHMNE
I FR1S M ©

(i) Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the

Cayman lIslands and British Virgin Islands

("BVI"), the Group is not subject to any income

tax in the Cayman Islands and BVI.
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194

7 HAEBERNZEB(E) 7 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
INCOME STATEMENT (continued)
(a) HZEHBEENZIBIEE : (8 (a) Taxation in the consolidated income statement

(ii)

KRB (32M) A FE 2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

RZE-—NF=A=Z+—
B &8LiZ2BB_F
—EFRB (ERT) (B75%)
BAIBER(MEFIER]) - %
B E 55| AR5 5/ 4R
#l o ZIEMERKR =T —N
F=ZA-+\BEZZERA
EE - ARBAREZHRT
& o FEF WA SEAR
—E-N\FWMA—HBHzxk<
BRBENSRBEFE - 1R
BRSHMmAGE - &&%
AR EBE2008 T AT
TR 58.25% @ BB K
2008 T A LB EF 2 B R
#16.5% c REE—ZT— N
F+ZA=t+—HI+=fF
ARKBBESHE  ~AEEE
BRARNEATIEHER
RSB AR FIFHE o R
EFETMAR Sz E A&
E R B IR — = AR
E16.5%:t8 - (BEZF
—N\F+=—A=+—HIL
+=@A : 16.5%)

represents: (continued)

(i)

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative
Council passed the Inland Revenue
(Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (the “Bill").
The Bill introduces the two-tiered profits tax
rates regime. The Bill was signed into law
on 28 March 2018 and was gazetted on the
following day. The two-tiered profits tax rates
regime applicable to the years of assessment
commencing on or after 1 April 2018. According
to the two-tiered profits tax rates regime,
the first HK$2 million of profits of qualifying
corporations will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits
above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%.
During the relevant period for the 12 months
ended 31 December 2019, the Hong Kong
profits tax of qualifying corporations of the
Group was taxed according to the two-tiered
profits tax rates regime. The profits of other
members of the Group not qualifying for the
two-tiered profits tax rates regime will continue
to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5% (for the 12
months ended 31 December 2018: 16.5%).
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(a) HAHHERNZBEE : (8

(iii)

(iv)
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7 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
INCOME STATEMENT (continued)

(a) Taxation in the consolidated income statement

represents: (continued)

(iif)

(iv)

Pursuant to the income tax rules and regulations
of the PRC, the Group entities incorporated in
the PRC are liable to PRC Corporate Income Tax
at a rate of 25 percent during the year (2018:
25 percent), except for Tianjin DaChan Prospect
Research and Development Co., Ltd. (“TDPR")
and Liaoning Great Wall Agri-Industrial Co.,
Ltd. ("LGW").TDPR is subject to a preferential
tax rate of 15 percent (2018: 15 percent), as
it has obtained the new high-tech enterprise
qualification from 2018. LGW is subject to a
preferential tax rate of 15 percent (2018: 25
percent), as it has obtained the new high-tech

enterprise qualification from 2019.

Pursuant to the income tax rules and regulations
of Malaysia, the subsidiary in Malaysia was
liable to Malaysian income tax rate of 24 percent
for the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: 24

percent).
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7 HAEBERNZEB(E) 7 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
INCOME STATEMENT (continued)
(a) HZEHBEENZIBIEE : (8 (a) Taxation in the consolidated income statement
represents: (continued)

(v) RERRIZXREEBDN (v)  Pursuant to the Amended Investment License
—EE=FNALA=-F+= No. 1219/GPDC1-BKH-KCN-DN dated 23
HEEHLEITREH September 2003, issued by Dong Nai Industrial
f8No0.1219/GPDC1-BKH- Zone Authority, Asia Nutrition Technologies (VN)
KCN-DN - 22 M & & 57 Co., Ltd. (“ANTC-VN") is subject to Corporate
(BE) AR AE ([EMes Income Tax of Vietnam at a preferential rate
FAT (BE) 1) 281215% (= of 15 percent (2018: 15 percent). The above
T—)\F : 15%)BERH =X tax reduction is not applicable to other income
BUMBE RS o bl which is taxed at a rate of 20 percent (2018: 20
TG R T E AR E AU percent).

A (R20% B R #F) (ZF
—N\F :20%) °
(viy ZENEEFMCIR)BRA (vi) Asia Nutrition Technologies (HN) Co., Ltd.

KRB (32M) A FE 2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

Al ([ZEM & =R CAm) 1)
BAEHEEXHFRFES
FRIE10%HRBMBE
EMBH - ERFEIR
22%HH o I - RIEE
BEBRBERR_TTAE
+—A-tHBAEHNES
o8k - DR B OfA)
BEEEENFE_TTA
FREVIF T A 2 AL IS
BER - HEBENFER KR
FEF o At - BNEERR
fTCAR) REBE=F—NF
+TZA=+—RHLEFEHN
BAKREARE15% (ZZE—N
F 0 10%) o b Ht =R
BRI EAREMIA (&
20% B R4 (ZF—N
F:20%) °

("ANTC-HN") is subject to Corporate Income
Tax of Vietnam at the rate of 10 percent for the
first fifteen years commencing from its first year
of operation and 22 percent for the succeeding
years. Moreover, ANTC-HN is entitled to a
full tax exemption for four years starting from
2005, its first profit-making year pursuant to the
Minutes of Inspection by the Tax Department
of Hai Duong Province dated 24 November
2006 and a 50 percent reduction in tax rate for
the next four years. Therefore, the applicable
tax rate of ANTC-HN is 15 percent for the year
ended 31 December 2019 (2018: 10 percent).
The above tax reduction is not applicable to
other income which is taxed at a rate of 20

percent (2018: 20 percent).
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(a) HAHHERNZBEE : (8

(vii)

(viii)

TN E RN (BR) GR
A\ ([E8 M & & K AiT (&
Z) 1)) WEBEEEEFR
ATETERIE20% R EH
MBS - HgF
E1R22% #F o A - I8
NEERMN (B B HEE
ENEE_TTN\FLR
FHREZEB R RE
B HR = FREBERREE
2 HE-Z-NF+=A
=+t —BLFEMEARE
MEE20% (ZFE—NF -
20%) o EHFE I ST
AR H A (1220 %
MEHH) (ZF—N\F :
20%) °

BEFEEALERERR
RZE——FhA=+RX
HEZENEETRERR
No.43/2010/ND-CP » 25
EERRMCEE) BER A A
(TN ERM (FE) D)
RBE_ZT—-NF+=ZA
=+—HIEFEEK20%
MR MR EMEH
(ZZ2—N\F : 20%) °
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7 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
INCOME STATEMENT (continued)

(a) Taxation in the consolidated income statement

represents: (continued)

(vii)

(viii)

Asia Nutrition Technologies (LA) Co., Ltd.
("ANTC-LA") is subject to Corporate Income
Tax of Vietnam at the rate of 20 percent
for the first ten years commencing from its
first year of operation and 22 percent for the
succeeding years. ANTC-LA is entitled to a full
tax exemption for two years starting from 2008,
its first profit-making year, and a 50 percent
reduction in tax rate for the next three years.
The applicable tax rate is 20 percent for the year
ended 31 December 2019 (2018: 20 percent).
The above tax reduction is not applicable to
other income which is taxed at a rate of 20

percent (2018: 20 percent).

Pursuant to the Amended Investment License
No. 43/2010/ND-CP dated 26 September 2012,
issued by Binh Dinh Province Economic Zone
Authority, Asia Nutrition Technologies (MV)
Co., Ltd. ("ANTC-MV") is subject to Vietnam
Corporate Income Tax of 20 percent for the year
ended 31 December 2019 (2018: 20 percent).
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7 EAEHERRNZ PGB ()

(b) HEABRG HRRE R
aH IR

7 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED

INCOME STATEMENT (continued)

(b) Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting

profit at applicable tax rates:

—E—hE —=—N\F
2019 2018
FRA A Vo A Profit before taxation 249,120 86,543
HAREPEMEHBE25%E  Income tax calculated at PRC's
RIFT1S R * Corporate Income Tax rate of 25%* 62,280 21,636
MRS EREL SR B AT Effect of different tax rates of
NGk S=0)- 7 subsidiaries operating in different
tax jurisdictions (12,086) (7,393)
AR B2 Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 2,129 2,262
BAERGWMANT B E Tax effect of non-taxable income (19,625) (7,365)
RUERTLIE B 18 & 8 2 i 1% Tax effect of the movement of tax
=R E losses and temporary difference
not recognised 14,578 13,336
BEFEREGES), /TR (Over-provision)/under-provision
in respect of prior years (4,143) 2,172
ERBIERY Actual tax expense 43,133 24,648
& 25% (ZZ—N\4F : 25%) Fii5# @ The income tax rate of 25 percent (2018: 25 percent)

BEIEARB T BLEMERA
TR M B R o

KRB (32M) A FE 2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

represents the domestic tax rate in the jurisdiction where the

operations of the Group are substantially based.



EHME

RIBEB R RERFIZE383(1) R AR (B
BEFNZER) ROIF 28R EMEE

BA RS R BT RE
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(% 2EEBIN - UARBTTL5])

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1)

of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the

ZERMEIT Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of
Directors) Regulation are as follows:
“E-nF
2019
e e
REMEF R
Salaries, BE
244 allowances HE7E4  Retirement
Directors’ and benefits Discretionary scheme @zt
fees in kind bonuses  contribution Total
iE Chairman
BERR Harn Jia-Chen - 1,992 490 - 2,482
HOTES Executive director
BERE Han Chia-Yin - - - - -
BUFHTES Independent
Non-executive directors
KR Chen Chih 177 - - - 177
WxE Way Yung-Do 177 - - - 177
FRE Wei Anning 177 - - - 177
FHTES Non-executive directors
BRE Han Jia-Hwan 133 - - - 133
BRT Han Chia-Yau 133 - - - 133
HRE Chao Tien-Shin 133 - - - 133
930 1,992 490 - 3412

ZZ— NEF R Annual Report 2019
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(% RHEIE - LA RETT25))

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

8 HHME @) 8 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)
—T-N\F
2018
e 28
REMER RIK
Salaries, HE 5
E2H%  allowances MEEL  Retirement
Directors'’  and benefits  Discretionary scheme @5t
fees inkind bonuses  contribution Total
I Chairman
BRR Han Jia-Hwan = 2,183 192 27 2,402
HTES Executive director
BRE Han Chia-Yin = = = - -
BYFHTES Independent
Non-executive directors
s Chen Chih 170 - = = 170
xE Way Yung-Do 170 = - - 170
FZE Wei Anning 170 - = = 170
FHTES Non-executive directors
BFRR Harn Jia-Chen 128 = = = 128
BET Han Chia-Yau 128 = = = 128
HAE Chao Tien-Shin 128 = = = 128
894 2,183 192 27 3,296

200 | Am&® (TM) &R 27 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited
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9 INDIVIDUALS
EMOLUMENTS

BA RS R BT RE

Notes to the Financial Statements
(% 2EEBIN - UARBTTL5])

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

WITH HIGHEST

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, one
(2018: one) is director whose emoluments are disclosed in
note 8. The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the

other four (2018: four) individuals are as follows:

T
—E-hEF —T)\F
2019 2018
e R E A Salaries and other emoluments 5,287 4,754
BIBIEAL Discretionary bonuses 1,611 1,211
RREH B Retirement scheme contributions 92 100
6,990 6,065

Mz (ZZE—N\F : ML) &RSFHMAL

HBE N F T HIAR

The emoluments of the four (2018: four) individuals with

the highest emoluments are within the following bands:

—E-nE  —2NF
2019 2018

A ABL

Number of Number of

individuals individuals

1,000,001 7CZ1,500,0007% 7T HKD1,000,001 to HKD1,500,000 - 1
1,500,00187C£2,000,000% 7T HKD1,500,001 to HKD2,000,000 3 2
2,000,001 222,500,000/ 7T HKD2,000,001 to HKD2,500,000 - 1
2,500,001 7L23,000,000/% 7T HKD2,500,001 to HKD3,000,000 1 -

FA - ANEBEBERZEALHR
8 ARSI R AR EBSAERINAR
SEHEER - HIERRERM 2 BE -

compensation for loss of office during the year.

ZZ— NEF R Annual Report 2019

No emoluments have been paid to these individuals as

an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

10 Hfih &l s

10 OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

“B-NF —E)N\E
2019 2018
BhAISE  HERE RHESE RENeE TR Riked
Before-tax Tax  Net-of-tax  Before-tax Tax  Net-of-tax
amount effect amount amount effect amount
BENTEENER Exchange differences on
EE translation of:
—HNIB AR HRE — financial statements of
overseas subsidiaries 6911 - 6,911 13,408 - 13,408
—ABEARTERBE LR — inter-Group loans
REFENEEALNA classified as net
SR (PEE50) investment in PRC
subsidiaries (note 5(i)) 6,676 - 6,676 (37,141) - (37,141)
HEi2EeE Other comprehensive
income 13,587 - 13,587 (23,733) = (23,733)

KRB (32M) A FE 2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

5 JE 5 AN e 1 89 2 ) 11 BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER
SHARE
HE-_Z-NAE+T-_A=+—HILF The calculation of basic earnings per share for the
& BREARZFTBEARD G EBR year ended 31 December 2019 is based on the profit
7 7 % BR R4 V55 T A R #5133,683,000 attributable to ordinary equity shareholders of the Company
T(ZE—\F : AR¥13,135,000 of RMB133,683,000 (2018: RMB13,135,000) and the
) RFEARNE BT ERRD METF weighted average of 1,016,016,767 ordinary shares (2018:
#1%(1,016,016,76 7 (ZZ— )\ F : 1,015,490,500) in issue during the year, calculated as
1,015,490,5008%) 5T & ° follows:
T AR N AR Weighted average number of ordinary shares
—E-NE —Z-N\F
2019 2018
R—A—BEETHTER Issued ordinary shares at 1 January 1,015,490,500  1,015,490,500
SR HIR R R E R E Effect of restricted share award scheme 526,267 =
R+ A=+—HELEBR I Weighted average number of ordinary shares at
TRk S 31 December 1,016,016,767  1,015,490,500

HE-_Z-NFRk_ZE—-N\F+=A
=+—HIEFE  AEEWEBTEE
TLREAREITIESN - Eitt - BREE R
RERERRSITEER o

The Group has no dilutive ordinary shares outstanding for
the year ended 31 December 2019 and 2018. Therefore,
there was no difference between basic and diluted earnings
per share.

ZZ— NEF R Annual Report 2019
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

12

i Bt

REBRTRNX - RREZE @ MRS
FTB M SR R B D MR EEH 2
% o KREPSL B IR e R B FHA R A
AAEFHRITERSERN —BWE®RT
X AEEERTIN =D MB&/E -
T RE D BB R & BHAV AR & 7 BP A
B o

A RO HBEBBRERNER
s NEER( - 24
g2~ AT A48 £k
BB | k2 88 B 2 Tk B &2
REHFAMIREHE
ﬁ% °

=2

B

HE: BEANH B EIER
TR KR
[SOS| & & A 1. 55 8
BE EER A% B
REBHT R - ER
RO N RIDEA tI5 -

mo MIRmMDMEBEEER
DIHME  BIERANRR

o
am °

A

T

KRB (32M) A FE 2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

12 SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which are
organised by a mixture of both business lines (products
and services) and geography. In a manner consistent with
the way in which information is reported internally to the
Company’'s CEO for the purposes of resource allocation
and performance assessment, the Group has presented
the following three reportable segments. No operating
segments have been aggregated to form the following
reportable segments.

Chicken meat: The chicken meat segment carries on
business of broiler farming,hatching of
broiler breeder eggs, contract farming,
processing and marketing of chilled and
frozen chicken meat marketed under
the brand of “DaChan” and “Sisters’
Kitchen”.

Livestock feeds: The livestock feeds segment
manufactures and distributes complete
feed, base mix and pre-mix for swine,
layer, broiler, duck, and breeder poultry
under the brands of “Dr. Nupak”,
“DaChan” and “SOS".

Processed food:  The processed food segment produces
and distributes pickled, pre-fried, and
instant food.
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(a)

SruBSEAE - R K AR
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(% 2EEBIN - UARBTTL5])

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

12 SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

(a)

Segment results, assets and liabilities

For the purposes of assessing segment performance
and allocating resources among segments, the CEO
monitors the results, assets and liabilities attributable

to each reportable segment on the following bases:

Segment assets include all tangible assets and
current assets with the exception of deferred tax
assets and other corporate assets. Segment liabilities
include trade creditors, accruals attributable to the
manufacturing and sales activities of the individual
segments and bank borrowings managed directly by

the segments.

Turnover and expenses are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to sales generated by
those segments and the expenses incurred by
those segments or which otherwise arise from the
depreciation or amortisation of assets attributable to

those segments.

The measure used for reporting segment profit is

gross profit.

In addition to receiving segment information
concerning gross profit, the CEO is provided with
segment information concerning turnover (including
inter-segment sales), depreciation and amortisation.
Inter-segment sales are priced with reference to

prices charged to external parties for similar orders.

ZZ— NEF R Annual Report 2019
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

12 il R ()
()  APERIEAE - K U (D)

RBE-E—NER-B—N\F
+=A=+—AILEENERS
BRI HBEBAEENTE
RUARAEBREH B2 AR

12 SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

(a) Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued)

Information regarding the Group's reportable
segments as provided to the CEO for the purposes
of resource allocation and assessment of segment

performance for the years ended 31 December 2019

E RN and 2018 is set out below:
AR BEHR NIgR it
Chicken meat Livestock feeds Processed food Total
EE EE 0 EE R\E BN CRE 0 R DB
2019 2018 219 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
(A ik ki (F3k)
(Note) (Note) (Note) (Note)
RENUREOALNA  Tumoverfomexemalcustomers 1614836 1134149 4379082 420935 2041288 1808407 80326 7191911
ABREEUA Inter-seqment tumover 615,274 409186 807,243 620234 - - ARET 1049420
Ait Total 23010 1,563,335 5,186,325 4869589 2,041,288 1,808,407 9451123 8,241,331
A% Segment result 199,428 130,056 43131 319,841 344,836 310,403 981,575 760,300
FAREERARFS Unalocated operating income
and expenses - - - - - - (685,988 (652,283)
by Profitfrom operations - - - - - - 295,587 108017
HiRR Finance costs - - - S - - (45,860) 35.407)
ElESARARAA Share of ossesgeins of
(E8) /g equity-accounted investees - = - - - = (607) 139%3
FiH Income tax - - - - - - (43,133) (24648)
ERER Profit for the year - - - - - - 205,987 61,895
ERERES Depreciation and amortisation
for the year 49,107 h8,125 59,809 4951 52,759 46,053 161,675 153689
FENTEE Reportable seqment assets 957599 1064034 1359798 1291498 1,103,130 81719 3405 31T
ERFEREATAE Additons to norv-current segment
assets during the year 61217 48178 88112 79218 34,833 57,347 184,222 184,743
FEHUAE Reportable segment libilties 264,301 398,439 852,251 h32.351 220,590 343,220 1331142 1274010

BiFE
AEEEEREIERTEPETIRE R BRI %R
EHRIE165 o BEZHE - WEBILRE
£ o RHfEE2() ©

KRB (32M) A FE 2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

Note:

The Group has initially applied IFRS 16 using the modified
retrospective approach. Under this approach, the comparative
information is not restated. See note 2(e)



12 AH 2 ()

(b)

o AR WA - R - B

BA RS R BT RE

Notes to the Financial Statements
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

12 SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

(b) Reconciliations of reportable segment turnover, profit

B £ iR or loss, assets and liabilities
—ZE-hF —E—N\F
2019 2018
S ON Turnover
RE DU A Reportable segment turnover 9,457,723 8,241,331
DEPE A S WA Elimination of inter-segment turnover (1,422,517) (1,049,420)
EEEWA (H3E4) Consolidated turnover (note 4) 8,035,206 7,191,911
gl Profit
s 7 B Al Reportable segment profit 981,575 760,300
HAb g & WA Other operating income 18,706 18,054
HF (518) W Other net (loss)/gain (31,190) 19,780
7 $ER AR Distribution costs (391,045) (382,405)
TR Administrative expenses (282,459) (307,712)
BRI Finance costs (45,860) (35,407)
FEERERARZAR AT Share of (losses)/gains of equity-

(B518) /Wzs accounted investees (607) 13,933
ERABRTERTE T Consolidated profit before taxation 249,120 86,543
EE Assets

WMEDEBEE Reportable segment assets 3,420,527 3,183,711
R IE & B Deferred tax assets 26,094 27,872
ReERRSEFEY Cash and cash equivalents 370,102 408,721
RORE R ABIEE Unallocated head office and corporate

assets 231,214 282,734
IRABRERE Consolidated total assets 4,047,937 3,903,038
afE Liabilities
mENEBE Reportable segment liabilities 1,337,142 1,274,010
FE TS EL Income tax payable 19,417 4,526
BELEHIEAE Deferred tax liabilities 450 497
FFEEE Interest-bearing borrowings 569,528 706,672
ROMBIRAREE Unallocated head office and corporate

liabilities 108,918 89,484
meBaEeE Consolidated total liabilities 2,035,455 2,075,189

ZZ— NEF R Annual Report 2019
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

12 7 #B2 4H (4) 12
(c) HuEER

TREINBR)IRBIMBRFPHOAEE
REWAR(NAREBLEEMNRHE
S RSB AR ES ([EREREE
EDrEUEER - RPMMIEVE
RIBRHEBRB AR N EmOMLEETE
BRI ERBEEN MRV ERBEEER
BRATRALE (B - BB KR M
RS EBIEN (R ER AR2KRA
BlViER) BEE ©

SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

(c)

Geographical information

The following table sets out information about the
geographical location of (i) the Group's turnover
from external customers and (ii) the Group's tangible
assets and interests in equity-accounted investees
(“specified non-current assets”). The geographical
location of customers is based on the location at
which the services were provided or the goods
delivered. The geographical location of the specified
non-current assets is based on the physical location
of the asset, in the case of property, plant and
equipment and the location of operations, in the case

of interests in equity-accounted investees.

REMBEF LA BERIZERBEE

Turnover from Specified

external customers non-current assets

—E-hE  ZT-N\F —B-NE )R

2019 2018 2019 2018
s The PRC 4,739,290 3,980,333 1,283,725 1,306,404
fiitEa] Vietnam 2,709,935 2,671,261 379,251 323,036
B Japan 407,274 490,868 - =
Hfthdo Ko Rest of Asia Pacific 178,707 49,449 9,704 9,833

8,035,206 7,191,911 1,672,680 1,639,273

KRB (32M) A FE 2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited



BA RS R BT RE

Notes to the Financial Statements
(% 2EEBIN - UARBTTL5])

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

13 BlEEE 13 FIXED ASSETS
(a) VR AA EHR (a) Reconciliation of carrying amount
il 28
ey Bt
ERIE FERESE  Fumiture, g HERE
Construction B2 Pantand fittings and Motor it Lease ot
inprogress  Buildings  machinery  equipment vehicles  Sub-total prepayments Total
A Cost
RZE-J\ETZA=T-B  At31 December 2018 50,203 233,182 2,309,905 162578 4381 2,800,340 240,938 3041278
IINEREBEHREEE  Impact on iniial ppiication of IFRS
F165%E (1) 16 Note ) - 19,105 550 - 1163 2818 30268 51,086
RZ-NE-A-A At 1 January 2019 50,203 22881 2310455 162578 4605 2821158 mAN6 3092364
RE Additions 41,676 575718 69,591 8112 4250 181,867 2,355 184222
EIN Transfers (69,976) 26,966 42,904 A (15) - - -
it Disposals - (6) (105,942) (12,640) (4,004) (122,682) - (122,682)
EXER Exchange differences 218 3562 3,565 i} M 7993 1213 9,206
WZB-NETZAZF-8  At31 December 2019 21 30987 2320573 159,038 BET 2888336 24714 3163110

ZitiE  BHRAE Accumulated depreciation,

amortisation and impairment;

R=5-nF-A-A At 1 January 2019 - 9er 120426 11938 DT 145858 50470 1496128
B Charge for the year - 18495 123,165 6,353 549 153,508 8170 161,675
RERE(ED)/ B Impaitment loss (reversal)

recognised - (1513) 9,766 (1.222) 5 7,03 - 1,036
il Disposels - B maen (1079 (32080 (91493 - (91493)
EiZE Exchange differences - 876 2034 1 28 3357 176 3533
REEARICASTH Aol D AL W A VB0 A6 TATGAM
BEE: Canrying values:
HZE-NETZA=T-B  At31 December 2019 21 Wm0 105882 45137 2601 130273 25958 1586231

—Z—h4EF35R Annual Report 2019 | ()9
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

13 [l 2 ()

(a)

13 FIXED ASSETS (continued)

R T 4 B (A) (a) Reconciliation of carrying amount (continued)
il K&
& B
FRIR FERES  Funitue, E HEE
Constructon BF  Pantand fitingsend Motor It Lease ot
In progress Buldings ~ machinery ~ equipment vehicles Sub-total  prepayments Total
A Cost:
#=%-N\&-A-R At 1 January 2018 66,014 190,751 229357 163,147 83503 2602712 81797 2930569
RE Additions 9,663 1837 74404 7642 2263 181,609 3134 184743
g\ Transfers (112,64 39493 791 60 2% - - -
it Disposals - (2675) (72567) (8640) (2958) (86,840) (1918) (68,758)
BiZE Exchange differences 1,168 4576 530 39 766 12,799 1925 1474
WZB-ETZA=F-8  At31 December 2018 50,203 83780 2309905 162578 43872 2800340 098 3041278
EitiTE  BERAE: Accumulated depreciation,
amortisation and impairment:
“-Z-\E-A-A At 1 January 2018 - %156 112852 113350 19306 1,351,374 46320 13976%
ik Charge for the year - 10121 123295 10680 4007 148,103 5,586 153,689
HEER(RE) /B Impairment loss (iversalfecogrised - - (4529 16% ] (2997 - 997)
it Disposals - 2008 (46,256] (6:499) (1,389 (56,151 (1,668) (57819
EiZE Exchange differences - 1362 304 315 408 5329 b 5561
ﬁé_::?_*_/\_ﬁ_:ﬂ =t=HB  At31 December 2018 - 99,631 1,204,276 119,384 231 1445608 50470 149128
FEE: Cartying values:
AZE-\ETZA=F-H  At31 December 2018 50,203 14761 1105609 1319 2506 1364682 190468 1545150

KRB (32M) A FE 2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

13 FIXED ASSETS (continued)

IR T £ 3 WG () (a) Reconciliation of carrying amount (continued)
RZEBE-NFRZZF-N\F+= As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, no buildings and
A=+—8  SiEgFRiENH lease prepayments are pledged to banks for banking
EFREERTRITUMEGE TR facilities granted to the Group.
SENRITEE -
AEBEMRATHE 2 FENEE The carrying amounts of the Group's lease
FIBREREELNT ¢ prepayments are situated in the following locations:
—E-hEF ZZT-N\F
2019 2018
AR The PRC 147,243 133,493
i Vietnam 66,833 55,584
BoRF T Malaysia 1,882 1,391
215,958 190,468
g Impairment loss

ARE TEBEMRBERFEA
BEEIETE  BEERR%RS
XENELEME - BERRET
EBTERERR IR T —NF
TZA=+—H#ETTHUEE
Nz BAEEME - HE R&ER
el & AZEEENR
HEMBREEAT KB SEAR
10488 - BEBBARK
14.3B B TR [ HFE (F518) /1K
= hHER - B EA BN
BB IORBEEHRRERECELE
BUWARRBERERE - KA
FRBARIER11.0% A5 - A
BBRIANIREA12.49% °

As certain business units recorded a net loss for
the past few years, management considered that
indicators of potential impairment of property, plant
and equipment attributable to these business units
existed and performed an assessment to determine
the recoverable amounts of the related property, plant
and equipment as at 31 December 2019, and as a
result the carrying amount of the assets were written
down to their recoverable amount of RMB10.4
million. An impairment loss of RMB14.3 million was
recognised in “Other net (loss)/gain”. The recoverable
amounts of the cash-generating units were estimated
based on the present value of the future cash flows
expected to be derived from the cash-generating
units, using a post-tax discount rate of 11.0%, and

the adjusted pre-tax discount rate is 12.49%.

ZZ— NEF R Annual Report 2019

211



PRk MY

Notes to the Financial Statements
(% RHEIE - LA RETT25))

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

13 [ ()
(@) W SR (40
(e (4

RZZT—RF  HAFTEHBE
THEKKERE - MEEFE
ERANERECFERSE
B REENHZERENT]
KEeERBERBAEEEAR
1958 B —tFZE
ZENF - REEHBHER
M HEEERESH  BEE
RE BABBREHZEBER
FREBNEANEE  WKRZF
—NEEFHNFEEEEEN I
El&R - WHERENR - FUb#
EUREEEARBE1068ET

(b) I RE R

REEEERN B D NEREE

13 FIXED ASSETS (continued)

(a)

(b)

Reconciliation of carrying amount (continued)

Impairment loss (continued)

In 2015, a number of plant and machines in the
chicken meat division were idle and the business
unit with related assets was in a state of continuous
loss. The Group assessed the recoverable amounts of
those machines and an impairment loss of RMB19.5
million was recognized. From 2017 to 2019, the
business unit continued to make profits, and idle
assets have been restored to use. Management
considered that significant changes with a favourable
effect on the entity have taken place during the period
and reassessed the recoverable amount of related
assets in 2019 with no signs of impairment, so an

impairment loss of RMB10.6 million was reversed.

Right-of-use assets

The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use

ERFEITAT assets by class of underlying asset is as follows:
—E-hF —ZT-NF
+=ZB=+—H —HF—H
31 December 1 January
2019 2019
HELH Leasehold land 29,456 30,268
BgF Buildings 59,347 19,105
Hes MR Machinery and equipment 388 550
R Motor vehicles 2,198 1,163
91,389 51,086

212 | xme® (M) ERA T DaChan Food (Asia) Limited
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

13 FIXED ASSETS (continued)

(b)

Right-of-use assets (continued)

The analysis of expense items in relation to leases

recognised in profit or loss is as follows:

—E-NF —TN\F
2019 2018
(BfEE)
(Note)
FREEERABEERNN Depreciation charge of right-of-use
FESH assets by class of underlying asset:
HELH Leasehold land 997 -~
BT Buildings 5,397 =
S Machinery and equipment 168 =
AE Motor vehicles 927 =
7,489 -
HEAERNE (HizE6() Interest on lease liabilities (note 6(a)) 3,964 =
ERFRBAERBN=_Z—NF  Expense relating to short-term leases
+=A=+—RH%ZAIERN and other leases with remaining
RHRHEEREMEENFAS lease term ending on or before 31
December 2019 3,439 -
HEEREEEEGENFS Expense relating to leases of low-value
TEECHEEEERERE assets, excluding short-term leases
of low-value assets 5 -
AR R & 5 A 51 75% Total minimum lease payments for
DEAKEHENREEE leases previously classified as
R 4egE operating leases under IAS 17 - 16,242

B RIS B A B IR E R BIRR
MG mEERE165  WRABR_-F
—NF—A—BEEYIEER - ARERT
RIRIEE R @5 ERIE 1 7SR D AL E
HENGEREZ EREESE - st AW
% - BE RREO IR AFAES
E-RZT-NF-A-—BOLHERE
FEEER  NEBERAEABERR
FEREEENITE  MIFLAMEREE
AETRAEFEIBARERINBUR -
BIRZ AL - WEBF|LEER - LK
iT2(e) °

Note: The Group has initially applied IFRS 16 using the modified

retrospective approach and adjusted the opening balances at 1
January 2019 to recognise right-of-use assets relating to leases
which were previously classified as operating leases under IAS 17.
The depreciated carrying amount of the finance lease assets which
were previously included in property, plant and equipment is also
identified as a right-of-use asset. After initial recognition of right-
of-use assets at 1 January 2019, the Group as a lessee is required
to recognise the depreciation of right-of-use assets, instead of
the previous policy of recognising rental expenses incurred under
operating leases on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Under
this approach, the comparative information is not restated. See note
2(e).
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(% RHEIE - LA RETT25))

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

14 JRAFHE 2wl E

TREJTHAEEEE  BEXAE
BREIZZENNBRRNER o PT#F

14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

The following list contains only the particulars of

subsidiaries which principally affected the results, assets or

A&7 73 E 3B RR - liabilities of the Group. The class of shares held is ordinary:
TR BBTR
BYREERER B BEfRERA/
Place and date of HER
incorporation/ Issued and fully FEL R RE
AR HE establishment paid up/registered Attributable FEEK
Name of company and operation capital equity interest Principal activities
=3 ik
Direct Indirect
% %
Great Wall Northeast Asia Corporation HEHS 216,521,383%C 100 - RAER
("NAC") Cayman Islands USD216,521,383 Investment holding
—WNAARETZA=R
3 December 1996
Impreza Investments Ltd. (“IIL") EBRERHS 14,700,000 7T = 100 BB
BVI USD14,700,000 Investment holding
—AWARE+—A+H
7 November 1996
Great Wall Dalian Investment Co., Ltd. RERLEE 24,500,000% 7T - 59 REFER
("GWDL") BVI USD24,500,000 Investment holding
—WNEE-A=1=H
23 February 1995
AR m (R&) BRAR (TREARRK]) HE 26,600,000 T - 59 HEEREEMEAR
(B30 ~ (20 R%03) PRC USD26,600,000 EENEEFBRK
Great Wall Food (Dalian) Co., Limited —NAEF+TZARE B NIREEAER
(“GWF-DL") (notes (1), (2) and (3)) 6 December 1995 RERRRGNT

KRB (32M) A FE 2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

Manufacturing and
trading of animal feeds,
husbandry and trading
of poultry and livestock,
processing and trading
of meat and meat
products and foods
processing
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(% 2EEBIN - UARBTTL5])

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

14 R FE A IR () 14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)
ML BRITR
HIREEMIER B BEHERA/
Place and date of HEMER
incorporation/ Issued and fully PEfh iR RE
AFER establishment paid up/registered  Attributable TEEK
Name of company and operation capital equity interest Principal activities
B it
Direct Indirect
% %
BEAKENEEERAR ((HREX HE 19,080,000% 7T - 100 EEREEINEH
R ) (BZE(T) ~ (2%(3) PRC USD19,080,000 RENREEFBRK
Liaoning Great Wall Agri-Industrial Co., —WNEFLAT+NA E NIKEERE
Ltd. ("LGW") (notes (1), (2) and (3)) 19 July 1990 RAER

Manufacturing and
trading of animal feeds,
husbandry and trading
of poultry and livestock,
processing and trading

of meat and meat

products

Great Wall Agritech (Liaoning) Co., EBRUEHE 21,594,944% T - 100 REZR

Limited (“GWALN-BVI") BVI USD21,594,944 Investment holding
—WNEENAT=H
13 September 1990

AR R (RE) BRAF BE 168,440,000 7T - 100 REZR

([GWALN-HK]) Hong Kong HKD168,440,000 Investment holding
Great Wall Agritech (Liaoning) Co., —ANBELAZTHA
Limited ("GWALN-HK") 24 July 1990

—Z— AL 3R Annual Report 2019 | 15
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(BREEEHAI  UARETTZS)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

14 7 FiHE 2 W B 4% (4)

14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)
B AT BEITR
HIREEMZER BH BEHERER/
Place and date of HEMER
incorporation/ Issued and fully FEft IR RE
AR EE establishment paid up/registered  Attributable TEEH
Name of company and operation capital equity interest Principal activities
B EiEE:
Direct Indirect
% %
R EH (RHT) ERAR # 1,562,000%7C - 100  HEREEHMEL
(TRRTAR) (L) - (20%(3) PRC USD1,562,000 Manufacturing and
Great Wall Agri (Heilongjiang) Co., Ltd. —ZEZRFRA_FHH trading of animal feeds
("GWAHLJ") (notes (1), (2) and (3)) 25 May 2005
Dongbei Agri Corporation (“DBC") EERAES 81,744,203% 5 - 100 RAER
BVI USD81,744,203 Investment holding
—NNRET—AZT+H
27 November 1996
AREH(ER) ERAR th 14,500,003 7T - 100 EEREEINEH
(T RRR) (1)~ 2 %(3) PRC USD14,500,000 MIKEENE
Great Wall Agri (Yingkou) Co., Ltd. —NEFNA—R RAE
("GWAYK") (notes (1), (2) and (3)) 1 April 1997 Manufacturing and
trading of animal feeds,
processing and trading
of meat and meat
products
AR (i) ERAR ([HEAMK]) H 14,089,379 7T - 100 HEREEIWEL -
GERVE) PRC USD14,089,379 REREEFBRK
Great Wall Agri (Tieling) Co., Ltd. —NNEFERATRH B NMIREEANE
("GWATL") (notes (1), (2) and (3)) 16 May 1997 RAER

Manufacturing and
trading of animal feeds,
husbandry and trading
of poultry and livestock,
processing and trading
of meat and meat

products

KRB (32M) A FE 2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited
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(% 2EEBIN - UARBTTL5])

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

T B 2wl i 3 (%) 14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)
ML BRITR
HIREEMIER B BEHERA/
Place and date of HEMER
incorporation/ Issued and fully PEfh iR RE
AFER establishment paid up/registered  Attributable TEEK
Name of company and operation capital equity interest Principal activities
B it
Direct Indirect
% %
RILEH (RF)BRLR(IDBCCCY) HE 1,093,000% 7 - 100  EERERSMEH
(FE() ~ (2 1(3) PRC USD1,093,000 Manufacturing and
Dongbei Agri (Changchun) Co., Ltd. “EERENAZT\R trading of animal feeds
("DBC-CC") (notes (1), (2) and (3)) 28 August 2006
B ARRHR SR AR ([DHFT]) HE 2,200,000%7T - 100  EEREESMEL
GENE) PRC USD2,200,000 Manufacturing and
Hunan Greatwall Technologies & Feeds ZEERETANR trading of animal feeds
Co., Ltd. ("DHFT") (notes (1), (2) and 8 October 2006
(3)
Hwabei Agri Corporation ("HAC") EBRRHS 69,013,4363 T - 100 REER
BVI USD69,013,436 Investment holding
—WNWN\F+ZRA=+=R
23 December 1998
AR EE (B BRAR ((FBARK]) B 64,273,9303% 70 - 100 REER
DaChan Wanda (HK) Limited Hong Kong USD64,273,930 Investment holding
("DWHK") —NN\RERAZF<A
26 June 1984

—Z— AL 3R Annual Report 2019 | 97/
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(BREEEHAI  UARETTZS)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

14 7 FiHE 2 W B 4% (4)

14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)
B AT BEITR
HIREEMZER BH BEHERER/
Place and date of HEMER
incorporation/ Issued and fully FEft IR RE
AR EE establishment paid up/registered  Attributable TEEH
Name of company and operation capital equity interest Principal activities
B EiEE:
Direct Indirect
% %
A& (KB ERAF (TREARK]) HhE AR#579,060,000 - 100 EERBEEINEH
GERVT) PRC RMB579,060,000 RENEEFBRK
DaChan Wanda (Tianjin) Co., Ltd. —ANZFE+AZTARA B NIREEANER
(“TWD") (notes (1), (2) and (3)) 26 October 1992 WER
Manufacturing and
trading of animal feeds,
husbandry and trading
of poultry and livestock,
processing and trading
of meat and meat
products
Union Manufacturing Limited (“UML") EBRERHS 7,700,000% 70 - 100 BBER
BVI USD7,700,000 Investment holding
—WNWAFZA+R
7 February 1996
ARER (L8 ARAF ([ EEARK]) H 6,940,000% 7T - 100 R T
GENPIE) PRC USD6,940,000 Foods processing
Greatwall Gourmet (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. —NWAFENAER
("GWGS") (notes (1), (2) and (3)) 5 September 1996
Great Wall Kuang-Ming Investment EBRZHS %717,615,000 = 100 RERR
(BVI) Co., Ltd. (“"GWKM") BVI USD7,615,000 Investment holding
—MEF=A++AH

17 March 1995

KRB (32M) A FE 2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited
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(BZEEEHAI  UARETITZ)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

T B 2wl i 3 (%) 14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)
ML BRITR
HIREEMIER B BEHERA/
Place and date of HfER
incorporation/ Issued and fully PEfh iR RE
AFER establishment paid up/registered  Attributable TEEK
Name of company and operation capital equity interest Principal activities
B it
Direct Indirect
% %

Asia Nutrition Technologies (VN) RBRTHS 7,615,590% 7T - 6551  4AEREEIVEH
Investment Co., Ltd. (“"ANTIC-VN") BVI USD7,615,590 Manufacturing and
(BHZE(1) (note (1)) —NWNENALR trading of animal feeds

7 September 1998

Asia Nutrition Technologies (HN) Co., HME  89,600,000,000#FH/E - 6551 EEREESNEH
Ltd. ("ANTC-HN") Vietnam Vietnamese Dong Manufacturing and
(FF=E(1)) (note (1)) “EE=F—f-+—H ("VND") trading of animal feeds

22 January 2003 89,600,000,000

Asia Nutrition Technologies (VN) Co., ME  190,836,294,000F & - 6551  4EREEINEAH

Ltd. ("ANTC-VN") (Fff&E(1)) (note (1)) Vietnam VND Manufacturing and
—MNEFNA=TNA 190,836,294,000 trading of animal feeds
29 April 1995

Asia Nutrition Technologies (LA) Co., =g 80,393,000,000F & - 6551 HERBEEMHKIEH

Ltd. ("ANTC-LA") (FfEE(1)) (note (1)) Vietnam VND AINE - kERE - B
“ZT+FENAT=H 80,393,000,000 EROKEEY)

13 April 2007 Manufacturing and

trading of feed meal and

related additives, aguatic

products, veterinary and

aguatic medicine

Asia Nutrition Technologies (MV) Co., i 62,400,000,000#% & - 6551 EEREEDYL
Ltd. ("ANTC-MV") (Bif5E(1)) (note (1)) Vietnam VND Manufacturing and

—TZFNAZ1A 62,400,000,000 trading of animal feeds
26 September 2012
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(% RHEIE - LA RETT25))

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

14 7 FiHE 2 W B 4% (4)

14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)
B AT BEITR
HIREEMZER BH BEHERER/
Place and date of HEMER
incorporation/ Issued and fully FEft IR RE
AR EE establishment paid up/registered  Attributable TEEH
Name of company and operation capital equity interest Principal activities
B EiEE:
Direct Indirect
% %
Great Wall Nutrition Technologies Sdn. il 4,373,705 = 100 EERHEEMER
Bhd. ("GWNT") Malaysia Malaysian Ringgit Manufacturing and sales
—WNEENR=H ("MYR") of animal feeds
3 August 1990 4,373,770
Marksville Corporation (“MSV") EERAEE E - 100 RAER
BVI USD1 Investment holding
—EZR+EATHRA
15 June 2007
AR R ERARAR (M)A w AR#20,000,0007 - 100 AERBEIVEHR
&) () R(3) PRC RMB20,000,000 1RRERINEY - BIBRR
DaChan Agricultural Technologies “EEN\ENAZTHRH Rt
(Sichuan) Co., Ltd. ("DAS") (notes (1) 25 August 2008 Manufacturing and
and (3)) trading of animal
feeds and related
additives, research
and consultation on
husbandry
AR (L) ERAF (DAL AR ) w 54,080,000% T - 100 AERBEINEH -
GEIRVIVT) PRC USD54,080,000 MIKEENE
DaChan Food (Hebei) Co., Ltd. ("DFH") =ZZN\F-A=1+/\R RAER
(notes (1), (2) and (3)) 28 February 2008 Manufacturing and

KRB (32M) A FE 2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

trading of animal feeds,
processing and trading
of meat and meat

products
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(% 2EEBIN - UARBTTL5])

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

W B T 2 ) B 38 (4 14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)
ML BETR
RAREEMIR A BARERE/
Place and date of HfER
incorporation/ Issued and fully PEfh iR RE
AFER establishment paid up/registered  Attributable TEEK
Name of company and operation capital equity interest Principal activities
HE ik
Direct Indirect
% %
EREIGEHABRAR (HLREL # 500,000 7T - 100 ER R
a5 ) (3£~ (2R) PRC USD500,000 Management services
Dongbei (Beijing) Consultant Co., Ltd. —ZT\FTA=TH
("DBC-BJ") (notes (1), (2) and (3)) 30 October 2008
AR m (R ERAR ([#BHAMK]) H 3,000,000% 7T - 100 EBEXBREE ML
GEIRVITE) PRC USD3,000,000 REENERRAS S
DaChan Food (Panjin) Co., Ltd. “EEN\F+—A=tNH Trading of poultry and
("DFPJ") (notes (1), (2) and (3)) 28 November 2008 livestock, processing
and trading of meat and
meat products
SMZHERSRMERAR ([N 28 HE AR 50,000,000 - 100 EBFNEH - FEK
&%) (1) - (21RE) PRC RMB50,000,000 BERERZE NI
Yanzhou S&F Farm Co., Ltd. ("YDF") —TT\F=A=TH REERERAER
(notes (1), (2) and (3)) 20 March 2008 Trading of animal feeds,
husbandry and trading
of poultry and livestock,
processing and trading
of meat and meat
products
HEAKRmER AR (THEAMK H AE 166,860,000 - 100 EESYEAL  BEK
Rdal) (1 RE) PRC RMB 166,860,000 BEZRERZE ML
Bengbu DaChan Food Co,, Ltd. (“BDF")  —ZZ/\F+=-A=H REERERAER
(notes (1)and (3)) 3 December 2008 Trading of animal feeds,
husbandry and trading

of poultry and livestock,
processing and trading
of meat and meat
products
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(BREEEHAI  UARETTZS)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

14 7 FiHE 2 W B 4% (4)

14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)
B AT BEITR
HIREEMZER BH BEHERER/
Place and date of HfER
incorporation/ Issued and fully FEft IR RE
AR EE establishment paid up/registered  Attributable TEEH
Name of company and operation capital equity interest Principal activities
B EiEE:
Direct Indirect
% %
BEARRREHBRLA hE 3,300,000%7T - 100  EEREEIDHEL
(IEBARR) (EE() ~ (2(3)) PRC USD3,300,000 Manufacturing and
Qingdao DaChan Technologies Feed “ZT\F+-—A+mA trading of animal feeds
Co., Ltd. ("QDFT") (notes (1), (2) and 14 November 2008
(3)
Miyasun-Great Wall (BVI) Co., Ltd. RBRTRS 5,015,000 70 - 100 REER
("Miyasun-Great Wall") BVI USD5,015,000 Investment holding
—AEFRAT+EAR
17 March 1995
AREERR(NE)BRAR ([EE el 9,880,000 T - 100 RamfT
Raml) (0D - (20%G) PRC USD9,880,000 Foods processing
Miyasun-Great Wall Foods (Dalian) Co., —WAEFHEA=TA
Ltd. ("Miyasun Foods") (notes (1), (2) 20 May 1995
and (3))
AR ESHESERRF ([RKER el 3,800,003 7T - 100  EEREEZWHL
HES]) ()~ @ %E) PRC Manufacturing and
Great Wall Agritech Huludao Co., Ltd. ZEENFEAT=R USD3,800,000 trading of animal feeds
("GWAHLD") (notes (1), (2) and (3)) 13 July 2009
AR e R AR (DARAR]) HhE 1,900,000% 7T - 100  EEREEIDEL
(fE() ~ (2 1(3) PRC Manufacturing and
Great Wall Agri (Henan) Co., Ltd. “ZENFLASTEA USD1,900,000 trading of animal feeds
("GWAHE “)(notes (1), (2) and (3)) 24 July 2009

KRB (32M) A FE 2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited
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(BZEEEHAI  UARETITZ)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

T B 2wl i 3 (%) 14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)
ML BRITR
HIREEMIER B BEHERA/
Place and date of HfER
incorporation/ Issued and fully PEfh iR RE
AFER establishment paid up/registered  Attributable TEEK
Name of company and operation capital equity interest Principal activities
B it
Direct Indirect
% %
RERKAEEYMBEHEERRA w ARH100,0007C - 100 i
(ITDPRI) (BiF&E(1) R(3) PRC RMB100,000 Research and
Tianjin DaChan Prospect Research And “ETNFT—ANA development
Development Co., Ltd. (“TDPR “) 9 November 2009
(notes (1)and (3))
EERAREERSERAR w ARH100,0007C - 100  2HRE - BMEE
(TEEER) (R0 R(3) PRC RMB100,000 RIEE
Zhenglangi DaChan Eco-ranch Co., Ltd. —Z——4%—-H%H Food service, animal
("ZLQ") (notes (1)and (3)) 5 January 2011 husbandry and selling
EEARREERARAF ([TDFHI) RERUEE 5,849,985% T - 6154 REZR
Taixu & DaChan Foods Holdings Co., BVI USD5,849,985 Investment holding
Limited (“TDFH") 22— —%=A=H
3 March 2012
EEAKRmABRAR(TDF)) B 9,000,000% 7T - 65 REER
Taixu & DaChan Foods Co., Limited Hong Kong USD9,000,000 Investment holding
(“TDF") “Z-——ft—H-ThA
29 November 2012
EEAKRR(KE)BRAR w AR#55,500,000 - 65 EBENERRNER
(ITDF-DLY) (BZE(1) ~ (20 K%(3) PRC RMBE5,500,000 Trading of meat and
Taixu & DaChan Foods (Dalian) Co., “Z-—_#hAA-+HA meat products
Limited (“TDF-DL") (notes (1), (2) 25 May 2012

and (3))
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(BREEEHAI  UARETTZS)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

14 7 FiHE 2 W B 4% (4)

14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)
B AT BEITR
HIREEMZER BH BEHERER/
Place and date of HfER
incorporation/ Issued and fully FEft IR RE
AR EE establishment paid up/registered  Attributable TEEH
Name of company and operation capital equity interest Principal activities
B EiEE:
Direct Indirect
% %
China S&F Farm Holdings Co., Limited RERARE 7,000,000%7T - 100 REER
("S&F") BVI USD7,000,000 Investment holding
“T—4%+HA-tH
20 October 2011
WRAKARIR AR AT H 3,000,000% 7T - 100  EEREESWEE
(MUEARK]) (FEE() ~ (2)](3)) PRC USD3,000,000 Manufacturing and
Shandong DaChan Biotechnology Co., —T-——F5-At=H trading of animal feeds
Limited (“SDB") (notes (1), (2) and 12 January 2012
(3)
ANERE AN ENHEERAT H AK#1,000,0007C - 40 FEERESRIREE
(DLDCJ) (BitzE(1) % (3)) PRC RMB1,000,000 Poultry farms
DaChan Livestock Development Co., “E-—FXA+EA construction & lease
Ltd. ("DLDC") (notes (1) and (3)) 14 June 2012
R EERERBRARAR (5] h AR#20,000,0007 - 53 i
(P &E() B3) PRC RMB 20,000,000 Research and
Green Pac Bio Co., Ltd. (“GPB") (notes —Z—HF+-F+MH development
(1) and (3)) 14 December 2015
EERKRM(HR) BRATF H AR #40,000,0007 - 65 MINEENEm
(ITDF-BBI) (BitE (1) R(3) PRC RMB 40,000,000 RAS M
Taixu & DaChan Foods (Bengbu) Co.,, —Z—~&+—A-+HH Processing and trading
Limited (“TDF-BB") (notes (1) and 25 November 2016 of meat and meat

(3))

KRB (32M) A FE 2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

products
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

T B 2wl i 3 (%) 14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)
ML BRITR
HIREEMIER B BEHERA/
Place and date of HEMER
incorporation/ Issued and fully PEfh iR RE
AFER establishment paid up/registered  Attributable TEEK
Name of company and operation capital equity interest Principal activities
HE it
Direct Indirect
% %
REBXRMEZERAR ([TCC-TDI) HE AR¥1,000,000 - 55 BEENEm
GEININE) PRC RMB 1,000,000 KA
Tianjin Chao Cheng Food TradeCo., “Z—+F+A+=RH Trading of meat and
Ltd. ("“TCC-TD") (notes (1) and (3)) 12 October 2017 meat products
REMREEREARAR([TISP)) HE ARH#100,0007 - 100 FENHERE
(P20 R(3) PRC RMB 100,000 Swine raising and
TIAN JIN SUPER PIG AST Co., Ltd. - \FZA=+1AH selling
("TJSP") (notes (1) and (3)) 26 February 2018
Ant Feed Co., Ltd. ("ANT-PP") PR 4,000,000%7T 65.51 HE RSN
Cambodia USD 4,000,000 Manufacturing and
—Z-N\E—AAH trading of animal feeds
5 January 2018
B Notes:
(1) AR BB EEBAERSZE - ZER (1) The English translation of the company names is for reference only.
FEEARZINEBNBEARRE The official names of these entities established in the PRC are in

Chinese. The official names of these entities established in Vietnam

B A TBAME R EDATE R © are in Vietnamese.

(2) ZERFBIREAK A B 81 RINEE (2) These entities established in the PRC are wholly foreign-owned
B enterprises.

(B) ZERFEBEARINERHIARERE (3)  These entities established in the PRC are limited liability companies.
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AARBTILE)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

14

7 B I 2 W) i 38 (48 14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)
TEREINEBAREENME AR (K& The following table lists out the information relating to the
BB S AIFERER)NER - TX subsidiaries of the Group which has material non-controlling
Fr25 2 B3 E R E A2 R L AT interests. The summarised financial information presented
ZBHE o below represents the amounts before any inter-company
elimination.
R0 FNE
2019 2018
ARETR ARETTL
RMB'000 RMB'000
ANTIC-VN GWDL TOF TDFH DLDC  ANTICWN GWDL TDF TDFH DLDC
FARESEAL  Noncontroling inerests
percentage 34.49% 41,00% 35,00% 38.46% 60.00% 34.49% 41.00% 35.00% 38.46% 60.00%
FREE Nors<urtent assets 3605 15426 M08 15 65197 301 134 T8 73 699
THLE Current assets 646,780 414,268 97,689 65,784 12,644 612,836 397,28 67,029 43555 9553
ESEIEL Non-current liahilties (35,752) (1,604) (22,200 (14,430) - (20,590) - (22,200 (14.430) =
it Current iabltes (G0gos) (132852 (6a1)  (207) (262 (B3I (46229 G070 %191 (7289
EEF Net assets 440,654 434,338 73301 4739 5219 308,642 394529 71315 46,107 6,604
FOREREAE  Camyingamount of
non-controlling interests 151,982 178079 25,655 18221 3131 127,14 161,756 24960 17733 3992
WA Revenue 2729863 1,202,846 239,038 239,038 - 2589719 1,136,769 140,054 140,054 -
EHRAENEEE  Profitand totd comprehensive
income 118,858 53,258 11,780 1,656 6,740 65,840 65,464 5430 3490 (2,933)
AREEEREE AT Poftalocated to
non-controlling interests 4099 21,836 413 294 4,004 2,108 26,840 1,901 1342 (1,760)
RFEERERRTZHS Didend pad to
non-controling interests (18.426) (5,653) (3,475) (2.482) (4905)  (18301) [5,440) - - -
OREARERN  Exchange resenve alocated fo
EifE Non-controling interests 2,268 1% a b)) - 3,885 30 15 109 =
HETEHERERE Coshflowfromoperatingactiites 189108 17,718 1626 166 1208 G508 M8 [(4B0G (4508 (6296
REEIFECALRE Cahfowfominesingaciviies 32446 (6544  (3134) 330 7 277478 B30 (28] [1285) (5,383)
BERDHEELRE Cashfowfomfancngactiites  (208278) (13788 16,766 12,795 B17) W6 (286 26,101 26,101 -

ANTIC-VNZ B 75 & ¥ 2 FI|ANTIC-VN
ANTC-HN ~ ANTC-VN » ANTC-LA %
ANTC-MVZ #7 & %48 - GWDLZ W 7%
ERZ2FGWDLEGWF-DLZ 4R A 2

#5 o TDF 2B ER 25 TDF R TDF-
DLZ#4RA%ME - TDFHZ SIS E KL 25
TDFH » TDF % TDF-DLZ 4R A ¥4 (T8
FETDF 2 I s ) °

KRB (32M) A FE 2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

The financial information for ANTIC-VN shows the
consolidated results of ANTIC-VN, ANTC-HN, ANTC-
VN, ANTC-LA and ANTC-MV. The financial information
for GWDL shows the consolidated results of GWDL and
GWE-DL. The financial information for TDF shows the
consolidated results of TDF and TDF-DL. The financial
information for TDFH shows the consolidated results of
TDFH, TDF and TDF-DL excluding non-controlling interests
of TDF.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(% 2EEBIN - UARBTTL5])

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

15 JAHESE AR 2 B A w] B RE 2 15 INTERESTS IN EQUITY-ACCOUNTED
INVESTEES

—ZE-hF —ZET-N\F

2019 2018
i NG Interests in associates (a) 78,019 78,457
(a) BEEAW (a) Associates
TRINRAEFHE AT ZE The following list contains the particulars of the
B A ES AR ARETE Group's associates, all of which are unlisted corporate
B NE  WETEIRE : entities whose quoted market price is not available:
Tgst =
Proportion of ownership interest
BiERAR
Rau AN AEEH 2RAERE
PEERE e EREs  ANERA Held by
Form of Place of HER Group's # equity- IEXE
o NGEA business ~ incorporation Registered effective Held by accounted Principal
Name of associates structure  and operation capital interest subsidiaries investees activity
AEERRMARAA A HE ARME5000000T 40% 40% - FEREE
TianJin Hai Rei Food Limited (“HRF-TJ")  Incorporated PRC RMB 5,000,000 KERR
Manufactory&
trading of Frozen
Foods
DaChan (Asia-Pacific) Ltd. (“DAPL" * Fijia BE 1200000057 4% 6.7% - FEREE
Incorporated Vietnam ~ USD12,000,000 KERH
Manufactory &
trading of
aquatic feeds
DaChan (VN) Company Limited Fijia BE 1180000057 4% - 100% FEREE
["DVN")* Incorporated Vietnam ~ USD 11,800,000 KERH
Manufactory &
trading of
aquatic feeds

—Z— AU 43R Annual Report 2019 | 207/
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(BREEEHAI  UARETTZS)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

15 A HE A IR 2 B2 v i RE 23

(%)

(@) BEAFE ()

15 INTERESTS IN EQUITY-ACCOUNTED
INVESTEES (continued)

(a)

Associates (continued)

i =

Proportion of ownership interest

N
AR AEE BROARE
BEERES it EhEs  AWERA Held by
Form of Place of HER Group's BE equity- TEEK
BENAAR business  incorporation Registered effective Held by accounted Principal
Name of associates structure  and operation capital interest subsidiaries investees activity
REEREEFHEREARAR A i ARH 10% 10% - FHERE
(TREEREX]) Incorporated PRC 423,500,000 LEBR%
Advent Prosperity Real Estate RMB 423,500,000 Real estate
Development Co., Ltd. ("APRD") * development
REERAEFHEREARAR &related
EEARERARAR(MG)) ARy EBRAES 30000007 0% 30% - EERE
Taiwan Interational Gene Co., Ltd. Incorporated BVI USD 3,000,000 Swine breed
("TIG")
B RAm(RE)ERAA AL Gk ARH 40% 40% - EERER
Rupp & DaChan Foods (Tianjin) Co., Ltd.  Incorporated PRC 50,000,0007C A5
("RDF-TJ) RMB 50,000,000 Manufactory &
trading of
dairy products
* HREBERREEL2RATES * The Group has determined that it has significant influence

e AEERAEAEAVE
71+ B REIER S - DAPL

KDVND 8 A& N A

bt B & R R A ESAA

FRER B BTE R -

KRB (32M) A FE 2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

because it has representation on the board of the investee, so
APRD, DAPL and DVN are classified as associates.

All of the above associates are accounted for using
the equity method in the consolidated financial
statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(BZEEEHAI  UARETITZ)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

2 ) W BE g 15 INTERESTS IN EQUITY-ACCOUNTED

INVESTEES (continued)
W5k 23 W) (4) (a) Associates (continued)
TRERBWLE AR ZHEER - Summarised financial information of associates,
W E EARA B HREAN 2 REE reconciled to the carrying amounts in the consolidated
HEITHER ¢ financial statements, are disclosed below:
“E-NE
2019
REERAR DAPL RDF-TJ TIG HRF-TJ &3
APRD DAPL RDF-TJ TIG HRF-TJ Total
Be)8LH Gross amounts of the
associates
¥nBEE Non-current assets 122,749 80,203 14917 20,929 1221 240,109
HHEE Current assets 507,820 160,691 15,498 - 3,640 687,649
FrBakE Non-current liabilities - - (8,500) - - (8,500)
THaE Current liabilities (43,027) (172,375) (3,077) - (2,668) (221,147)
Ea Equity 587,542 68,609 18,838 20,929 2,193 698,111
WA Revenue 4,464 296,114 11,687 - 4,667 316,932
REERR/ (BB R2E  Profit/loss) and total
Ve comprehensive income
for the year 28,577 (2,455) (7,191) - (461) 17,870
BREEMERRESR  Reconciled to the Group's
NAERHE interest in the associates
BUNAEEREZEE  Gross amounts of net assets of
the associate 587,542 68,609 18,838 20,929 2,193 698,111
MEARE Held by subsidiaries 10% 6.7% 40% 30% 40%
REEEEHENT Group's share of net assets
BEFE of the associates 58,754 4,574 7,535 6,279 877 78,019
GAYVERRMAKAE  Caryingamount in the
consolidated financial
statements 58,754 4,574 1535 6,279 871 78,019

ZZ— NEF R Annual Report 2019
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(% RHEIE - LA RETT25))

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

15 JAREfE AR 2 B W) iY BE 4 15 INTERESTS IN EQUITY-ACCOUNTED

(%) INVESTEES (continued)
(a) B () (a) Associates (continued)
“E-)\&
2018
AEEREE DAPL RDF-TJ TIG HRF-TJ &t
APRD DAPL RDF-TJ TIG HRF-TJ Total
Nk Gross amounts of the
associates
¥RBEE Non-current assets 725 85,319 16,941 20,590 1,022 123597
ROEE Current assets 676,228 176,322 12,676 - 4,019 869,245
FhBakE Non-current liabilities - - - - - _
nEEE Current liabilties (117,987) (191,578) (1,990) - (2,387) (313,942)
ER Equity 558,966 70,063 26,627 20,590 2,654 678,900
WA Revenue 1,198,265 344,119 1,445 - 4,949 1,548,778
REEER/ (BB RAE  Profitfloss) and total
e comprehensive income
for the year 174,836 (10,654) (7,260) = 159 157,081
BREENEEATESE  Reconciled to the Group's
Lk interest in the associates
BENAEEZEZEE  Gross amounts of net assets
of the associate 558,966 70,063 26,627 20,590 2,654 678,900
HBLEHEA Held by subsidiaries 10% 6.7% 40% 30% 40%
REEEEHENFL Group's share of net assets
BERE of the associates 55,897 4,670 10,651 6,177 1,062 78,457
GAVERRAMERAR  Carying amount in the
consolidated financial
statements 55,897 4,670 10,651 6,177 1,062 78,457

230 | A& (M) GRA T DaChan Food (Asia) Limited
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(% 2EEBIN - UARBTTL5])

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

16 INVENTORIES

(a) Inventories in the consolidated statement of financial

position comprise:

ZE-RE —TN\F

2019 2018

YRR Animal feeds 464,843 480,853
RE ML ER Poultry and chilled meats 85,432 61,648
IMIES Processed food 294,438 216,217
JHFEm Consumables 89,969 88,413
934,682 847,131

(b) WA B MR R T W

(b) The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as

T an expense is as follows:
—E-NF —E-N\F
2019 2018
BEHEFERAE Carrying amount of inventories sold 6,662,791 6,037,955
TFE M Write-down of inventories 7,159 25,268
B 7 Reversal of write-down of inventories (20,583) (18,483)
6,649,367 6,044,740

R NE+-_A=+—B2ZEEH
BRRE - ERAERFEENERRE
ZEEELREARK17,776,0007T
(ZZ—N\F : AR#31,200,0007T) °
BRULBEN  RE2E—AER=ZT N\
FE+-A=+—H WEFERTEH
SEEFIME -

BO—FEsFEMEIER-F
—NFEHEERETEMH -

On the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2019, a provision of RMB17,776,000 (2018:
RMB31,200,000) was made against those inventories
with net realisable value lower than the carrying values.
Other than this provision, none of the inventories as at 31
December 2019 and 2018 were carried at net realisable

value.

The reversal of write-down of inventories made in prior year

was the result of sales of impaired inventories in 2019.

ZZ— NEF R Annual Report 2019
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(% RHEIE - LA RETT25))

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

17 EWE&EE BIOLOGICAL ASSETS
E REE
Breeder P Broiler &5t
poultry Broilers breeder eggs Total
BREFE Net carrying amount
RZZE—N\F At 1 January 2018
—H—H 9,677 108,866 5,508 124,051
RE 8BTS Increase due to
0 purchases/raising 6,371 1,053,591 131,182 1,191,144
R S A Depreciation provided
during the year (8,460) - - (8,460)
H=E5% R4 Decrease due to culling/
hatching - (1,053,266) (122,740) (1,176,006)
AEA KT L Decrease due to
retirement and deaths (1,614) - - (1,614)
RZZE—)\F At 31 December 2018
+=—A=+—H 5,974 109,191 13,950 129,115
HEE 8BTS Increase due to
N purchases/raising 22,706 1,435,427 255,671 1,713,804
FE RS Depreciation provided
during the year (3,702) = = (3,702)
R34 Decrease due to culling/
hatching = (1,400,247) (255,085) (1,655,332)
HAZEAMLTIH Y  Decrease due to
retirement and deaths (14,341) - - (14,341)
RZZE—NF At 31 December 2019
+=—A=+—H 10,637 144,371 14,536 169,544
EMEBERRESR  NERAEE - Biological assets comprise breeder poultry, broilers and

broiler breeder eggs.

ME - B8 RAHEARANREARE
BEIN HEAABEIEEAE

£ o different from their fair value.

Broilers, breeder poultry and broiler breeder eggs are stated

at cost less any impairment losses, which are not materially

232
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(% 2EEBIN - UARBTTL5])

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

18 MEWHE 5 IRk 18 TRADE RECEIVABLES
—E-hF —ZT—N\F
2019 2018
U E 5 B8R Trade receivables 321,036 338,141
B REREME Less: allowance of doubtful debts 25,193 30,936
295,843 307,205
FEWE 5 BR A & B R &9 BR R 9 A 20 As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of
N trade receivables is as follows:

19

2019 2018
e Gwew R 214947 215087
BRI = 180K 1-180 days past due 78,406 96,295
#H1812365K 181-365 days past due 7,136 8,731
#61 BAER B 365K More than 365 days past due 20,547 18,028
L TR 106,089 Bl
321,036 338,141
AEE—RATEEFAEI0AZE60AH] The Group normally allows a credit period ranging from 30
EEH - BEAASEEERENFER days to 60 days to its customers. Further details on the
HHIEES0() © Group's credit policy are set out in note 30(a).
Ll W 5k YL % LA ok JEH 19 OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
PREPAYMENTS
—E-hF —T—)\F
2019 2018
A Y e R E R ) VAT recoverable (i) 385,916 416,279
& R IER ) Deposits and prepayments (i) 171,024 80,843
BRTET Advances to staff 7,671 11,281
HAt Others 12,433 33,370
577,044 541,773
R IR EI SRR B E R ) Less: non-current VAT recoverable (/) 97,762 84,924
e Current 479,282 456,849

—Z—W4FF5R Annual Report 2019 | 9373
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(% RHEIE - LA RETT25))

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

19 A ek IR B FLA sk OE (4)

() PIHG I E R S AT S R AR S 1R
AR A ARB) AR ER - R
B AEEEER EZEAENHEE
HERTEAEHEERNRSE
BEHMEERERMEL - &
RNAEERAE  HE-_T—NF
+=ZA=+—8  BREAEEH
BIBE SR —F &8 A/ AT IR [l
HEF A AREI7,762,0007T (=
E-NF+-HA=1+—8: AR
#84,924,0007T) °

i) e RENKEEREE R
A A 7 1 O TR 2B SR R LA
B -
AT At O M SR (2 93 B MR B A
0B EHR—FAE -
20 Bi&RBlEFEY RIMLE S
e R

(a) BlERBEFEWLL

19 OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
PREPAYMENTS (continued)

(i)

(ii)

The VAT recoverable represents the unutilised input
VAT eligible for offsetting against future output
VAT. The unutilised input VAT arose mainly due
to the insufficient output VAT on sales of chicken
meat to offset the input VAT on purchases of live
chickens from contract farmers. The directors of the
Company are of the opinion that the VAT recoverable
as at 31 December 2019 which will be utilised after
one year is RMB97,762,000 (31 December 2018:
RMB84,924,000) based on the Group's budget.

Deposits and prepayments consist of advance
payments made to suppliers for purchases of raw

materials and other prepaid expenses.

All of other receivables (including amounts due from
related parties) are expected to be recovered within

one year.

20 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND

OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION

(a)

Cash and cash equivalents comprise:

“2-nE T N\F

2019 2018
R B ERR RigE Cash and cash equivalents in the
ReRERTHRE R consolidated statement of financial
REEEY position and in the consolidated cash
flow statement 370,102 408,721

RELB M (Z5M) BPR A & DaChan Food (Asia) Limited
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(% 2EEBIN - UARBTTL5])

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

20 BERBEEFEYDEEB 4 20 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND
mE R () OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION
(continued)
(b)  BUEIGB)E AN A EZ BHE (b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing
activities:
ERREMFIE
Loans and HEaE
Interest Lease
payables Liabilities
(Bt3E)
(Note)
R=ZB-NF+=A=+—H At 31 December 2018 1,135,576 -
AR FE FA R BR B 75 3R 5 % 2| 251655 Initial application of IFRS 16 - 51,086
R=Z-nF—-F—H At 1 January 2019 1,135,576 51,086
MERSREEE Changes from financing cash flows:
IS IRITE RS RIA Proceeds from new bank loans 731,541 -
HERFERAE A Proceeds from new loans from government 20,165 -
BRIRITER Repayment of bank loans (1,007,552) -
BERFIE Interest paid (41,984) -
BERHEZERL D Capital element of lease rentals paid (6,044)
BTS2 FEEHD Interest element of lease rentals paid (3,964)
BMERSRELH BT Total changes from financing cash flows (297,830) (10,008)
[ 5 A% Exchange adjustments 3,209 908
HAt &8 Other change
7 85X (FfiE6(a) Interest expenses(note 6(a)) 41,896 3,964
HAA R AT R & Mg ANy Increase in lease liabilities from entering
HEARE into new leases during the period - 46,896
Hit# Bz Total other change 41,896 50,860
R-EBE-NFE+=-A=+-—H At 31 December 2019 882,851 92,846

Mt - AEBEEBEETEWETRE
PRI A 75 ¥ 5 AR RIS 1655 - I
ABR-_ZE-—NF-—A—BHH
EEER - AR L ATIRIB R &
FEREITROERKEEE
NEBHECHEARE - R
2(e) °

Note: The Group has initially applied IFRS 16 using the modified
retrospective method and adjusted the opening balances at
1 January 2019 to recognise lease liabilities relating to leases
which were previously classified as operating leases under
IAS 17. See notes 2(e).
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(% RHEIE - LA RETT25))

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

20 BeRBEHEYRHEHEE 20 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND

WE B (%) OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION
(continued)
b)) MEWNBELANAMGEZ HIE (b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing
(4) activities: (continued)

ERRENFIR

Loans and HEEE

Interest Lease

payables Liabilities

RZE-N\E—-A—H At 1 January 2018 900,905 =
MERSRELE Changes from financing cash flows:

S IRITE RS RIA Proceeds from new bank loans 1,105,376 =

SN E RS TIE Proceeds from new loans from government 62,000 =

BEBITER Repayment of bank loans (940,622) =

ERHE Interest paid (35,182) -

BERESRELHEH Total changes from financing cash flows 191,572 =

B 5 % Exchange adjustments 7,692 =

Hih# g Other change

7 SR % (Fi7E6(a) Interest expenses(note 6(a)) 35,407 =

Hib B e85 Total other change 35,407 =

R=—Z—N\F+=-B=+—H At31December 2018 1,135,576 -

KRB (32M) A FE 2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(% 2EEBIN - UARBTTL5])

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

20 BleRBIEHEYRHABEE 20 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND

mE R () OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION
(continued)
(c) FEBI& R : (¢) Total cash outflow for Leases:
HENBRESRERPBEEUTS Amounts included in the cash flow statement for
8 : leases comprise the following:

—ZE-hF —ZET-N\F

2019 2018
(B 3E)
(Note)
REEREREN Within operating cash flows 3,444 16,242
REERESREA Within financing cash flows 10,008 =
13,452 16,242
Mzt : aAMiEE20(b)ZE20(c) it - £R& Note: As explained in the note 20(b) to note 20(c), the adoption of
B PR B s 3 5 2 A1 55165 5| ABE IFRS 16 introduces a change in classification of cash flows of
ETHEXNNRERESEE certain rentals paid on leases. The comparative amounts have
B o LBREFIESS o not been restated.
ZESTHETYAR These amounts relate to the following:
S = ST
2019 2018
EfNHEERES Lease rentals paid 13,452 16,242

—Z— AL 4R Annual Report 2019 | 237/
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(% RHEIE - LA RETT25))

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

21 JEAHE 5 MR 21 TRADE PAYABLES
—E-NF —=—N\F
2019 2018
JERTE SRR Trade payables 557,080 493,192
FrE e B SERTEHR —F AT © The trade payables are expected to be settled within one
year.
REEHR - BN E SRR DT As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of
LU trade payables is as follows:
—E-hEF —ZE-N\F
2019 2018
BNER Current 357,418 298,783
DHA30K 6 B Less than 30 days past due 123,711 137,570
31Z260K 5 Hf 31-60 days past due 16,883 24,730
612 90K %1 HA 61-90 days past due 8,783 14,751
90K LA %1 HA More than 90 days past due 50,285 17,358
eme® . Amountspastdve ... 199662 194,409
557,080 493,192
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(% 2EEBIN - UARBTTL5])

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

OTHER PAYABLES AND AMOUNTS DUE

KIE TO RELATED PARTIES
—E-NEF —T-N\F
2019 2018
$HE 1F00) Sales rebate (i) 151,179 138,253
e I8 RBeNHME[NEA  Salaries, wages, bonuses and
other benefits payable 128,169 104,426
AT ER Accrued expenses 79,462 62,175
BHES Contract performance deposits 27,900 45,256
BEETEEERNIIE Payables for purchase of fixed assets 23,318 13,614
JiE 1~ B ESE A 70 (BM45E29(e)) Amounts due to related parties (note 29 (e)) 46,100 46,100
Hith Others 13,966 22,740
470,094 432,564
) AREXKBSEAREE  ANEEE (i) In order to promote the sales of livestock feeds, the
HEEENETE - Rt - BRI Group launched an incentive scheme where a rebate
EDAEEMESE TGRE - Alg as a percentage of sales amount is payable to the
MEXNREEREE Ta St sales agents if they can achieve certain criteria as set
H 2B - REENBH TR by the Group. The incentive rebate resulted in variable
8 - AEEFRBHEEEER consideration. The Group estimated the amount of
SEREE AT ERESRE - variable consideration including in the transaction
price using the expected value.
FFr 78 B Ath FE < SR 18 K FE A< B BEE A 3018 All of other payables and amounts due to related parties are

R —FAXL

expected to be settled within one year.

B 23 PROVISIONS
—E-hEF —T-N\F
2019 2018
®n—A—H At 1 January 1,099 3,719
F R IR B Provisions reversed during the year (1,099) (2,620)
Kn+=—A=+—8” At 31 December - 1,099
AEBEFIVETRSHESH %56 The Group entered into certain farm lease contracts which
A ] i A A B RT 49 75 S2 A B (E s BT can be canceled with paying compensation or penalties
BE - RZT—NFE+=-A=+—8H" to the other party. As at 31 December 2019, the Group
BREFTEHEEENE Em  AEEEN reassessed and reversed the provisions amounting to

T M J ol A R #51,099,0007T ©

RMB1,099,000, as all related contracts have been expired.
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(BREEEHAI  UARETTZS)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

24 FHBEfE

(a) ZAMUERMERWT

24 INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS

(a) Loans were repayable as follows:

—E-NF —=—N\F
2019 2018
RITERK Bank loans
— AR —FANEE — repayable within 1 year 531,149 272,216
—AR—FRER - repayable after 1 year
MEREE but within 2 years 168,301 510,873
—ARMFERER - repayable after 2 years
AFRNEE but within 5 years 101,007 290,170
800,457 1,073,259
REBAFOITESRER Loans of industry support from government
—HR—FRBER — repayable after 1 year
MERNEERE but within 2 years 62,000 =
—ERMFERER - repayable after 2 years
AFEAEE but within 5 years 20,165 62,000
82,165 62,000
B Total loans 882,622 1,135,259
B DiEAEREAERBER  Less: Loans repayable within 1 year
—FRNERENER classified as current liabilities 531,149 272,216
DERIIERDEENER Loans classified as non-current liabilities 351,473 863,043

KRB (32M) A FE 2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(BZEEEHAI  UARETITZ)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

24 INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS

(continued)
(b) &K (b) Terms
—ZE-hF —E—N\F
2019 2018
EIRIRIRITERR - Unsecured bank loans:
—EEFENFHF420% - Fixed interest rate ranging from 4.20%
£5.16% (ZF—)\F : t0 5.16% per annum (2018: 3.60% to
G4£3.60%%55.77%) 5.77% per annum) 108,470 136,872
—FBEFENFEFF294% - Floating interest rate ranging from 2.94%
£540% (ZZF—N\F : 10 5.40% per annum (2018: 2.41%
FF2.41%%26.50%) t0 6.50% per annum) 691,987 936,387
800,457 1,073,259
BT E R Unsecured government loans
—BEEFMET 5% — Fixed interest rate at 7.5% 20,165 -
—RE — Interest free 62,000 62,000
82,165 62,000
HuEsR Total loans 882,622 1,135,259
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25 HMEAM 25 LEASE LIABILITIES

TRETASBEHEGEN S RBE

s BRfE R R E BUPR B R 2 I 58

16552 B FISREEAA - current and previous reporting periods and at the date of
transition to IFRS 16:

The following table shows the remaining contractual

maturities of the Group’s lease liabilities at the end of the

“F-AFt=A=+-A ~T-NF—A—A )
31 December 2019 1 January 2019 (Note)
BEAE REHE
ARHRE EEHE NRERE REME
Present value of A% Present value of e
the minimum  Total minimum the minimum Total minimum

lease payments  lease payments  lease payments lease payments

—FR Within 1 year 6,340 10,624 3,162 5,513
—FRERER After 1 year but within 2 years 5,440 9,430 2,691 4,917
MEEERER After 2 years but within 5 years 13,379 24,003 5,159 11,238
AF% After 5 years 67,687 103,765 40,074 72,491

92,846 147,822 51,086 94,159

B ARG FBAZE Less: total future interest

expenses (54,976) (43,073)

HEMNRNRE Present value of lease Labilities 92,846 51,086
MieE © AEEE A EISET WA S X R AR Note: The Group has initially applied IFRS 16 using the modified
HSRELERE 165 WAER=-F retrospective approach and adjusted the opening balances at 1
—NF—A—BNEEL @ ER January 2019 to recognise lease liabilities relating to leases which
RIRIRER ST ERE1 7R EREE were previously classified as operating leases under IAS 17. Further
HENHERR FRBEZBERGK details on the impact of the transition to IFRS 16 are set out in note

BERLBF1ROTZE 2 E LRI 2(e).
liSEEZIOK
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BA RS R BT RE

Notes to the Financial Statements
(% 2EEBIN - UARBTTL5])

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

26 TAXATION IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Ff A S IR 3 v B 1B R - (a) Current taxation in the consolidated statement of

financial position:

—E-NF ZZT-N\F

2019 2018

REH) At the beginning of the year 4,526 2,209

FRFTSTEE Provision for income tax for the year 41,402 24,225

FREMFTER Income tax paid in the year (26,519) (21,945)

[ERE ) 2 e Effect of movements in exchange rates 8 37

RER At the end of the year 19,417 4,526
& - Represented by:

FERTET1S L Income tax payable 19,417 4,526

19,417 4,526
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26 R IR DL T BEIE ()

(b) EREEBIEE E (A #E)

ERNB RS MBHRE D RR
EBIERIEEE, /(88 MAR
HE REEBHIT :

26 TAXATION IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(continued)

(b)

Movement of deferred tax assets/(liabilities) during the

year

The components of deferred tax assets/(liabilities)
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position and the movements during the year are as

follows:

fERE
it
Depreciation HEgE- BERAR GRREERE
alowance EhsE TFEE  AHEHTE  Depreciation
in excess of BERE  Impaiment HAFE  Salesrebate  chargeof
the related  Provision for loss - Allowable andother  right-of-use it
depreciation ~inventories  receivables tax loss aceruals assets Total
RE-NE-R-A At January 2019 (497) 1245 30 1515 289 - 21375
IEABEZ (R /A (Charged)Credited fo consolidted
(F3E76) income statement note 7l (1,558) 38 (1401) (1515) 1996 361 (1731)
HZE-NETZA=F-H  At31 December 2019 (2,085) 1631 1821 - 23,88 361 25,64
#N=F-N\E-A-R At 1 January 2018 (336) 7 1,788 1515 20,504 - 217%
BRGABRE(R) /5N (Charged)Credited to consolidated
(F3E7te) income statement [note 7 (161) 918 14% - 2614 - 123
HZE-\ETZAZF-B  At31 December 2018 {197 1245 30 1515 7890 - 27375

KRB (32M) A FE 2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

26 R EABGOIR LR BLE () 26 TAXATION IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(continued)
(o) HEMEBORMEZBE (¢) Reconciliation to the consolidated statement of financial
position

—®B-hE —T-NF

2019 2018
RERE AR R Deferred tax assets recognised in the
HRAIECHIHEE consolidated statement of financial
position 26,094 27,872
NN P W Deferred tax liabilities recognised in the
ERRELETIEA & consolidated statement of financial
position (450) (497)
25,644 27,375
(d)  RHERELEBIEE B (d) Deferred tax assets not recognised
RIEH 3 (p) FTE B & 5T IBUR - In accordance with the accounting policy set out in
ARAE ARG ER R EET L note 3(p), the Group has not recognised deferred
BE A AR B TR S 18 ) R SR FE ER tax assets in respect of cumulative tax losses of
Bah  MASERFRFTHIE RMB604,896,000 (2018: losses of RMB708,328,000)
518 A R#604,896,0007T (== as it is not probable that future taxable profits against
—N\% : 5B AR708,328,000 which the losses can be utilised will be available in
TO) ERIEER B E E - MIBEIE the relevant tax jurisdiction and entity. The tax losses
AIEERF o can be carried forward for 5 years.

—Z— AL 3R Annual Report 2019 | 245



246

PRk MY

Notes to the Financial Statements
(% RHEIE - LA RETT25))

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

26
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B £ J 5 51K Dt 2 v B (4)

(e)

oA i 20 M A2 58 I £ 13

RIBREFHBE  HIMREER
HEBEMNINEDEMRENREAR
XIH10%EMB - RIFC R W
EERE - RIETBEEREER] L
B E - ERERILARE
AR B E B E A R ER
HAR B TR R R EE% © RIB
REIF TR BN RR I
AEERBETEKERRE=
ZET+E T ZA=T—HAAXD
R A 2 FE Y B S FEH S B TR
- AREXRBETEKER
BAEZZEENF—H—AEEH
Z W B RIZR ST S FEANEL
It W TR R ARHEIT DK
A - Ak BT R R A AR
7K 7 BN FERIEERIR

R_F-hFt+-_A=+—8"
B8 /

N AR D IR E A FE R
MEEABARMKS57,962,000
(ZZE—-—NF : AR%
473,925,0007T) ° BB ZEH B
R RIMIR B BR AN A BE S &
BAREEAERARRETE DR
A R D IR S BT
BRI 2 fE T TR e R IR A A 1R
BEAR®A7,645,000L (=&
—\&F : AR¥38,845,0007T) °

=
i

ol

26 TAXATION IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(continued)

(e)

Deferred tax liabilities not recognised

Under the new PRC tax law, dividends received by
foreign investors from their investment in foreign-
invested enterprises are subject to withholding tax
at a rate of 10 percent unless reduced by treaty.
Pursuant to a tax treaty between the PRC and Hong
Kong, the investment holding companies established
in Hong Kong are subject to a reduced withholding
tax rate of 5 percent on dividends they receive from
their PRC subsidiaries. Pursuant to the grandfathering
treatments of the new PRC tax law, dividends
receivable by the Group from its PRC subsidiaries
in respect of its undistributed profits prior to 31
December 2007 are exempted from the withholding
tax. Dividends receivable by the Group from its PRC
subsidiaries in respect of its profits earned since
1 January 2008 will be subject to the withholding
tax. Accordingly, deferred tax would be recognised
for undistributed retained earnings of the PRC
subsidiaries to the extent that the earnings would be

distributed in the foreseeable future.

At 31 December 2019, temporary differences relating
to the undistributed profits of subsidiaries amounted
to RMB557,962,000 (2018: RMB473,925,000).
Deferred tax liabilities of RMB47,645,000 (2018:
RMB38,845,000) have not been recognised in respect
of the tax that would be payable on the distribution
of these retained profits as the Company controls the
dividend policy of these subsidiaries and it has been
determined that it is probable that these profits will
not be distributed in the foreseeable future.
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

27 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS

(a) Movements in components of equity

The reconciliation between the opening and
closing balances of each component of the Group’s
consolidated equity is set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity. Details of the
changes in the individual components of equity of the
Company between the beginning and the end of the
year are set out below:

HRHAER
AR
i RiteE FIN:E ERGE  Sharebasel REER
Share Share Contributed Translation payment Retained ot
capitl premium surplus TESEIVE T6SeIve profi Total

fiore)  (MsEoan)  (oma)  (RE7dm) (S22
note27c)  (ote 27l Mote 27l (note 27(lliv)  (note 27(d)v)

RIE-NE-A-R  AttJanvary 2019 97,92 584,042 41,215 (100,562 - 387617 1,710,232
EREERRRNRS  Foutysetted sharebased

payment transactions - (446) - - - - (446)
ERER Profit for th year - - - - - 2181 2,181
EtAENG Other comprehensive income - - - 36,732 - - 3673
HZE-NETZA=F-H At31 December 2019 992 583,596 4,215 (63,830) - 41,798 175,699
“=Z-)\E-A-A At 1 January 2018 97.920 581,4% 41,215 (176,716 25471 318,997 1,625,458
BRHERNZARS  Equity-setied share-based

payment transactions - 2547 - - (2,547) - -
i Profit for the year - - - - - 8620 8620
ARG Other comprehensive income - - - 76,154 - - 76,154
HZF-\EFZA=F-H At31 December 2018 9790 584,042 4,215 (1005621 - 397617 171032

() IREHBHNACHEEE
EFE (R M sE27(d) i) 5t
B BABBRIENACKH
WAR BEBBARARIES
A2 i B 1T A% 19 T (A A 2B

e

(i) Contributed surplus represents the excess of
the fair value of the shares of NAC determined
based on the basis of the consolidated net
assets of NAC at the date of the reorganisation
(see note 27(d)(ii)) over the nominal value of
the shares issued by the Company in exchange
thereof.
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27 AR~ R R (4E) 27 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(continued)
b) BE (b) Dividends
() JENTRL AR SR I %A (i)  Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the
PRI, Company attributable to the year.
RZZE-NFRZZFT—/N\F No final dividends were proposed after the end
WG BT AR R R of reporting periods of 2019 and 2018.
AR e
(i) ZHTRS B R A I LR (ii) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of
I T2 Al R AR g 2 the Company and minority shareholders of its
A DB R 2 JE (TR subsidiaries attributable to the previous financial

year, approved and paid during the year:

—E-hF —ZT—-N\F
2019 2018

A T BT B A ) Dividends to minority shareholders of
DERRERAR S subsidiaries 34,941 23,741

248 | A& (M) G2 T DaChan Food (Asia) Limited
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

27 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(continued)

(¢) Share capital

(i)  Authorised and issued share capital

“E-NF = it
2019 2018
RSB e
Number of S8 Numberof £
shares Amount shares Amount
TR T
‘000 ‘000
EE Authorised:
RtZA=1+—H Ordinary shares of HKDO.1 each
BREEIETHLER at 31 December 10,000,000 964,358 10,000,000 964,358
BETRACEER - Ordlinary shares, issued and fully paid:
R—B—AR+=A=+—F At1Januaryand 31 Decerber 1,016,189 97,020 1,016,189 97,920

EREESE AR ZEAEARAT
TSR RERERAT
BRAE BB EBRIR—
R B EBERRARRZ
RHEEMS ZHRSE
) o

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to dividends as
declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per
share at general meetings of the Company. All ordinary
shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s residual
assets.
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27 B - RS ()

(0 JBeA (HD)
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S [E] 1A A

REL-BRGEBERA
AR~ K IBBHETERBI
0 BRI EIM BB ERIERE
NAE] - ZREACRBEBE
BREAEELRRIEE RS
P A0 B2 RDET B4R H A 22 -
1ERA R I 0 22RhET &1
—#D - REETERZE
FEEE  AMEXFEABAR
B8 Eidhom e 2t 1A
& o PIERNI9EBE Bk
BRIMBERARBE R
&=

o

ZIEFEHR RBIIN A AT
HYARER - BRRE AR
MmE @ WERSARRHNE
DA ERERA AR AR
RIS -

27 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(continued)

(c)

Share capital (continued)

(ii)  Purchase of own shares

Core Pacific-Yamaichi International (Hong
Kong) is an employee benefit trust used in
conjunction with the restricted share award
schemes. The trustee has agreed to satisfy
the award made under the restricted share
award scheme through the relevant employee
benefit trust. As part of restricted share award
scheme, the Group funds the trust, from time
to time to enable the trustee to acquire its own
ordinary shares to satisfy the award. All shares
have been acquired and sold through the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

The trust was treated as a legal entity separate
from the Company but as a subsidiary of the
Company for consolidation purpose. The shares

held by the trust are treated as treasury shares.
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27 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS

EFEEE - HERBAZE

(continued)
(¢) Share capital (continued)
(ii)  Purchase of own shares (continued)

Details of these shares repurchased, sold and

RIPRIFIFAT held by the trust are set out below:
EfE/ (HE) g/ EB%
Ro#E BeRE
Numberof BE&SE  SRREE Cash
shares Highest Lowest consideration
A/ Efp repurchased/ price price paid/
Month/year (sold) per share per share (received)
BT BT
HKD HKD
“EBZN\F+ZA December 2008 548,000 0.85 0.85 427
“ZTNF A November 2009 2,222,000 1.50 1.43 2.876
—FENFT=H December 2009 589,000 1.48 1.48 764
“Z-THTA May 2010 945,000 1.51 1.33 1.206
—Z—=FF1A May 2013 4,583,000 1.18 1.03 3.957
“T—=%5AR June 2013 497,000 1.09 1.05 432
—T-NEF=A March 2019 (698,500) 0.47 0.38 (286)
5t Total 8,685,500 9,376
BEFERERSI1ERE Shares granted to (8,685,500)
HEFEETEIMNR  employees under
3 restricted share award
scheme during previous
years
FRHEMRKR Shares sold during the year (698,500)
FEARFERRN Shares held at the end of =

the year
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27 B - RS ()

(@ = EE R ADE
G) RO R BN ] 7

Bt B A A B (R
R AR RIEETTRAD PR AT
BRZEANER - RIEFAS
BERRDE « AREIIRDR
ERE IR T AR B
R REARREREES
DIKEE B - BENE
EER—RERRIEZ2IH]
&7 °

BEFEEXEAMBD R
FAZRNBEEBE A/
B An AR BT AR AR ©

(i)  BOH#ER

REBESEELRRINE B
BRGMABRARERER
MEAE (A - A2
A2 MNACHE K IR R 31T
1,999,999/ F AR E{H0.175
THEER - FRKERE
PR NACRHER (B © X
RIANACIE AR 4 58 82
AR B R IA M EITR
HENERE  CREEER
BESGAUBHRERTNE
BHEER ©
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27 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS

(continued)

(d)

Nature and purpose of reserves

@

(i)

Share premium and redemption reserve

The share premium represents the difference
between the par value of the shares of the
Company and proceeds received from the
issuance of the shares of the Company. Under
the Companies Law of Cayman Islands, the
share premium account of the Company
is distributable to the shareholders of the
Company provided that immediately following
the date on which the dividend is proposed
to be distributed, the Company would be in a
position to pay off its debt as they fall due in the

ordinary course of business.

Redemption reserve represents the historical
value of shares repurchased and held by the

trustee which are treated as treasury shares.

Merger reserve

Pursuant to the reorganisation plan of the
Group in preparation of the Company’s listing
in the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (“the Reorganisation”), the
Company issued 1,999,999 ordinary shares
of HKDO.1 each to the then shareholders of
NAC in consideration of acquiring their equity
interests held in NAC. The difference between
the then shareholders’ total capital contributions
to NAC over the nominal value of the shares
issued by the Company in exchange thereof
was transferred to the merger reserve in the
consolidated financial statements as at the date

of Reorganisation.
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

27 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(continued)

Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)

(iii)  PRC statutory reserves

Transfers from retained earnings to PRC
statutory reserves are made in accordance with
the relevant PRC rules and regulations and
the articles of association of the Company's
subsidiaries established in the PRC and were
approved by the respective boards of directors.

General reserve fund

The subsidiaries in the PRC are required to
appropriate 10 percent of their after-tax profit,
as determined in accordance with the PRC
accounting rules and regulations, to general
reserve fund until the reserve balance reaches
50 percent of the registered capital. The transfer
to this reserve must be made before distribution

of a dividend to shareholders.

Enterprise develooment fund

Certain subsidiaries in the PRC are required
to set up an enterprise development fund.
Transfers to this fund are made at the discretion
of the board of directors of the subsidiaries.
This fund can only be utilised on capital items
for the collective benefit of the subsidiaries’
employees such as the construction of
dormitories, canteens and other staff welfare
facilities. This fund is non-distributable other
than on liquidation. The transfer to this fund
must be made before distribution of a dividend
to shareholders.
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27 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS

(continued)

(d)

(e)

Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)

(iv) Translation reserve

)

The translation reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the
translation of the financial statements of
foreign subsidiaries outside of the PRC, and the
translation of inter-Group loans classified as net

investment in PRC subsidiaries.

Share-based payment reserve

The share-based payment reserve comprises
the fair value of the actual or estimated number
of unexercised options and restricted share
awards granted to employees of the Group
recognised in accordance with the accounting
policy for share-based payments in note 3(0)(ii).

Distributability of reserves

At 31 December 2019, the aggregate amount of

reserves available for distribution to equity shareholders

of the Company was approximately RMB1,677,779,000
(2018: approximately RMB1,612,312,000).



27 B - il RS (5)

®

BAE R

IR ER B Y IR R T 38 A AR A R e
EREENKAREBEEMR
RISER - (EMAERF TRV ER
i UEBREEALTISED
AR TSR RHE R -

AEBGERKTE PR RER
HERRE  AERFEERIER
= AR R Bl Al g R = B K
FERBRESKNE B BT R

RIERE < HEGTE - WRE
KBS B B AN R R 5B

o

f

AEBERBBEERERL KR
BPLEREEAEE Bt &
$E%EEE@@ AR K
B R AEEREERHEEMNEK
ROBRB 2 %ﬁ%h&ﬁk
BRI o

Ig

+

B

%

BA RS R BT RE

Notes to the Financial Statements
(% 2EEBIN - UARBTTL5])

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

27 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(continued)

(f)  Capital management

The Group’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base
S0 as to maintain creditor and market confidence and
to sustain future development of the business, by
pricing products and services commensurately with
the level of risk and by securing access to finance at a

reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and
manages its capital structure to maintain a balance
between the higher shareholder returns that might
be possible with higher levels of borrowings and
the advantages and security afforded by a sound
capital position, and makes adjustments to the capital

structure in light of changes in economic conditions.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis
of a total liabilities-to-capital ratio. For this purpose,
capital is defined as total equity. In order to maintain
or adjust the ratio, the Group may adjust the amount
of dividends payable to shareholders, issue new

shares or return capital to shareholders.
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27 B -~ il RS (B) 27 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(continued)

) EAREHE) (f) Capital management (continued)
RZEB-NFERZZE-N\F+= Total liabilities-to-capital ratio at 31 December 2019
A=+t—RAz@BaBERER LXK and 2018 was as follows:

UNNE

—E-hF —ZET-N\F

2019 2018
mEEE Current liabilities 1,597,026 1,211,649
FERBEE Non-current liabilities 438,429 863,540
BERE Total liabilities 2,035,455 2,075,189
REREE Total equity 2,012,482 1,827,849
REEHEERER Total liabilities-to-capital ratio 1.01 1.14
AR HEM B AR EEERIN Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are
EREINAYE AT K o subject to externally imposed capital requirements.
28 R 28 COMMITMENTS
(a) BEARKYE (a) Capital commitments
RZZE—NAF+ZA=+—HL& Capital commitments outstanding at 31 December
RRERE M B HRFRIELBENE 2019 not provided for in the consolidated financial
AT statements were as follows:
—E-NF —E—N\F
2019 2018
RIS Contracted for
—BEEEE — Fixed assets 85,280 89,145
EREERETA Authorised but not contracted for
—BEEEE — Fixed assets 90,901 76,992
176,181 166,137
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28 COMMITMENTS (continued)

KEMERE (b) Operating lease commitments
RZEBE—N\F+_A=+—8" At 31 December 2018, the total future minimum
AR PR A 8 A8 = A0 KO FE 1T A R lease payments under non-cancellable operating
REAXEENFAAENAT ¢ leases are payable as follows:
—F-N\F
2018
—FR Within 1 year 6,276
—FEERFUA After 1 year but within 5 years 14,609
AFENAE After 5 years 74,219
95,104

REBEARIBLAMBEERE
ERIFE17TRD B RECERENH
ERBENZIEME - BEREZE
BE RPFAFRMEHETEAN o K%
BB S REIETRBERRER
BFR B TS 3R 5 2RI E 165K o IRIR
ZHE ARERAER=Z—N
F-—A—BOEHNER AR
FHRzSHEnREaE (R
F2)c BZZE—NF—HA—H
1B KRR E N RARIRHT S (C) FT
HERRMBRREERAEE
A AHEESERKBEENK
BFEIE M 251 -

The Group is the lessee in respect of a number of
properties and items of plant and machinery and
office equipment held under leases which were
previously classified as operating leases under IAS
17. The Group has initially applied IFRS 16 using
the modified retrospective approach. Under this
approach, the Group adjusted the opening balances
at 1 January 2019 to recognise lease liabilities relating
to these leases (see note 2(e)). From 1 January 2019
onwards, future lease payments are recognised as
lease liabilities in the statement of financial position
in accordance with the policies set out in note 3(c),
and the details regarding the Group's future lease

payments are disclosed in note 25.

ZZ— NEF R Annual Report 2019

257



258

PRk MY

Notes to the Financial Statements

(BmAEAN

AARBTILE)

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

29 [

BRI SRR 2 B KB AR T BRI
REBETOTIERER TR -

(a)

TR 5 29

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the related party information disclosed
elsewhere in the financial statements, the Group entered

into the following material related party transactions.

IR W58 75 4% 7% B S R0 W 5 ¥ I 4% (a)

FA - BTIZTORX BB
BB LR

L A
Name of party

Name and relationship with related parties

During the year, transactions with the following
parties are considered as related party transactions:

BRI T OB R

Relationships

AERHBEERGBBRAF*
Great Wall Enterprise Co., Ltd. (“GWE")

Great Wall International (Holdings) Ltd. (“GWIH")

LR AFERER DR

Great Wall Yung Huo Food (Beijing) Co., Ltd.

("GWYHB")

RREEBRIMRMNDERRR*

Total Nutrition Technologies Co., Ltd. (“TNT")

BILFHERMAR AT
Tai Ji Food Co., Ltd. (“TJF")

ERERFHRERERAA
Beijing Universal Chain Food Co., Ltd. (“BUCF")

AR (RF) BRAF*
Great Wall Food (Tianjin) Co., Ltd. ("GWF-TJ")

KRB (32M) A FE 2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

RAAER AT

Ultimate holding company

P ERR A B

Intermediate holding company

RERIB RS (AR RIBVRAIERR A R)) HIKT B R R
Subsidiary of GWE, ultimate holding company of
the Company

RERIB RS (AR RIBVRAIERR A R HIKT B R R
Subsidiary of GWE, ultimate holding company of
the Company

RECRIB RS (AR RIEVRAIERR A B) BB R R
Subsidiary of GWE, ultimate holding company of
the Company

AR 3 (R A B RAIER AR KK E A7)
Subsidiary of GWE, ultimate holding company of
the Company

KRB EIRR (AR RIEV AR MERR A &) B9 KT R A
Subsidiary of GWIH, intermediate holding

company of the Company
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29 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(continued)
R W5 5 44 1% B BRLIBR W5 O W R 1% (a) Name and relationship with related parties (continued)
()
2]yt ERRANE T RS 1R

Name of party

Relationships

AKBRE R (KE)BRAF*
DaChan Showa Foods (Tianjin) Co., Ltd. (“DSF")

RBCKREERM GER) BRA R
Great Wall FeedTech (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (“GWFT-BJ")

Great Wall FeedTech (Tianjin) Co., Ltd. (“"GWFT-TJ")
RBCOKEEERM (RE) BRAR*

AR RER(KE)BRAF*
DaChan Liangyou Foods (Tianjin) Co., Ltd. ("DLF-TJ")

AEKRERM(E8) GRAF*
DaChan Liangyou Foods (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.
("DLF-SH")

Marubeni Corporation (“MAR")

Marubeni (Dalian) Co., Ltd. (“MAR-DL")

Hansen Inc.

RECEIRR (A2 RIE AR MERR A &) BT R 2R R
Subsidiary of GWIH, intermediate holding

company of the Company

RECEIRR (AR RIE AR MERR A &) BIKT R R R
Subsidiary of GWIH, intermediate holding

company of the Company

RECEIRR (AR R AR MERR A &) BIKT R 2 7]
Subsidiary of GWIH, intermediate holding

company of the Company

AR 2 (KA B RAIER A 7)) AR & A7)
Associate of GWE, ultimate holding company of

the Company

AR 2 (R A B RAIER A 7)) OB & A )
Associate of GWE, ultimate holding company of

the Company

DEARER

Minority shareholder

Marubeni (D ER%E) BB A 7]

Subsidiary of Marubeni, minority shareholder

HERRLE  BRELE  BRFEAERER
RAEEHFAKRZEHEFHRA]

Mr. Han Jia-Hwan, Mr. Han Chia-Yin, Mr. Han
Chia-Yau and Mr. Harn Jia-Chen jointly own

100% interest of Hansen Inc.
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29 BREDT A2 5 (78) 29 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)
(a) PRk 5 45 W Be B RS O W R AR (a) Name and relationship with related parties (continued)
()
BN B8 EHRARE 5 B R
Name of party Relationships
N EZEBRAR* Hansen Inc. 92 &M E A A]
Dacheng Land Development Limited (“DLD") Wholly-owned subsidiary of Hansen Inc.
DaChan (VN) Co., Ltd. (“DVN") NS [0l PN

Subsidiary of an associate

DACHAN (ASIA-PACIFIC) LIM (“DAPL") it lNEIEo] L T)EEIN

Subsidiary of an associate

REEKIEFEERZARAR =Nl —NE]

Advent Prosperity Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. Associate of a subsidiary
("APRD")

rgEERLLRERAT" i NCIlo) =N

Beijing Weixi Agriculture Development Co., Ltd. (BJWX) Associate of a subsidiary

EEEEEREFRAT NG —NE]
Taiwan International Gene Co., Ltd. (“TIG") Associate of a subsidiary
FEERKRmM (KR BRAF* NGl d=NE]
Rupp & DaChan Foods (Tianjin) Co., Ltd. ("RDF-TJ") Associate of a subsidiary
ANERERFEHTERIRERTRR MEARNREE
Mengcun Hui Autonomous County Construction Investor of a subsidiary

Investment Co., Ltd. (“MCCI")

RYIEARERARLBR A A * H AR
Shenzhen Huada Gene Technology Co., Ltd. (“SHGT")  Other related party
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29 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(continued)
(a) BBk 7 45 W B BRLIR WG O ) B & (a) Name and relationship with related parties (continued)
()
2}y ERRAE T R R

Name of party

Relationships

ERARMEHR LR BR AR

BRELENHE QR

Better Me Food Technology (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (“BMFT") Associate of Mr. Han Jia-Hwan

I RIBFRETE R ERGR AR ** BRE L ENEE QT
Beijing Sisters Kitchen Food and Beverage Associate of Mr. Han Jia-Hwan
Management Co., Ltd. (“BSK")

* ARIBBHENERERSE - Z 2 The English translation of the company names is for reference
ERAIREEBBAR MR © only. The official names of these companies are in Chinese.
*x R=ZF—N\FE+=A AEEH 33 In December 2018, the Group disposed of the entire equity
B R GIHRERE (—RIEF B interests in BSK, a company established in the PRC, to Better
AR NI RETERRL Me Food Technology (Beijing) Co., Ltd., an associate of Mr.
ArEE QR ERERRABHE (3L Han Jia-Hwan.

) ARAR

b) HEKBWIHTRS

FRAEAEB TR ZNFE

(b) Significant related party transactions

n Particulars of significant related party transactions

T during the year are as follows:
—E-NF —EN\F
2019 2018
HEEMm Sales of goods 197,299 241,482
R R E W Purchases of material and goods 47,784 23,195
EIERT Management services 301 211
BiREHE S R® Rental services provided 745 742
BERE Disposal of assets - 10,000
BRI T AR Processing services provided 21,294 22,556
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29  BAWET R 5 (1)

() FEEMEAEME

FEFRTZEREREASHE (B
MBI EE N TARREERN
SREMEIMBEEN TE TR
SHEEMNSFEWNT

29 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(continued)
(¢) Key management personnel remuneration

Remuneration for key management personnel of the
Group, including amounts paid to the Company's
directors as disclosed in note 8 and certain of the
highest paid employees as disclosed in note 9, is as

follows:

—Z2-hEF ZT-N\F

2019 2018

M EE AR Short term employee benefits 9,617 6,978
RURET IR Retirement scheme contributions 92 115
9,709 7,093

& sasme st AT TR (s
6(b)) °

(Q) BB R B sk S

RBERR - AEEH A TR

Total remuneration was included in “staff costs” (note
6(b)).

(d) Amounts due from related parties

As at the end of the reporting period, the Group had

Dok 1 the following balances with related parties:
i —ZE-hEF —ZET-N\F
Note 2019 2018
FEUE 5 8RR Trade receivables (i) 38,015 49,352
H A FEURIE Other receivables - 10,000
38,015 59,352

() FBAE TN E SRR E
BH - RERTEAR—FR
E - RZT—NF+=A
=+—H ' WEHZERIE
EHERBERRE -

KRB (32M) A FE 2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited
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(i)  Trade receivables from related parties are
unsecured, interest free and are expected to
be recovered within one year. There was no
significant impairment loss made against these
amounts at 31 December 2019.
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29 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

(e)

Amounts due to related parties

As at the end of reporting period, the Group had the

following balances with related parties:

BiEE —E-hEF —T-)N\F

Note 2019 2018

FETE SRR Trade payables (i) 3,800 2,693
HAth e 1~ FRIE Other payables 46,100 46,100
49,900 48,793

) BB THENESRRTE
B 2R REHR—FA
&1t -

i

A7 IR R 22 52 B vty b v B 3 D e

EXEIETRETRZHEK L
MARRNB14AB TR ENRER
SEBEMEXH - LHRAFE
TAABRENBREHNEETRE
[BER 5|8 e

()

Trade payables to related parties are unsecured,

interest free and are expected to be paid or

settled within one year.

Applicability of the Listing Rules relating to connected

transactions

Certain related party transactions listed above

constitute connected transactions or continuing

connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of

the Listing Rules. The disclosures required by Chapter

14A of the Listing Rules are provided in section

headed “Connected transactions” of the Report of

the Directors.
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30 <o B A B R A SLfEAE 30 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND

264

AEENFZRTAPERSRES
HEY - EWE SRR H YK
B AT EEERENESRRERME
NRIE - EASBIEREBBIZPESE
FERRE - FXER E¥RER - X5
R RBEEREREBRRR - A&
B AR AR S R EZ B M 5 R AE
[\ -

AREFAENEARREAEB SRR
FAREBATRANT SRR EEBEERE
BEHIOT

(a) f5FEHBR

EERREXZHFREITES
MBEEMERAKBELMBEE
BrRER  AEEZEERRE
Z2REEZEBER - HRR 5
HFREEERAREERREMN
RIT - BAKBARBAHRITF
R FEAEERIFRRIT - Fitt
AEEAEXRERSMREEE
W EERRER -

KRB (32M) A FE 2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

FAIR VALUES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise
cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables and other
receivables, interest-bearing borrowings and trade payables
and other payables. Exposure to credit, interest rate,
currency, business, liquidity and commaodity price risks arise
in the normal course of the Group’s business. The Group is
also exposed to equity price risk arising from movements

in its own equity share price.

The Group's exposure to these risks and the financial risk
management policies and practices used by the Group to
manage these risks are described below:

(a) Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty
will default on its contractual obligations resulting
in a financial loss to the Group. The Group’s credit
risk is primarily attributable to trade receivables.
The Group's exposure to credit risk arising from
cash and cash equivalents is limited because the
counterparties are banks and substantially all of the
Group's cash at bank are deposited in the reputable
banks which management assessed the credit risk to

be insignificant.
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HEBPHRE AEREER
Rl EREAEEEF A(E7
BEEITERBHAEREEL -
RMEER - BRE SRR B
REHEEFREAEEAGASR
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—N\F 43%)1%7.4%(=ZF
—\F :7.8%) °
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30 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES (continued)

(a)

Credit risk (continued)

Trade receivables

The Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced
mainly by the individual characteristics of each
customer rather than the industry or country in which
the customers operate and therefore significant
concentrations of credit risk primarily arise when
the Group has significant exposure to individual
customers. At the end of the reporting period, 3.8%
(2018: 4.3%) and 7.4% (2018: 7.8%) of the total
trade receivables and contract assets was due from
the Group's largest customer and the five largest

customers respectively.

Individual credit evaluations are performed on all
customers requiring credit over a certain amount.
These evaluations focus on the customer’s past
history of making payments when due and current
ability to pay, and take into account information
specific to the customer as well as pertaining to
the economic environment in which the customer
operates. Trade receivables are due within 30-60 days
from the date of billing. Normally, the Group does not
obtain collateral from customers.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade
receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs,
which is calculated using a provision matrix. As the
Group's historical credit loss experience indicates
significantly different loss patterns for different
customer segments, the loss allowance based on
past due status is further distinguished between the

Group's different customer bases.
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30 <ol B A BE I 4 e (RAE (A)

(a)

KRB (32M) A FE 2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

fr B JEL B ()

TEYS B 53 J K ()

TRETIANE BHERE 5 RK
MEERRREREEBERZE

30

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES (continued)

(a) Credit risk (continued)
Trade receivables (continued)

The following table provides information about the

Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade

e receivables.
—E2-hEF
2019
HEERTEE
TEEAETE R Gross EERE
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
% ARMT T AR¥T T
% RMB’000 RMB’000
mE) (R ER) Current (not past due) 1.0% 172,931 (1,706)
#HE1Z=180H 1-180 days past due 2.4% 78,406 (1,849)
#1H1181%&365H 181-365 days past due 36.4% 7,136 (2,598)
# AR B365 H More than 365 days past due 40.0% 2,513 (1,006)
260,986 (7,159)
3 AR B R E Individually not impaired 42,016 -
&R R E Individually impaired 18,034 (18,034)
_______________________________________________________________________________ 60,050  _ (18,034)
321,036 (25,193)

BEHEEXEARBE=FHER
FEBELRIE  XREESL
iR EMENLEMNRR - 2 Al
) A T A ST B AN 5% [ 38 A B MK
BEFFROCERL=5 2 H
MEEETRE -

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss
experience over the past 3 years. These rates are
adjusted to reflect differences between economic
conditions during the period over which the historic
data has been collected, current conditions and
the Group's view of economic conditions over the
expected lives of the receivables.
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30 b m B A B K A A fE AR () 30 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES (continued)

(a) 1o &)EBE () (a) Credit risk (continued)
TN B 57 e (48) Trade receivables (continued)
—ZT-N\F
2018
AR (E
TERR RSB Gross EERE
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
% AREETTT AREETTT
% RMB'000 RMB’'000
mE) (R AR) Current (not past due) 0.9% 159,877 (1,403)
#mHE1=180H 1-180 days past due 2.3% 88,569 (2,058)
#H5181%2365H 181-365 days past due 38.8% 5,411 (2,102)
B HAEE365 H More than 365 days past due 40.0% 7,598 (3,039)
261,455 (8,602)
I AR BRI E Individually not impaired 54,352 _
&R R E Individually impaired 22,334 (22,334)
_______________________________________________________________________________ degEl  lemsew
338,141 (30,936)
AR B TR R R (B 2 FE MR R B K Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired
SAHLEHERTHENERLA related to a wide range of customers for whom there was
4 - no recent history of default.
B 480 2318 R R (B A FE UL BR SRER AR Receivables that were past due but not impaired related
SEZEZHEE R EARTEANE to a number of independent customers that had a good
NEFER - BERATLR T track record with the Group. Based on past experience,
BERR BRZZERNEE management believed that no impairment allowance was
BRUWEBEALE - BESRDR necessary in respect of these balances as there had been
Ar R E - itk BAERZS no significant change in credit quality and the balances
RERREHRUERE - were still considered fully recoverable.
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30 b B A B K A A fE AR () 30 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES (continued)

(a) 1o &)EBE (4) (a) Credit risk (continued)
JEW BT S 33k (48) Trade receivables (continued)
FR - RHESHEKRERFRERE Movement in the loss allowance account in respect
R2EHOT : of trade receivables during the year is as follows:
—B-nE  —TNF
2019 2018
ARMTT ARBTFT
RMB’000 RMB'000
R—A—Ba&EH Balance at 1 January 30,936 13,073
FAEMIETRIA Amounts written off during the year (3,375) (2,358)
FRE (BE), TR Impairment losses (reversed)/recognised
DERELEE during the year (2,368) 20,221
R+ A=+—HB&H%&% Balance at 31 December 25,193 30,936
TEMEE S EWERFAIE MY The decrease of fully impaired trade receivables is
RE—HEBRAAVERER due from customers in a separate group who had
RAFEEEEES D EWERRA financial difficulty before but paid back part of the
—EABVEBRNEFE B _F account receivables this year, which contributed to
—NFAEERERD the decrease in the loss allowances during 2019.
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30 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES (continued)

i B 25 L B (b) Liquidity risk
EEERSESRRAIE - A& In the management of liquidity risk, the Group
EERTAREEERRBEEN monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
RERIBEZEYWKE - LLRIA equivalents deemed adequate by management to
SENKEREES - WAER finance the Group's operations and mitigate the
HRERERBNTE - A5E effects of short-term fluctuations in cash flows.
M EBaRBRRFEARITEER The Group's treasury department is responsible
MR#FES LRHEMEER T E for maintaining a balance between continuity and
IS F& - DmR AR EHRE flexibility of funding through the use of banking
BEHFEK - facilities in order to meet the Group's liquidity
requirements.
TRAMRFERRRTEE KA The following table details the remaining contractual
NAEIER T AR BIIR A AR AL 3R maturities at the end of reporting period of the
RenEFEZFTEEREE Group's and the Company’'s non-derivative
(BERE AN EAEOF SR financial liabilities, which are based on contractual
18 - EEBFIE - BlER®RE undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments
HRFERAE) @ RAEERAR computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based
RIENERFEAH - on rates current at the end of reporting period) and
the earliest date the Group and the Company can be
required to pay:
“E-0E
2019
CHEES
$RRE —ERg —FNE MELLE
RERE  REXEE  EIRWME  EIREE
Total Within More than More than
BREE  contractual 1 year 1year 2 years
Carrying  undiscounted oron but less but less
amount cash flow demand  than2years  than5 years
B Loans 882,622 947,408 554,420 246,400 146,588
REGES Trade payables 557,080 557,080 557,080 - -
HfERTER Other payables 470,094 470,094 470,094 - -
FERFIE Dividend payables 2511 2,511 2511 - -
1,912,307 1,977,093 1,584,105 246,400 146,588
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(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

30 i E B B A A Ao fE AR () 30 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES (continued)

(b) BN &)EFE () (b) Liquidity risk (continued)
“B-N\E
2018
BHIMER
BRRS —FR —FHE REMN L
MEEE RERER BAORRE BARTE
Total Within More than More than
REE contractual 1 year 1 year 2 years
Carrying  undiscounted oron but less but less
amount cash flow demand than 2 years than b years
B Loans 1,135,259 1,187,062 307,151 526,756 353,155
AREGES Trade payables 493,192 493,192 493,192 - -
HihERFIE Other payables 432,564 432,564 432,564 = =
2,061,015 2,112,818 1,232,907 526,756 353,155
(©) MR BE (c) Interest rate risk
AEBNXRBEZREFEME The Group's interest rate risk arises primarily from
Koo LU E)FI R K [E E F R 5T A interest-bearing borrowings. Borrowings issued at
MNERDRFEAEEEEIRE variable rates and at fixed rates expose the Group to
mEFEER R A R EEER cash flow interest rate risk and fair value interest rate
Bz o risk respectively.
REEE BERAF R R EER The interest rates and terms of repayment of
FWERME24 - AEERFEH the interest-bearing borrowings of the Group are
M= BRERERN S EHIR disclosed in note 24. The Group's floating interest
SRELBHER rate borrowings are exposed to a risk of change in

cash flows due to changes in interest rates.
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(% 2EEBIN - UARBTTL5])

(Expressed in thousands of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

30 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES (continued)

(c)

(d)

Interest rate risk (continued)

At 31 December 2019, it is estimated that a general
increase of 100 basis points in interest rates, with all
other variables held constant, would have decreased
the Group’s profit after tax and retained profits by
approximately RMB5,750,502 (2018: RMB7,731,789),
and there is no impact on other components of the
consolidated equity, except for retained profits of the
Group.

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined
assuming that the change in interest rates had
occurred at the end of reporting period and had been
applied to the exposure to interest rate risk for both
derivative and non-derivative financial instruments
in existence at that date. The 100 basis point
increase represents management’'s assessment of
a reasonably possible change in interest rates over
the period until the next annual reporting period. The
analysis is performed on the same basis for 2018.

Currency risk

Majority of the revenue-generating operations of
the Group are transacted in RMB, which is not
freely convertible into foreign currencies. All foreign
exchange transactions involving RMB must take
place through the People’s Bank of China or other
institutions authorised to buy and sell foreign

currencies.
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30 b B A B K A A fE AR () 30 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES (continued)

d) BWEkE (48) (d) Currency risk (continued)
G)  EWEERE (i)  Exposure to currency risk
TERFFIMAS B HE HR The following table details the Group's exposure
HAEwREEXAERAEA at the end of reporting period to currency risk
AR EB LN E arising from recognised assets or liabilities
BEEHE T 2 A H) & 1 R denominated in a currency other than the
o RAREEFR  AZRER functional currency of the entity to which they
SRAARKINE @ (ERK relate. For presentation purposes, the amounts
HIERAFE4EHE B RHAE of the exposure are shown in RMB, translated

EIE o using the spot rate at the year end date.
SMNEEE H R B AE AARE T T2
Exposure to foreign currencies

(expressed in thousands of Renminbi)

=T-hEF
2019

EY AR BT

uUsD RMB HKD

FEUCE SRR Trade receivables 2,419 - -

RERIRESEMEY  Cash and cash equivalents 12,438 710 279

FE 8 ZBRR Trade payables (34,608) - (4,981)
DHEREENBAE  Net exposure arising from

EEZFEBRAE  recognised assets and
liabilities (19,751) 710 (4,702)
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30 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES (continued)

(d) Currency risk (continued)
(i)  Exposure to currency risk (continued)

HNEESTE 5 B s AARETIT25)
Exposure to foreign currencies

(expressed in thousands of Renminbi)

—Z2-N\F
2018

=TT AR BT

usD RMB HKD

FEUE 5 B8R Trade receivables = = -

RERRESEEY Cash and cash equivalents 10,891 1,874 530

BT E SRR Trade payables (50,836) - (6,200)

FTEEE Interest-bearing borrowings = = (82,083)
EHREENAE  Net exposure arising from

EAZFREEE  recognised assets and
liabilities (39,945) 1,874 (87,753)

i) BRI

TEBS - BRAELME
REBMIETR - RS
AR BEEEARR
MERNZ AR - i
7 8 L 1 5 9B
FI (R B RF) B AL BN 8
B - SRS ST REAEE
AT « TEBEMN
B R (BRI TR S S LA
S A -

(ii) ~ Sensitivity analysis

The following table indicates the instantaneous
change in the Group’s loss or profit after
tax (and retained profits) that would arise if
foreign exchange rates to which the Group has
significant exposure at the end of reporting
period had changed at that date, assuming all
other risk variables remained constant. The
sensitivity analysis includes balances between
Group entities where the denomination of
the balances is in a currency other than the
functional currencies of the lender or the

borrower.
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(i) BT (FE)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES (continued)

(d)

Currency risk (continued)

(ii)  Sensitivity analysis (continued)
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2019 2018
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KRB (32M) A FE 2 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited

above table represent an aggregation of
the instantaneous effects on each of the
Group entities’ profit or loss after tax and
equity measured in the respective functional
currencies, translated into RMB at the exchange
rate ruling at the end of reporting period for

presentation purposes.

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the
change in foreign exchange rates had occurred
at the end of reporting period and had been
applied to each of the Group entities’ exposure
to currency risk for non-derivative financial
instruments in existence at that date, and that
all other variables, in particular interest rates,
remain constant. The analysis is performed on

the same basis for 2018.
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30 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES (continued)

(e)

Business risk

The Group is exposed to financial risks arising
from changes in prices of livestock and livestock's
agricultural produce and the change in cost and supply
of feed ingredients, all of which are determined by
constantly changing market forces of supply and
demand, and other factors. The other factors include
environmental regulations, weather conditions and
livestock diseases. The Group has little or no control

over these conditions and factors.

The Group is subject to risks relating to its ability
to maintain animal health status. Livestock health
problems could adversely impact production and
consumer confidence. The Group monitors the health
of its livestock on a regular basis and has procedures
in place to reduce potential exposure to infectious
diseases. Although policies and procedures have
been put into place, there is no guarantee that the

Group will not be affected by epidemic diseases.

The Group manages its exposure to fluctuation in the
price of the key raw materials used in the operations
by maintaining a large number of suppliers so as to
limit high concentration in a particular supplier.
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30 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES (continued)

(®

(g

Commodity price risk

The Group is exposed to price risks arising from
any unexpected increase in the prices of corn and
soybean meal commodities before committing to
purchase of raw materials and any unexpected
decreases in the prices of corn and soybean meal
commodities following completion of purchases.
To protect the Group from the impact of price
fluctuations in corn and soybean meal commodities,
commodity derivative contracts are entered into
with independent futures trading agents. Changes
in the fair value of commodity derivative contracts
that economically hedge the price fluctuations in
corn and soybean meal commodities and for which
no hedge accounting is applied are recognised in the

consolidated income statement.

Fair value measurement

(i)  Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value

In accordance with IFRS 13 Fair Value
Measurement, the Group defines the three
levels of fair value hierarchy. The level into
which a fair value measurement is classified is
determined with reference to the observability
and significance of the inputs used in the

valuation technique as follows:
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30 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES (continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value

(continued)

o Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured
using only Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted
quoted prices in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities at the

measurement date

° Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured
using Level 2 inputs i.e. observable
inputs which fail to meet Level 1, and not
using significant unobservable inputs.
Unobservable inputs are inputs for which
market data are not available

° Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured

using significant unobservable inputs

The Group’'s financial asset and liability
measured at fair value is commodity derivative

contracts.

The fair value of commodity derivative contracts
are measured using quoted prices from
independent trading agents without adjustments
and therefore fall into level 1. The commodity
derivative contracts were all closed as at 31
December 2019, thus no derivative financial
instruments was recognised on balance sheet as
at 31 December 2019.
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30 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES (continued)

(g) Fair value measurement (continued)

@ii) Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
carried at other than fair value. The carrying
amounts of the Group’s and the Company's
financial assets and liabilities carried at cost or
amortised cost are not materially different from
their fair values as at 31 December 2019 and
2018.

31 ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Note 23 contains information about the assumptions
relating to provisions. Other key sources of estimation

uncertainty are as follows:
(1)  Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business,
less estimated costs of completion and distribution
expenses. These estimates are based on the current
market condition and historical experience of selling
products of similar nature. It could change significantly
as a result of changes in customer preference and
competitor actions in response to severe industry
cycles. Management reassesses these estimations
at the end of reporting period to ensure inventory is

shown at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
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31 ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Impairment of trade receivables

The Group estimates impairment losses for bad
and doubtful debts resulting from inability of the
customers to make the required payments. The
estimate is based on the ageing of the trade
receivable balance, customer credit-worthiness,
and historical write-off experience. If the financial
conditions of the customers were to deteriorate,

actual write-offs would be higher than estimated.

Impairment of fixed assets

The Group reviews the carrying amounts of the
fixed assets at the end of each reporting period
to determine whether there is objective evidence
of impairment. When indication of impairment is
identified, management prepares discounted future
cashflow to assess the differences between the
carrying amount and value in use and provided for
impairment loss. Any change in the assumptions
adopted in the cash flow forecasts would increase or
decrease in the provision of the impairment loss and

affect the Group’s net asset value.
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31 ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
(iv) Income tax

Determining income tax provisions involves judgement
on the future tax treatment of certain transactions.
The Group carefully evaluates tax implications of
transactions and tax provisions are set up accordingly.
The tax treatment of such transactions is reconsidered
periodically to take into account all changes in tax
legislations. Deferred tax assets are recognised for
tax losses not yet used and temporary deductible
differences. As those deferred tax assets can only be
recognised to the extent that it is probable that future
taxable profit will be available against which the unused
tax credits can be utilised, management’s judgement
is required to assess the probability of future taxable
profits. Management's assessment is constantly
reviewed and additional deferred tax assets are
recognised if it becomes probable that future taxable
profits will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

(v)  Determining the lease term

As explained in policy note 3(c), the lease liability is
initially recognised at the present value of the lease
payments payable over the lease term. In determining
the lease term at the commencement date for
leases that include renewal options exercisable by
the Group, the Group evaluates the likelihood of
exercising the renewal options taking into account
all relevant facts and circumstances that create
an economic incentive for the group to exercise
the option, including favourable terms, leasehold
improvements undertaken and the importance of that
underlying asset to the Group's operation. The lease
term is reassessed when there is a significant event
or significant change in circumstance that is within
the Group’s control. Any increase or decrease in the
lease term would affect the amount of lease liabilities
and right-of-use assets recognised in future years.
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2 ) Jig Yh] BR) 0 5 IR DL R 32 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION
gz —E-nEF ZT-N\F
Note 2019 2018
FRBEE Non-current assets
RHE AR E Investments in subsidiaries 1,791,274 1,762,259
FEYP B A B 5RIA Amounts due from subsidiaries 385,784 531,898
__________________________________________________________________________________ 2177,058 2294157
MENEE Current assets
HAtb e RIR Other receivables 479 838
FEUS FAESE A T RIR Amounts due from related parties 32,388 50,359
Re MRS EEY Cash and cash equivalents 3,571 1,924
R 36438 53121
REEE Current liabilities
H At IR Other payables 10,976 8,304
HEEE Interest-bearing borrowings 173,847 24,220
e RAEsE A T30 Amounts due to related parties 19,418 36,770
____________________________________________________________________________________ 204241 ... 59294
RUAMEE  Netcurrentliabiltes =~ 167803 (16173
LU | TeslesrsloemmonilEiis . 2,009,255 WL =
FREEME Non-current liabilities
FTEEE Interest-bearing borrowings 233,556 567,752
____________________________________________________________________________________ 233,556 TN
EEFE Net assets 1,775,699 1,710,232
BARKR#E Capital and reserves 27(a)
%N Share capital 97,920 97,920
5 Reserves 1,260,981 1,224,695
BE&EF Retained profit 416,798 387,617
TR 1EEE Total equity 1,775,699 1,710,232
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33 NON-ADJUSTING EVENTS AFTER THE

REPORTING

The COVID-19 outbreak since early 2020 has brought
about additional uncertainties in the Group’s operating
environment and has impacted the Group’s operations and

financial position.

The Group has been closely monitoring the impact of the
developments on the Group's businesses and has put in
place contingency measures. These contingency measures
include: increasing additional cold storage locations;
increasing our options for logistics movements; assessing
the impact on contract farmers and liaising with high-
risk raising farmers; developing more sales channels. The
Group will keep our contingency measures under review as

the situation evolves.

As far as the Group’'s businesses are concerned, the
outbreak has caused production delays for certain
subsidiaries in February 2020. The Group has initiated the
above contingency measures to respond. Based on the
information currently available, the management estimated
that this would not result in additional impairment losses
on the 31 December 2019 balances of inventories and
trade receivables. The actual impacts may differ from these
estimates as situation continues to evolve and further

information may become available.
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COMPARATIVE FIGURES

The Group has initially applied IFRS 16 at 1 January 2019
using the modified retrospective approach. Under this
approach, comparative information is not restated. Further
details of the changes in accounting policies are disclosed

in note 2(e).

IMMEDIATE AND ULTIMATE HOLDING
COMPANY

At 31 December 2019, the immediate parent and ultimate
controlling party of the Group are Waverley Star Limited
and GWE respectively, which are incorporated in BVI and

the Republic of China respectively.

GWE, which is listed on the Taiwan Stock Exchange,
produces consolidated financial statements in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the
Republic of China, which are available for public use.
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36 CHEMERREE LS 36 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS,
T A=t HIEEEARR NEW STANDARDS AND
(CHIRE THE S W F 2= ¥ INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT
2 YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED

31 DECEMBER 2019

BEAMBRRTIZA - IW@%‘?&
AZEeCRHZERNRE_T—NF
TZA=+— Eﬂ:ifﬁrﬁ*i@lﬂm?ﬁ

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the
IASB has issued a number of amendments and a new

standard, IFRS 17, Insurance contracts, which are not yet

R T MERMEERT ~ AT ERIE
B RIS LR B 175/ MRRA ] K2
B HneRnkRAKEERAAT

effective for the year ended 31 December 2019 and which
have not been adopted in these financial statements. These
developments include the following which may be relevant

A

U>>}

© to the Group.

ETHBEHHHEE

FamET BB AR

Effective for

accounting periods

beginning on or after

HRIZEIFE (EFTA) - EBHEE i =
1 January 2020

BRI E

Amendments to IFRS 3, Definition of a business

RERTZERE 1R RBIFRE R ERFSR (IBR]AN) - EXMER —E_ZHE—F—H

Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8, Definition of material 1 January 2020

AEBEEFEZFER - FEARRE
RUFERSREREREXNTE - £5
AREBERGRAZFER LKA 6
HiF A MIERRERERNZ BN °

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
what the impact of these amendments, new standards
and interpretations is expected to be in the period of
initial application. So far the Group has concluded that the
adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant impact on
the consolidated financial statements.
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AFMBRE

Five Years Financial Summary

BE+tZA=t-BLEFE

For the year ended 31 December

“E-nE ZZ-N\F 2tF ZFTF ZE-1F

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

BElRAAREBET) Turnover (RMB million) 8,035 7,192 8,507 8124 8,899

EfAREBET) Gross profit (RMB million) 982 760 816 755 708

EHE (%) Gross profit margin (%) 12.2 106 9.6 9.3 8.00
FEREH/ (B8) Profit/(loss) for the year

(AE¥BET) (RMB million) 206 62 92 117 (111)

R/ (85) % (%) Net profit/(loss) margin (%) 256 0.86 1.08 1.44 (1.25)

ARFHE AEGEHET Profit/(loss) attributable to owners of

(E58) (AREBET) the Company (RMB million) 134 13 29 54 (154)
SREMN/ (F#) Earnings/(loss) per share

—ER(ARET) - basic (RMB) 0.13 0.01 0.03 0.05 (0.15)

-BEARET) - diluted (RMB) 0.13 0.01 0.03 0.05 (0.15)

R+t=A=1+-~H
At 31 December

“E-RE ZE-\F 2t Z2F ZE-0F

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

AREEER AR¥BET AREBET AREEET ARKRER

RMB million RMB million  RMB million  RMB million  RMB million

BEZE Net assets 2,012 1,828 1,861 1,761 1,705

BERE Total assets 4,048 3,903 3,999 3,660 3725

s Non-controlling interest 377 337 319 272 249

EBE%E Total liabilities 2,035 2,075 2,138 1,899 2,020

KB (32M) AR 5 DaChan Food (Asia) Limited
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